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Financial Highlights
R =

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE_ZT—)\F+_A=1+—HILEFE
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Financial Highlights

B 7518 &

For the year ended 31 December 2018

BHE-Z— \Ft+-A=+—HIFE

Note 2018 2017 % Change
M5 —E-N\F —T—+F FEHDL

Results ES
HK$'000 FH&T
Revenue e 94,582 87,588 7.99%
Loss before income tax BRATSTATES 1R (20,584) (17,834) (15.42%)
Loss for the year attributable AN EZARA A

to equity shareholders MR

of the Company from BENBRIE

continuing and KRR SETS

discontinued operations JE(EE 1 (21,820) (8,529) (155.83%)
Assets and Liabilities EEHRAE
HK$'000 FET
Total assets BEE 205,677 178,864 14.99%
Total liabilities mars 141,558 172,619 (17.99%)
Shareholders’ equity fR R 64,119 6,245 926.73%
Per share data SREE
HK cents (il
Basic and diluted HAR S

(loss)/earnings (EB18) /&F|
— from continuing operations ~ — ¥ EKE ER (4.11) (4.98) (17.47%)
— from discontinued operations — 2 4% | 4F & 5 7% - 3.11 (100%)
HK$ BT
Net asset value EEFE 0.10 0.01 1,100%
Financial Ratio BE b=
Current ratio mEhLL = 1 1.23 1.54 (20.13%)
Quick ratio RBLE R 2 1.20 1.49 (19.46%)

Notes: M5

1) Current ratio represents current assets divided by current liabilities.

2) Quick ratio represents current assets excluding inventories divided by

current liabilities.

) RBHEEREEER A REAR -
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Chairman’s

Statement
FTEHMETE

The Group has been exploring
other investment opportunities
in hotel operation, property
investment and development in
Hong Kong, the PRC and other
overseas countries, with an aim
to deliver satisfactory returns to
the shareholders.

AEEEBIHREFENES ~ PEH
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Chairman’s Statement
FEWES

YEAR UNDER REVIEW

The year 2018 was a significant year for Forebase International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”).

Nuofute Property Management Co., Ltd.* EE#EEMES
BAER AT (“Nuofute Property Management”) becomes the
key source of income to the Group. Its success strengthen the
confidence of the Group to become a modern city integrated
life service provider. Management will continue to explore new
property management projects and expand this segment through
acquisitions.

Through the efforts of the management, the Brentwood Bay
Resort in Victoria, British Columbia, Canada continues to be
another source of profit of the Group. Management will continue
to explore other investment opportunities in hotel operation,
property investment and development in Hong Kong, the PRC
and other overseas countries.

The board of directors (the “Board”) and the management will
continue to adjust the Group’s business strategies with an aim to
deliver satisfactory returns to every shareholders.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

Revenue represents hotel operation income and properties
management income, which accounted for approximately 47.3%
(2017: 48.9%) and 52.7% (2017: 51.1%) respectively, of the
total revenue. Revenue increased by 8.0% to approximately
HK$94,582,000 from approximately HK$87,588,000 in 2017,
which was mainly attributable to the increase in property
management income from approximately HK$44,714,000 in
2017 to approximately HK$49,825,000 in 2018. The Group’s
net loss increased from approximately 8,529,000 in 2017
to approximately HK$21,820,000 in 2018 due to a profit of
approximately HK$14,217,000 was recorded as a result of the
disposal of electronic component business last year.

* For identification purpose only.

& M B
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BB T AL AU RS o

EEEEBRNEBAT URNEREBI BT
ML RG4S % 2 Brentwood Bay Resort 448
MAREBEMNS —EAFERR - SEERKGE
BYEEMNES  FEEREMEIIERZE
JERRE  MERBERERNICERS -
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BYE BRI B - T 5 B A IR R 2 T AT B
#

EBRE
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Chairman’s Statement
FTERES

PROSPECTS

The property management segment has become one of the
key sources of income to the Group. Management believes that
the property management industry in China will continue to
grow steadily and this segment will bring stable income to the
Group. While exploring new property management projects, the
Group will actively consider expanding this segment through
acquisitions.

The hotel operation business in Victoria, British Columbia,
Canada continues to generate revenue for the Group, of
which, however, has contributed less due to foreign exchange
fluctuations. The Group has been exploring other investment
opportunities in hotel operation, property investment and
development in Hong Kong, the PRC and other overseas
countries, with an aim to deliver substantial returns for
shareholders of the Company through a series of acquisitions
and proposed cooperation.

The Group is adjusting its overall operational strategies and
considering to invest in several service-oriented industries,
including cultural, tourism and healthcare sectors. The objective
is to synthesize these new investments with existing businesses
to transform the Group into a modern city integrated life service
provider and bring satisfactory returns to both the Group and its
shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express sincere thanks
and appreciation to our shareholders, business partners and
dedicated management as well as staff for their continued
support and valuable contributions to the Group.

Shen Yong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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Management

Discussion and Analysis
BHEEBN WA

The success of property
management segment
strengthen the confidence of the
Group to become a modern city
integrated life service provider.
Management will continue
to explore new property
management projects and
expand this segment through
acquisitions.

EBEE 3 3:0)D 80 I 1 -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR R W AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW BA %5 O] 8

Revenue and Segment Information WEREDEER

Revenue represents hotel operation income and properties W BEEEWRARESTIBIWRA - Wz mh
management income. Revenue increased by 8.0% —E—+F 487,588,000 T EF8.0% E 4

to approximately HK$94,582,000 from approximately 9458200087 TEZHARNEBE_T—N\F
HK$87,588,000 in 2017 was mainly attributable to the increase TZA=FT—RIEFEBREEERARDEE
in hotel operation income and properties management income BULESIEANFTER -

during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Direct Costs BHIERAX

Direct costs increased by approximately HK$3,427,000 or 6.2% B RIS N #93,427 0007 T 506.2% = £
to approximately HK$58,890,000 which was in line with the 58,890,000 7T - BRI ERIE HNARFT
increase in revenue.

Gross Profit E7
Gross profit increased by approximately HK$3,567,000 or 11.1% FEH EF#13,567,000 Brek11.1% « Bz
which was in line with the increase in revenue. R
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE R AT

The Group has been exploring investment opportunities in hotel
operation, property investment and development in Hong Kong, the

PRC and other overseas.

BRERBRAREHRS -

AEBEBRERNEL - PELREMSINER ZEERSE - VX

Other Income

Other income decreased by approximately HK$2,583,000
from approximately HK$3,992,000 in 2017 to approximately
HK$1,409,000 in 2018. The decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in gain on amount due to a director stated at fair value
upon initial recognition.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately
HK$3,869,000 from approximately HK$46,847,000 in 2017 to
approximately HK$50,716,000 in 2018. The increase was mainly
due to additional equity-settled share-based payment expenses
of HK$7,101,000 against the decrease in loss allowance of trade
and other receivable of HK$4,190,000.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs during the year amounted to
HK$7,522,000 (2017: HK$7,104,000) mainly due to the
issuance of a 3% coupon unlisted bond of HK$10,181,000 in
March 2018.

H il A\

H A WA B —F —+ % 493,992,00078 7T #
#12,583,00078 T £ =T — J\F 41,409,000 /&
7T MO EERANENESRA (R HER
RHE A A EHIER) WatBl A PrEL -

THRX

THAYH T —+F 446,847,000 7 018 hN
493,869,000/ 7t & — T — J\ £ #750,716,000
PETT o I INE B AR REINARE I S E UARR D
AR FRFIX 7,101,0008 T E 5 M E
th B U BR SR B0 B 1R B B 2 R D 4,190,000 8 TT AT
ﬁ o

Rl & P A
AEEEFANBERANS7,522,00087T (=
T—+%:710400087) TEHR-F
—\F=H3#7710,181,000/8 7T * @ FF| =X
3% 2 IF EMEFFAE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERE B RA

Revenue of Hotel
Operation Business

Revenue of Property
Management Business
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Taxation HIE

Income tax expense decreased from approximately
HK$4,912,000 in 2017 to approximately HK$1,236,000 in 2018
was mainly attributable to the decrease in provision for PRC
Corporate Income Tax by approximately HK$3,676,000.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing combined effects of the above, the
Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$21,820,000.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s net current assets and
current ratio were approximately HK$8,550,000 and 1.23
respectively (2017: HK$16,643,000 and 1.54 respectively).

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s land and buildings
held for own use of approximately HK$82,956,000 (2017:
HK$90,023,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group.

PSR S B —F—+£5#4,912,000 8 T4
2T~ )\F#1,236,000/8TT * FERHNRT
B (b ZE PR 1S A BE R 40 3,676,000 B TT R X »
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1.23(=ZF—+F : 9 51416,643,0007% 7T &
1.54) o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE R AT

Capital Structure

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group financed its
liquidity requirements through a combination of cash flow as
generated from operations, secured loans, bonds and advances
from a director.

Commitment and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had operating lease
commitments of approximately HK$5,041,000 (2017:
HK$6,709,000) and did not have any significant contingent
liabilities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Hotel Operation Business

Revenue from hotel operation accounted for approximately
47.3% of the total revenue. For the year 2018, the hotel achieved
occupancy of 80.7% (2017: 77.9%) and growth in revenue
of other hotel related services by 5.8%. The revenue was
increased by approximately HK$1,883,000 from approximately
HK$42,874,000 in 2017 to approximately HK$44,757,000 in
2018.

Property Management Business

Revenue from property management business amounted
to approximately HK$49,825,000, representing an increase
of 11.4% comparing to approximately HK$44,714,000 in
2017. The increase was due to the increase in areas under
management from approximately 507,000 square metres in
2017 to approximately 579,000 square metres in 2018. The
segmental revenue accounted for approximately 52.7% of the
total revenue of the Group.

Net Gearing Ratio

The net gearing ratio was 1.38 as at 31 December 2018 (31
December 2017: 12.5). The net gearing ratio was measured by
net debt (including secured loans and bonds, and deducting
bank balances and cash) over the total equity.

i%zli.%*#%
BE_ZT-N\F+-AH= + FIEFE A&

.I;ziELZﬁ/\ﬂ B migmiRen - HHF
% ﬁ#&i%;&mﬁﬁméﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁg °

RIERSAREGRE

RZE-NF+_A=+—8 KEFER
BIRERAIELS5,041,000 BT (ZE—+F -
6,709,000 7T) * U MIWETRERSAEE -

XBEE

EEREER
KEBEELEZ WS HRKENA73% -
R-ZF— N\ BEAELRET%(ZF
—L£F 1 77.9%) - EAE 5 R AR % U s 1E
£5.8% o Yrak 1% 11491,883,000/8 7T - B = F
—+F 442,874,000/ T ME T —/\E 4

44,757,000 7T °

MEERRT

Y EIE E KU ES A% 49,825,000 7T © B
T+ FE444,714,0005E TTIE AN 11.4% © U
=IENHAAEEEER T —tF4507,000
FHAREME=ZZ— ) \FEH 579,000 F 5K o
DI AN EE RS B EEH 52.7% ©

FEEARLILE
RZFB-N\F+-_A=+—BZFEERE
R/ (ZFE—EF+_A=+—8:
125) - FEERBHLERIHBEFR (BECE
ERERRES - WNERRTESRERS) FRE
AT E ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR R W AT

Staff and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had approximately 361
employees, including 234 based in the PRC, 11 based in Hong
Kong and 116 based in Canada. Staff costs from continuing
operations for the year ended 31 December 2018 were
approximately HK$53,871,000, representing an increase of
approximately HK$7,138,000 as compared to approximately
HK$46,733,000 of last year due to the increase in equity-settled
share-based payment expenses as a result of share options
granted to certain directors and eligible participants.

Employee remuneration is determined in accordance with
prevailing industry practice and employees’ performance and
experience. Discretionary bonuses are awarded to employees
with outstanding performance with reference to the performance
of the Group. Employees are also entitled to other staff benefits
including medical insurance and mandatory provident fund.

Foreign Exchange Fluctuation and Hedge

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to Renminbi,
United States Dollar and Canadian Dollar. Foreign exchange
risk arises from commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities and net investment in foreign operations.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the
Group did not enter into any forward foreign currency contracts.

1 & R 3 B B SR

R-ZE—N\E+-A=+—H AEEL A 361
ZET  BHR2UEBMRFE  11BUREE
K162 A MEX - HE-_ZT—N\F+=A
T HIFEREBFELLEEBEIRAY
53,871,000/ 7T + 8 & F 446,733,000 1%
II#97,138,0008 7T » NREAMETEEREE
BROMERHBRES UEREE ARG AE
BEEY S FRBA S G INATER o

BEME HRBERTHITEENNEERE R
KRBT BHBEAN2EAEERR BT
KREBENER -BETAEZHEMESE
M (BRBRERERLEHERER)

M IR B B
AEBAZKAZRBREBOINERR - TBW
RARE - ETRMT - SNERBRREBER
% CHRBENEE  URRINEER 2 F
BE e

BE_Z-\FER_T—tF+-_A=1+—H
IFFE - REBW BT EEBINES L)
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Corporate Governance Report

AL Af N/
PEERMEE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND CEERTHRLEETRER

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of
practices of corporate governance so as to ensure the protection
of shareholders’ interests with better transparency. The Company
has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange during the year ended 31 December 2018, except for
the following:

Code Provision A.6.7

Pursuant to the code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors, as equal Board
members, should attend the general meetings of the Company.

The Company held its annual general meeting on 29 May 2018
(the “AGM”) and extraordinary general meeting on 20 December
2018 (“the EGM”) . During the year ended 31 December 2017,
certain independent non-executive directors were unable to
attend the Company’s general meetings due to their unavoidable
business engagements.

The Company has arranged and will continue to arrange to
furnish all directors with appropriate information on all general
meetings and take all reasonable measures to arrange to
schedule in such a way that all directors can attend general
meetings, as well as to support non-executive directors to
respond to shareholders’ questions in the general meetings.

Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates that the Chairman of the Board
should attend the AGM. Due to other business engagements, the
Chairman of the Board was unable to attend the AGM. However,
Mr. Gan Lin, an executive director of the Company, took chair of
the AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company
to ensure an effective communication with the shareholders of
the Company thereat.

ARB—MBTREILEEATR  HES
BRERERBCRANE - ARBIREBEZF—/\
FT_A=+T—HLFESETHIMES L
mARA (T EFRAD M+ RE AT
APTEIAY ST RMESC - T AIRRSD -

SFRMEE A6.7 1§

RIBEFREXE A6.7 15 B IFITESE A
MIFRTESEREEMESTHERF ML
BB BHEARBZBRBFAS -

ARBRZZB-NFER -+ NRABITREE
FREEN-Z-NFT_A-THBITER
FRARg BE_T—tF+-_A=+t—HIk
FE BTBUFATESTARENAELSE
BMARELERARARRAS °

ARBBHEMBEBRRAE - R BRHBIR
RERMBEFLHRMEENEM LR
PIERIEERLTHARE  EMAESETULE
% UMIFMTESRES - NERKR
RBERA®Z 1M -

STRNREE E12 IR EEFEERBHFRR
BERE BMRNBEMERES BEFEXR
RELFERRBFKRE - A ARAMNITE
EHREERBARB ZEBMERMA - EE
REBFRE 2 FFIARE AR R IRETT
BRUBAE -
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Model code for securities transactions by
directors

The Company has adopted Appendix 10, Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers of the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of practice for
carrying out securities transactions by the directors of the
Company. The Company, having made specific enquiries to
all directors of the Company, confirmed that all directors have
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company’s overall management is vested in its Board,
which currently comprises seven members, coming from diverse
businesses and professional backgrounds. The biographical
details of directors are set out under the section “Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 52 to 55 of this annual report.
The Board currently comprises executive directors Mr. Shen
Yong (Chairman) and Mr. Gan Lin (Chief Executive Officer); non-
executive director Mr. Huang Xiang Yang and independent non-
executive directors Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam), Mr. Yu Lei,
and Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann.

The Board meets at least four times annually to review business
development and overall strategic policies.

To facilitate the operation of the Board, the Board has
established a schedule of matters reserved for its approval.
The specific responsibilities reserved for the Board include (a)
setting the Group’s strategy and dividend policy; (b) approving
budgets, reviewing operational and financial performance; (c)
approving major investments and divestments; (d) reviewing the
internal control system of the Group; (e) ensuring appropriate
management development and succession plans in place; (f)
approving appointments of and remuneration policy for directors
and other senior executives; (g) approving corporate social
responsibility policies; and (h) ensuring effective communication
with shareholders.

EEETESF I SNRET
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Corporate Governance Report

ALl Al N

PEERMEE

For the financial reporting accountability, the Board has an
ultimate responsibility for preparing the financial statements. In
preparing the financial statements, the Board has ensured that (a)
the generally accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong have
been adopted; (b) appropriate accounting policies have been
used and applied consistently; and (c) reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates have been made. Moreover, the Board
is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board
has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.

Being part of good corporate governance practices, a number
of board committees have been established. These committees
include five corporate governance related committees namely
the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee as well as one
ad hoc committee namely the Independent Board Committee
which is responsible for advising the matters in relation to the
continuing connected transactions. These committees operate
within specific terms of reference as prepared by the Company
and report their work and findings to the Board regularly.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

The Nomination Committee as a whole is responsible for
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of
Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession planning
of Directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors. Each of the executive Directors is
engaged on a service contract for a term of three years. The
appointment may be terminated by not less than one months’
written notice or payment in lieu of such notice. Each of the
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a specific term of three years and
is subject to retirement by rotation once every three years. And
they should be re-appointed at any annual general meeting of
the Company during their term of office. The appointment may
be terminated by not less than one month’s written notice or
payment in lieu of such notice.
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In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, one
third of the Directors of the Company are subject to retirement
by rotation every year and any new director appointed to fill
a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general
meeting or the first annual general meeting respectively after
appointment. The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board regularly to ensure that the Board has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. Where vacancies
on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee will carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external
recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment
and selection process where necessary. The recommendations
of the Nomination Committee are then put to the full Board for
decision.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment
of the Directors Mr. Shen Yong, Mr. Gan Lin and Dr. Loke Yu
standing for re-election at the next forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. The Company’s circular contains
detailed information of the directors standing for re-election will
be despatched to shareholders for consideration.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The attendance records of the directors at Board Meetings,
Audit Committee Meetings, Remuneration Committee Meeting,
Executive Committee Meetings, Nomination Committee Meeting,
Independent Board Committee Meeting and General Meetings

during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out below:

EEHELEH

 E- - N\F+ZA=T—HLEFER ' &

NEENEZTSEH  BZLETLE -
ZEEeE iﬂﬂéié”;;%h%?\a@
& BUEEZEeeRMRRARG HERL
23N

No. of meetings attended/held

SELE/BTRY
Independent
Board
Audit Remuneration Executive  Nomination ~ Committee General
Board  Committee  Committee  Committee ~ Committee =~ BUYEZE meeting
e ENZEE FMZEET H7ZEE REZEE ZEE REAE
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Shen Yong BELE 444 nfa nfa 0/0 nfa nla 112
TEA TER TER TER
Mr. Gan Lin HRLE 4/4 nla nia 000 nia nia 212
TER TEA TER TR
Mr. Shen Ke B A D 3/4 nla nla 00 nla nla 11
TEA TER TER TER
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang EAGLE 404 n/a n/a n/a na na 202
TR TR TR TR TR
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Dr. Loke Yu BEamiEt 414 212 171 n/a 0/0 171 212
(alias Loke Hoi Lam) TR
Mr. Yu Lei RERE 4/4 212 11 nfa 00 1/1 12
TER
Mr. Emst Rudolf Zimmermann RIS X %4 4/4 212 11 nla 0/0 11 212
TR
(1) resigned on 21 September 2018 (1) MZZT—N\FALA-+—HET
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five board committees, namely,
the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Independent Board Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All board committees should report to
the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

A. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises Mr. Shen Yong
(Committee Chairman) and Mr. Gan Lin. The major
responsibilities of the Executive Committee are:

1. to develop strategic plans for the consideration of the
Board;

2. to implement the strategies and policies of the Group
as determined by the Board;

3. to monitor the daily operations and financial results
against plans and budgets; and

4.  to guide the Company in various corporate affairs
There were no Executive Committee meetings held
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

B. Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors Mr. Yu Lei (Committee
Chairman), Dr. Loke Yu and Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann.

The major responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
are:

1.  to review the remuneration packages of directors and
senior management;

2. to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration structure; and

3. to review and guide the formulation of the Group’s
remuneration policy for directors and senior
management attributable to performance-driven
compensation commitment as well as market trend
and industry norms.
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There were one Remuneration Committee meeting
held for the year ended 31 December 2018 to review
the remuneration packages of directors and senior
management according to the Group’s employment policy,
nomination policy, remuneration policy, and training and
development policy.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee can be viewed on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Details of the remuneration to the directors on named
basis and members of senior management by band are
disclosed in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial
statements,respectively.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors Mr. Yu Lei (Committee
Chairman), Dr. Loke Yu and Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann.

The major responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors;

2. 1o review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and to ensure fair and transparent procedures
for the appointment or re-appointment of directors;

3. to propose the appointment of such candidates to the
Board for consideration; and

4.  to review the qualifications of the relevant candidates
for determining the suitability to the Group on the
basis of his/her qualifications, experience and
background.
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There was no Nomination Committee meeting held for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to discuss and consider
the following matters:

1. the composition of the Board with reference to certain
criteria. These criteria included qualifications required
under the Listing Rules or any other relevant laws
regarding characteristics and skills of the directors,
professional ethics and integrity, appropriate
professional knowledge and industry experience, as
well as ability to devote sufficient time to the work of
the Board and its committees and to participate in all
Board meetings and shareholders’ meetings;

2. the re-appointment of the retiring directors for
reelection at the previous general meeting;

3. procedures for election of directors and by
shareholders; and

4. independence of the independent non-executive
directors.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee can be viewed on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

D. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors Dr. Loke Yu
(Committee Chairman), Mr. Yu Lei and Mr. Ernst Rudolf
Zimmermann.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are:

1. to monitor the integrity of financial reporting of the
Company;

2. 1o review the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group; and

3. to review the corporate governance practices of the
Company.
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There were two Audit Committee meetings held for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to discuss and review the
following matters:

1. the 2017 annual report and accounts;
the 2018 interim report and accounts;

3. the Group’s financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems;

4.  the financial reporting and relevant compliance with
external auditor; and

5. the auditor’s remuneration and recommended the
Board to re-appoint Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited as the auditor of the Company in the year
2019, which is subject to the approval of shareholders
at the forthcoming AGM.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of the Audit
Committee can be viewed on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Independent Board Committee

The Independent Board Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive directors Mr. Yu Lei
(Committee Chairman), Dr. Loke Yu and Mr. Ernst Rudolf
Zimmermann.

The major responsibilities of the Independent Board
Committee are:

1. to consider and review matters regarding the
continuing connected transactions of the Group; and

2. to advise the independent shareholders whether the
Group’s transactions are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company and shareholders as a
whole.

There was one Independent Board Committee meeting
held for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties as required under the CG Code:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior
officers of the Group;

3. toreview and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct
applicable to employees and the directors; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board considered
the following corporate governance matters:

1. review of the compliance with the Code Provisions of the
CG Code; and

2. review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and
risk management systems of the Group through the Audit
Committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Company Secretary of the Company is a full time employee of
the Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affairs. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
Secretary, Mr. Leung Tak Chee Frankie, has duly complied with
the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules. According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the
Company Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training. The biographical details of the Company
Secretary is set out on in the section entitled “Directors

and Senior Management” in this annual report.
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TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive and
formal induction to ensure that he/she has an appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group, his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements, the CG Code of the Company
and the Model Code.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the
statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing
briefing and professional development for directors will be
arranged at the expenses of the Company whenever necessary.
The directors are committed to complying with Code Provision
A.6.5 of the CG Code on directors’ training effective from 1 April
2012. All directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
and provided their training records to the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS' LIABILITY
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify its directors and officers in respect of legal actions
against the directors. During the year ended 31 December 2018,
no claim had been made against the directors and the officers of
the Company.

The Separate Roles of the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman of the
Board and the Chief Executive Officer, is clearly defined and has
been approved by the Board. The Chairman provides leadership
of the Board, ensures the effectiveness of the Board and
oversees the corporate development; while the Chief Executive
Officer, as head of the executive directorate, is responsible for
managing the business development and strategic planning of
the Group.

Their separate roles reinforce the continuous enhancement of
the Group’s corporate governance in terms of corporate fairness,
transparency and accountability.
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Directors’ Independence

There are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s) among members of the Board.

The directors are given access to independent professional
advice at the Group’s expense, when the directors deem it
necessary in order to carry out their responsibilities.

The Board also advocates the participation of independent non-
executive directors and non-executive directors in various board
committees to safeguard objectivity and independence.

The Company has received the confirmation letters from each
of the independent non-executive directors, confirming their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive directors are
independent.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control system to ensure adequate
control in place to safeguard the Group’s assets and
stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to
address and handle the all significant risks associate with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform annual review
on any significant change of the business environment and
establish procedures to response the risks result from significant
change of business environment. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to mitigate the potential
losses of the business.

EEZHIUMN
EFEeNBRWEMS X5 RRIHEMES
R/ IERERAR

MEFRRUASRKIBIBERXERN 2 B R IAR
PEITREZBE - BRERBAKES -

EESNaBBIIFNTEENIIFRNTESRS
HEBRREE  KmERFBENELIE -

ARPDEEERBIUIFAITESKELTR
A% 3.13 IR E B H 10 2 FER K » N AR
RFBE I FATE S R ERE

o

2 B T % P9 D A

EXg2mARTAREERERASE B
BERmERBRNEERREE RIZE - S E
RAKERILEEEEGUNEREE RN
BRI BB o

BERZBeRERTHASEBERNERE
BERARES  c BREZEEEEAEEEE
ABEPEZ M B RERBBERPFINER EE M
B A K B B T SN RE R RIS o

AEBELE A T AR EIE RN EH
AREF M BRKER  BRETRONE
B - AR EEE LR E AR

AEBCHERBRERER - R K& ERIEHER
SEXBAEBNMEERRAR EFSTFH
EHRBHROEMNERE(CETRE - AR
TRFUBHEBRENEXNZE(LS
K E R o EREIE N B SIHE § R
EBHELEIS -

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 26

REBEBREZERERD A



Corporate Governance Report

PEERRES

Management would identify the risks associate with the business
of the Group by considering both internal and external factors
and events which include political, economic, technology,
environmental, social and staff. Each of risks has been assessed
and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be
applied to each type of risks according to the assessment results,
type of risk management strategy has been listed as follow:

— Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

— Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so
as to avoid the risk;

— Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the
risk or allocate to different location or product or market.

— Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third

party

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the
Group and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks.
The risk management and internal control system are design
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has engaged
an external advisory firm to undertake the internal audit
function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group. There is
no significant deficiency and weakness on the internal control
system has been identified by the external advisory firm for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December
2018, the risk management and internal control system
and procedures of the Group, covering all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group has put in place the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information. The
Group complies with requirements of the SFO and the Listing
Rules. The Group discloses inside information to the public
as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls
within any of the safe harbours as stated in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public.
The Group is committed to ensure that information contained
in announcements or circulars are not false or misleading as to
a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of
a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and
balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive
and negative facts.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018 which reflect true and fair view of the financial position of
the Company and the Group and in compliance with relevant
law and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. The Board is
responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules.

The Group appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as
the Group’s external auditor. The statement by Grant Thornton
Hong Kong Limited regarding their reporting responsibilities to
the shareholders on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
69 to 77 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2018 the fees paid/payable
to the auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by the auditor to the Group were as follows:

1% B0 B 7 B

BE_Z-\FFT_A=+—RHLEFE" &
ZEE R AR BREZBIGERBREZEX
/NS TR BRWT

HK$'000

Nature of services RIEHE FHETT

Audit services =R 860
Non-audit services IEZ B RTE

Other services H b AR TS 30

Total k) 890

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining effective
communications with shareholders. Annual reports and interim
reports provide shareholders with comprehensive information
of the Group’s operational and financial performances; while
general meetings offer a platform for shareholders to state and
exchange views with the Board directly.

The management continually communicates with analysts and
institutional investors and provides them with up-to-date and
comprehensive information regarding the Group’s development.
The Company practices timely dissemination of information
and makes sure its website www.forebase.com.hk contains
the most latest information, including but not limited to annual
reports, interim reports, announcements, monthly returns and
press releases, and is updated in a timely manner to ensure
transparency.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there had been no
significant changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.

REERF

EFETHRERREFANEANERE - F
BRAHRERBEREHAKSEZERPBR
BZHBER MBRRAGARKTEERR
REERMESFEEEEIBER -

EREFENASMERRBIREEER W
FEREEEAEEERCEIMEFRECE
B KRR BT RFBERER 2B RERE
493k www.forebase.com.hk & B ZxFHE K - B
BARRRFESR - PHSRE - 2% - AREREH
EAfm  WEEEHABREPE o

HEERE

BE-_Z—\F+-A=+t—HLEE A2
B SR AR -
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

A. cConvening an Extraordinary General

BRER Z#EF
A. HRRBHRABREFIXE

Meeting by Shareholders

Inaccordance with section 566 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”), shareholder(s) holding at the
date of the deposit of the requisition at least 5% of the
voting rights at general meetings of the Company, may
request the directors of the Company to convene an
EGM. The written requisition must state the objects of
the meeting and must be signed by the shareholder(s)
concerned and deposited at the registered office of the
Company for the attention of chairman of the Board or the
Company Secretary. The requisition may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
shareholders concerned.

If the directors of the Company do not within 21 days from
the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to
convene an EGM for a date not more than 28 days after
the date on which the notice convening the EGM is given,
the shareholder(s) concerned, or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves convene an EGM, provided that the EGM
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3
months from the said date.

The EGM convened by shareholders shall be convened in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
general meetings are to be convened by the directors of the
Company.

RIBRBED (BEEDIFE 622F)[ A7)
51 1) %566 16 - H— RS BBRRNTF
HEERBRBRRERIAENFEREE B
BARRBIRER D% » WAIRAR
AIRRE LIREE - IRRKARAEEHT
FBRERSHIAE - EEFRATAREH
B RAHBBERREBLEAIARNR
ZifiEr GERREARESETE
HRFME) EEBRAREZ MRS
AR BB —RAZR—RERK
REFH TR

WMARBEEFEFRLEES BHEE 21
B REEARBRERASEEED
HEIZ 28 HAZHFIER A FMRRERIX
g AABBRRAIEEBAERRERE
L2 EMARRRA 81TERK
RERIKRE @ B A2 BREREF R
REPMFELRFBRERE AHIEE 3 @
AIEmRERIT -

HERAMZKRE - ARAIGEAEKOAR
REEARAGZTAEH -

IR EF
BRANEEEAMESTETENR  AH
EHMARREARARBBZIEMRS
Jﬁ o

NAMERMEEE R HAREZIEME
EXZZEeEIRRNEANER XA
BEBRTEELERRER -

B. Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board in
writing to the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong.

The Company Secretary will forward the shareholders’
enquiries and concerns to the Board and/or relevant board
committees of the Company, where appropriate, to answer
the shareholders’ questions in writing.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 30

REBEBREZERERD A



Corporate Governance Report

AL s S
1ExXEVR

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals
at General Meetings by Shareholders

Shareholders are requested to follow sections 551 to 554
(written resolutions), section 579 (notice of resolutions),
sections 580 to 583 (statements), section 615, section 616
(resolutions for AGMs) of the Companies Ordinance for
including a resolution at AGM of the Company AGM. The
requirements and procedures are set out as follows:

1. A member of a company may request the company
to circulate a resolution that-

(a) may properly be moved; and
(b) is proposed as a written resolution under section
549(b) of the Companies Ordinance.

If a member requests a company to circulate a resolution,
the member may request the company to circulate with the
resolution a statement of not more than 1,000 words on the
subject matter of the resolution.

However, each member may only request the company to
circulate one such statement with respect to the resolution.

A company must circulate a resolution proposed as a
written resolution under section 549(b) of the Companies
Ordinance and any statement mentioned in section 551(2)
of the Companies Ordinance if it has received requests that
it do so from the members of the company representing not
less than 5% of the total voting rights of all the members
entitled to vote on the resolution (or a lower percentage
specified for this purpose in the company’s articles).

C.

BREERRAE LIREHENERF

W RERARBREBAF RS LIRERE
= WABRE R RIEMAISE 551 & 554 {§
(BEDRE) - £ 579 1§ CREBZBRE) &
580F 583 1§ (MR it &) - 5 615 15+ 5
616 & (RFBEFRERRZE) 2R THE
T EREREEBFOT

1. ARMKENERRAREHEAN
T BReREE -

(a) FIEEHWEFR K
(b) BRBEARIRPIZE 549(b) FIZH A
REEEART A

BRRBNBRAAENERE  TER
ZAREEEZREN RN - EHERZ
RENBHEEMFETSR 1,000 FH
BhE -

A > BRKEBEAREBRZEZRAF
BB Lt Rt & -

2. WARBEAREHIZE 549(b) EiRE
MIRAEmRELAARE  KEA
A& 551(2) &Pt A9 a7 PR st
e mMAEBARKIGEZESRS
B BZORFBRANK B BRRANE
TNORE% (BB RRNERZLE
AL B R MmERNEREST S L) IR
MER - BXRZAREMZEREN
PRaE - RIRZ AR BEMZSREN
PRyt 22

o
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PEEAWmSS
A request — Z3Rk -

(@) may be sent to the company in hard copy form or in (a) Efﬁéﬁﬁ AR REFHAEZEHE
electronic form; NCIE

(b) must identify the resolution and any statement (b) /A?au”jﬁ?gﬁi AMERIEE 551(2)
mentioned in section 551(2) of the Companies {5 T3t O R 3t
Ordinance; and

(c) must be authenticated by the person or persons (c) ZBRFIBIRIEZERMARE
making it.

3. If by any provision of the Companies Ordinance special AR IR A EUE B A FE(RHESURTE @ AR
notice is required to be given of a resolution, the resolution ez tHENEXARL TRERBM - E'J
is not effective unless notice of the intention to move it has BIEEZERAIRD 288  ERMBABER
been given to the company at least 28 days before the BB EZRABNERARA - TQ'J*NJ%
meeting at which it is moved. MmN
The company must, if practicable, give its members notice EBRAFE (YIER1THRE) RENEH
of the resolution at the same time and in the same manner = u;xE’]L%DE’Jﬂﬁﬁ BRI Z B AR R
as it gives notice of the meeting. A MEK BB ZRENBA -

If that is not practicable, the company must give its W ORI IETIE A 4T - AIBE AR RIA

members notice of the resolution at least 14 days before REBEHIIxD 14 EI LA 3t ETF’T

the meeting — Hp BN ABAZRNBA -

(a) by advertisement in a newspaper circulating generally (a) TE—HREBREZRBNHRENEE
in Hong Kong; or &gk

(b) in any other manner allowed by the company’s (b) ZRARWERZMAIMA T EREA
articles. AR e

If, after notice of the intention to move the resolution has MRBZERAZNAANRE@BARE

been given to the Company, a meeting is called for a date HoMmE&ENZBANEDL%ZB228H

28 days or less after the notice has been given, the notice WA - BIFZEANEE SR FETE#R FE A BFBR

is to be regarded as having been properly given, though not AEL - IMERABIREMED -

given within the time required.
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Pursuant to Article 105 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, no person other than a director retiring at
the meeting shall, unless recommended by the directors
for election, be eligible for election as director at any
general meeting unless a notice signed by a member
(other than the person to be processed) duly qualified to
attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is
given of his intention to propose such person for election
and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed
of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged
at the registered office of the Company provided that the
minimum length of the period, during which such notice(s)
are given, shall be at least seven days and that the period
for lodgement of such notice(s) shall commence no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.

RIBARR 2 EBERAMAE 1050F - B
FEEZSRE2E  AKBERHFEAE
FRE ERFOBIR (NMEABIHERE) &
EZEMBINLREABHEEIAZE
MERERZ AT NBRBERBRHEREZE
AN BRRARAEMPER - B
AfFMARE LREZESI  MEALR
BERREMBRRAS EEEE SR -
THBANRERREI /LR | X%
BANHEARZERF LRGBS
‘2 AfGAE  EEZRRAGETH
HzrtHLE -
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1. REPORT OVERVIEW 1. HEHE

About the Report
Introduction to the Report

Forebase International Holdings Limited (02310.
HK), (“Forebase” or the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries referred to as the “Group”)
has been listed on the Main Board of Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (“HKEX”) since 2003. The Group
continues to work towards sustainable growth
though communicating and cooperating with its key
stakeholder groups.

This is the third environmental, social and
governance report (“ESG Report”) prepared by the
Group. Our report follows the ESG reporting principles
of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency,
extensively illustrates the Group’s management
approach and business performance in terms of the
environmental, social and governance for the twelve
months ended 31 December 2018 (the “Reporting
Period”).

The Group understands the importance of ESG
report and is committed to making continuous
improvements in corporate social responsibility into
our business in order to better meet the changing
needs of an advancing society.

Preparation Basis and Reporting Standard

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance
with the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) under
the Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited (“HKEX"). Cushman & Wakefield was
appointed as external consultant to provide assistance
and advice in the course of report preparation.

FRAEBIRER AR A F (02310.HK)
(TERE =k [ARnaE]] - Lﬂﬁw%
RSB AEE]) BT =F8R
EBBAT ([BZFT)) EiRET -
AEBFBESBRFEHNEEEE
BRAEEHAFELER -

ARER/RAEBRE 2 E =TS -
e ker®ms ((RE g he
AME]) o MEEMIRE - LB RE
emECEEN - 8t FEE—%
HERERA - EZFHAAEEREE—
E-N\F+A=t—HI+=@EHA
(THmER]) RRR - LB RERA
[EPASEDE:WSE 3

REBMBIRE HLEREAMED
T WAHAGEEARR R EREH T E

RACEASET  UBIHFIAE

BB AENteTEE (LT -

A B ERIREER

R ?i‘\&ﬁ/ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁ\% it
ERGFBRAR (AT &
R AR = —T—JCIE—T@%%% s
gRERMEES) ([RE ek
ERAMEES]) HE - Cushman &
Wakeﬂeld?%%TEZ%&VI\a‘BEEF'ﬁ T AR
REREBETRERE RER -
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The Group is pleased to present our performance and
progress. The Board of Directors have reviewed and
approved the ESG Report to ensure all material issues
and impacts on sustainability development are fairly
presented.

Scope of the ESG Report

The Group is diversified with business areas including
hotel operation and property management. One of
the main business segments is hotel operation in
Canada, namely Brentwood Bay Resort in Victoria,
British Columbia, Canada. This award-winning resort
is tailored for luxury traveller. Culinary innovation
would be the core value at the resort and the resort
offers resort and spa services. The Group always look
for ways to improve, grow and develop for all staffs
because the resort operates as a team to deliver
exceptional service. Our business areas also cover
property management in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and provision of administrative
support to group companies in Hong Kong.

The ESG Report focuses on three environmental
aspects and eight social aspects required by HKEX.
For information regarding the governance section,
please refer to the Corporate Governance Report as
incorporated in our Annual Report.

AEBEMAZHAMNRRSLER
EESCEMMIERER - HEakE
amE JMET%E%HF’%T% BRRZ
FIEBRFRNTELETIREZR -

B HEREGHEEE

REEZTTBER - EHEFHBER
JEEERYEER - ﬁ‘:fj—“\EE%
BOEAENERNEELEER -
5@Eﬁfﬁﬁéﬂﬂ’§ﬁ§i}ﬁﬁ1wttﬁﬁ%ﬁy
I g5 T A Brentwood Bay Resort » &
—AARENERBEEEARHER
T - ZERBAENZLEBERR
ETHEIFT - BhBEREE B RKERR
% o AR OBEE AB B EE A TR
B —WARY - ARBETERERE
PEBETRA KEERBERMHR
o REBMESHEIIREPEA
REME ([FE]) OMEETEER
M AEBEBNEBR R REITHRIER
% o

R e REAREEBRMEL

ELDIS :{liﬁiﬁﬁl}m?&)\{.ﬁ:/a\%ﬂ
5 ARERMONER  B2HF
AR DEERRES °

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 35

—E—\ER




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
mis | vl & =RAH
RE g ke amE

Stakeholder Engagement
Stakeholder Communication

During the Reporting Period, we have been actively
engaging with our internal and external stakeholders
to strengthen initiatives and strategies which are
essential for the Group’s sustainable growth. We
identify our key stakeholders as government and
regulatory authorities, shareholders, customers,
business partners, environment, employees,
community and media.

To understand and meet expectation of our
stakeholders, transparent and responsive channels
such as meetings, telephone conference, email
and mutual visits are in place to ensure our quality
communications with our stakeholders.

rrESHR
HhnEEE

RImEHA - RAPI— BTG E A FEA
SNERFF I EEITROM - AL BIRKE
HEMEREE - ER R AR E R R RE
BRERF - BAEBRNSMEEHE -
BR-BPF ZHUKHF - RE B
T HEREEEASRMNEIERN
£

RTEEDERNERE - RAIERA
g% Bagd EBLRESFTEDR
H etk Bl R 7 SRR B R B AR
FeERNER -

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 36

REBEBREZERERD A



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE g RERWmE

Stakeholders Expectations and aspirations Communication modes
B E HMERER BEAN

Government and
regulatory authorities

BFREEHRE

Shareholders
8

Customers

®F

Business Partners

EBUH

Environment
BRI

Employees

=l

Community

HE

Media
g}

Operation in compliance
B

Fulfilment of tax obligations
BT

Creation of job opportunities
SLEREHE

Investment returns

RE D

Sustainable development
AR R

Workplace safety
TERBELSE

Client privacy

B

High quality services
BERS

Integrity and Honesty
BRZHE

Healthy Cooperating Relationship
EREE ERER

Fulfilment of emission standards
ERBER

Energy conservation and emission
reduction

BN RERLBE

Career development

BEER

Remuneration and benefits
HrtE A

Occupational health

BERERE

Corporate support

NRIE

Participation in local community
|5 AR

Support for community welfare

XFEHR AR

Information transparency

BAEH

Regular submission of information
TR E R

Regular communication with
regulatory authorities

EECE WA TE YRR

General meetings
REBFERE

Annual and interim report
FERFHBE
Inspection on site

BihER

Satisfaction Surveys
MEEHE

Online Commenting Platform
BEERTA

Lawful actions and
communications

BRITE AR

On-going direct engagement
HEEZE2 N
Communication with local
environmental protection
department

ERE M IRIR B PI AR

Employee Representatives
Meeting

BIREZAE

Annual performance review
FEERR

Team building activities

Lil7Se S ot

Communication meeting with the
community

HREEE

Sponsorship and Donation
e L

Media enquiry

L)

Press conference on important
events

RERERSEMCES
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2. THE ENVIRONMENT 2,

¢ Environment Strategy and Management
Approach

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to
adhere to the concept of sustainable development,
clean and environment-friendly production. Resource
consumption and environmental emissions for the
Group’s subordinate enterprises were under strict
management and in compliance with relevant laws
and regulations.

The Group pays great attention to the balance
between sustainable development and its business
development. It has formulated a series of
environmental protection strategies and policies,
and actively influenced environmental strategies and
management approaches of the subsidiaries of the
Group.

Rig
s RIERBREEEAN

RBEHA - AEBBRERTAHE
BR - OBRFMRREEMNED - AE
BTN EEE 2 BRBREMRERBNG
REBEBEIR - WEEHBERE
e

AREGFRERTHERRRLGE
B2 RN o HEHIT— R
SO RER - LA A R
ARZEREBRERH -

CASE STUDY: CHONGQING NOVOTEL PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

Chongging Novotel Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Novotel”)
has built up an internal management system to implement its
environment strategy, which not only enhances the Group’s
sustainability performance, but also brings value to its client.

Novotel pays great attention to build up an efficient and sustainable
management system and has received several certifications,
which includes “ISO14001 Environmental Management System
certification”, “ISO9001 Quality Management System certification” and
“OHSAS18001 Occupational Health and Safety Management System
Certification”.

Property management services such as customer service, regular

Commercial Building”.

Standardized Property Management of
Yuzhong District, Chongging — Class A
Commercial Building

EENTEYERGIFENL - FREBET

inspection, engineering maintenance, cleaning service, green plants maintenance have been provided by Novotel in
six projects, with a total gross floor area over five hundred seventy thousand square meters. Projects that currently
being managed by “Novotel” have won several awards such as “Property Management Model Building of Chongging
City”, “Best Model Project for High Grade Office Buildings in China Property Management”, “Standardized Property
Management of Yuzhong District, Chongging — Class A Commercial Building”, and “Yuzhong District Five-Star
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e  Emissions o HEWX
The main source of the Group’s greenhouse gas AEBARERE CRERE) Bz
(GHG) emissions is derived from mobile source FERRRERREES 2 BWHE
combustion from vehicles owned by the company EymigR ([#E 1 8ERR]) ~ JNBEE S
(“Scope 1 emission”), procured electricity and gas NER (T&@BE28m]) kEMEE
(“Scope 2 emission”) and other indirect emissions PEnk ([EE3BERR]) - REEER -
(“Scope 3 emission”). During the Reporting Period, BEREHRREYIRAT ¢

the total GHG emission is listed as below:

RO - EERERYXEERRLAT

ERHERMEEEARAR ((HER)) EEYAMEERREREREBR - T
BRANKEZAIFERR  YATEFAIEEE-

Pard bt et dpLE LSRR P ...
@ s
an
.
bt
i

x % x &

“**ME%Eﬁﬁiﬁx&&‘ﬁi?mﬂ?ﬁ%w  WEIREE TRE - PR 150
14001 REE Ii%f%;%a’ﬂ [1SO9001 /& E IR 88 %R 3% | J [OHSAS18001 B4
RREEEBARE

e g EESERAEEE NRRESRE  EMRE - TRENE BRRY - Mg
AR R R IESE EMEREERS  MERELZEREEBA T EEF K - R [FAER] EEN
HEORGETHEN [EEMYWEERREAE]| ([Property Management Model
Building of Chongging City]) ~ [ EIMEEB SRR A RNEKERESEIAR | ([Best
Model Project for High Grade Office Buildings in China Property Management]) - [ EE &5 R EIRTEIZ (L - FH
mEsET ] & [asE T EE5# 5 ([ Yuzhong District Five-Star Commercial Building]) ©
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GHG Emission
BE R EEHERR
CO, 17.77 tons
_ o . —&bhx 17.77 ¥
Direct QHG Em|SS|o.n (Mobile source CH, 0.04 tons
Sc?pe. 1 combustion from vehicles owned by the =I5 0.04 %8
Emission company)
CE1HN  EEASRENN CRASATEEZ _NO 2.98 fons
GHG Total 20.39 tons
BERBESE 20.39 1A
Scc?pe: 2 Indirect GHG Emission (Purchased GHG Total 18.73 tons
Emission Electricity & Gas) 0 o gy 2 18.73 1
BE25N  OERATERESR ONBEIRER) T T e
i G Emission (mainl
Esr:(iJ:seioi e GI?ravelling) ( ' ‘\’Ei—ﬁt ,j;,o Z/E 32 t(p;gs
8 3 R R (£ B ARE) mERIEEE 2
Total 71.12 tons
Fob 71.12M8
* The above greenhouse gas emissions are defined and * FiURERBBERIBRBRERE R
calculated according to the GHG Protocol and HKEX ## (GHG Protocol) & Bt 22 FTIR 3% ~
Guidance of ESG report Annex Il gREBREESIMF_ERERAE
* The above calculation EF is sourced from NDRC & HKEX * A EHRREGTE REEXKEREM
Guidance of ESG report Annex |l NELZEBEREBIMRE  HEkE
ARSI =
There were no hazardous wastes generated by the REERRN - AEBEREEEGERE
Group during the Reporting Period, all the harmless K mMATBEEEL (L2757 180)
wastes were properly collected and disposed by AR BEBERERARZERERE
qualified recycling company with a total quantity of Ig o
18 tons.
During the Reporting Period, we made continuous RWEBAN - BMEBR—EB S
improvement guided by a set of CO2 emission —tFREHE 2 ZE LR E IR
reduction management policies that have been REIESIEITIHENRS - NEBMFT
implemented since 2017. All members of the Group BRENRE R )FEREE  HAORE
have gained increasing awareness to save energy, R R BRUEFEREIR - BRI AL ST
reduce energy wastage and efficient consumption E— AR LT EERRIRIE ©

of energy, so as to create a better and cleaner
environment for the society.
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Resources Consumption

The main consumption resources of the Group during
the Reporting Period are gasoline, electricity, natural
gas and water. The gasoline is mainly supplied to
vehicles owned by the Group. The power and water
are mainly supplied to the building services. Natural
gas is consumed for cooking and boiler heating.

The Group attaches great importance to the water
conservation and energy efficiency in its daily
operation, all the employees of the Group are
encouraged to adopt environmentally responsible
habits. Regular maintenance and commissioning of
the building equipment were taken by the Group.

o HERHE
RBEBRR - ARBEFEEEZER
BYH B RARLK o TAE
BEARARRIER ZEH - BHRK
FEAREFRE - RATARER
K OnEhsRLE o

AEBEHERAEEERHLAK
REERME - NEBEEAEE TS
BETITERHREEENEE - A%
177 BRHE (S OB

EHETREE

1, ©

Gasollge 839 x5 Water 31 902tonma

Hece 1,269,364kwn 7k SRR 29,92

IMHK

RIERBARER

BEAEENIRFES - B FAR
HEREAERHELEREORERE - 75
ﬁ%%ﬁ%%%@%ﬁ%&iﬂrﬁ
%’gﬁ? @xﬁl+/\§/\/ﬁ%%2¥
& o fBlan - REBERIT NIIBE R
BIEREIRETE -

e Environmental and Natural Resources °

In accordance with the Group’s environmental
philosophy, all sub-companies are committed to
providing high quality services while also ensuring
that all business activities impact the environment
positively, maintaining the balance between
operational efficiency and resource consumption.
For example, the Group has implemented following
policies and measures to reducing environmental

impact:

e Use energy-efficient light bulbs o (THENREREB

e Energy-efficient hot tubs installed o RERENREEVIOAR

e Doors with new weather stripping o FIEEBHERREK
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Forebase Labor Force Distribution Map
HE S8 h5 it E

Canada

JUIEFN

Chongging
2B
234
Hong Kong
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3. THE EMPLOYEE 8T

e Employment Policy and Labour Practice e BERABKRREREIER

The Group emphasizes the protection of the
legitimate rights and interests of all employees.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied
with all relevant employment and labour laws and
regulations, namely China’s Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China {2 A R MBI 8% )
and Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China (R E AR MBI LB &[R)E) in the PRC and
the Employment Ordinance {{BIE1&H), Minimum
Wage Ordinance { &K T & &) in Hong Kong.

We ensure a fair arrangement of working hours
and off days for our employees, we encourage our
employees to work according to the standard working
hours per day and week as stated in the labour
contract. Overtime wages will be paid in accordance
with the labour law, that is the case of working time in
excess of 8 hours a day or 40 hours a week.

The Group also strictly abides by Employment
Standards Act in Canada for overseas business of
hotel operation. Brentwood Bay Resort and Spa
complies with all Provincial and Federal regulations
in regard to employment standards and labour laws
as outlined in the British Columbia Employment
Standards Act, which is stated explicitly in our
employee handbook and employment contracts.

AEEESREMBETINAERE
i3 o RBEHAN - AEBEDETHA
TERE (R IR K S5 BAR SRR - i B
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Hong Kong
0

Age Distribution of Staff in Hong Kong
EABIERIH

30.0% 28.6%

25.0%

For the Reporting Period, the Group employed about
11 employees in Hong Kong division, for provision of
administrative support to the Group hence majority of
them are senior management people.

REERE - AEEREBHFERNILZETAR
REBERBITEZERS  ARERERZRERE

20.0%
15.0%
10.0%

7.1%
50%

28.6% 28.6%

Age 60+

51-605% 6057+

i@/\g\ °© 0.0%
Age 18-30  Age 31-40 Age 41-50 Age 51-60
18305%  31-40%  41-505%

The PRC

‘:F‘ Age Distribution of Staff in PRC
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The Group employed over 230 employees for the
Reporting Period in the PRC. Comparatively, the total
number of workers in the PRC’s companies is more
than that of Canada and Hong Kong.
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Age Distribution of Staff in Canada

Brentwood Bay Resort employed over 110 employees
for the Reporting Period in Canada. The resort always
attaches importance to engaging full-time employees
with part-time employees. The resort also hires more
staff during the summer (the peak season of the
resort).
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Gender Profile of the Group
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Working Environment
Diversity and Equalization

The Group aims to create a safe and healthy
working environment where all the employees are
treated equally, with respect and care. We also aim
to ensure justice, fairness and openness in the
whole employment process, from recruitment, to
remuneration, promotion and training, try our very
best to eliminate all gender, age, religion, marital
status and disability discrimination. We continuously
invested in employee benefits and professional
development of employee, to show our believes in
shared values and team work.

Health and Safety

The Group is concerned about the welfare and safety
of each employee and implements a “zero accident”
in the workplace with a clear policy. Building a
healthy and safe workplace means having effective
health and safety procedures and meeting other
basic requirements. There were no work-related
fatal accidents in the Reporting Period, and the total
number of days lost due to work-related injuries was
24,
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Implemented effective and
formal health and safety plan

BITERRERN

Joint Health and Safety
Commission

RERZZE BERREZHBEZES

On Site Safety Inspections Il GEJFEI B STk G Bl B

B2 RE

The Group regularly assesses emerging risks and
other health and safety issues. In order to protect
workers and adopt a systematic approach to rectify
risks through non-safe conditions, the Group has
accurately excluded workplace hazards. The Group
has implemented an effective and formal health and
safety plan. In addition, the Group has established
a Joint Health and Safety Commission to support its
performance of its duties for its employees. We also
regularly conduct on site safety inspections and wrote
an integrated set of safety procedures for employees
to follow.

procedures
REREER
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e Labour Standards and Ethical Conducts

Child Labour and Forced Labour

The Group adheres to a strict set of employment
practices. For example, when recruiting
employees in Canada, the Group strictly
prohibits the employment of any person under
the age of 15 unless the person has obtained
the written consent of the child’s parent or
guardian. The Group also strictly abides by the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China. In the event of any child labor and the
use of forced labor, the person concerned will
be dismissed immediately and the board will
discuss and review the issue in case the same
problem occurs again. There were no incidents
of breach of employment age or labour disputes
between the Group and its employees during
the Reporting Period.

Anti-corruption and money laundering

The Group has complied with the provisions of
the Combating Crimes (Money Laundering) and
Terrorist Financing Act. The Group has a zero-
tolerance policy on corruption, fraud, money
laundering, bribery and extortion. There were no
such incidents in the Group for the Reporting
Period. The Group has taken specific measures
to detect and prevent money laundering
and terrorist financing activities, such as:
(i) establish and maintain financial service
provider records and customer identification
requirements; (ii) request for reporting
suspicious financial transactions and currency
cross-border movements; and (iii) establish an
agency dedicated to ensuring compliance with
all the acts.
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e  Development and Training

The Group has always believed that effective
training and guidance for the Group’s workers is
the key to helping them understand the working
environment and fully develop their workforce.
The Group has various internal and external
safety training courses. It is extremely important
that the Group has placed safety instructions in
the site guide before the employees start work.
The topics of the guide mainly cover rights and
responsibilities, workplace hazards and safe
operating procedures. The Group shall ensure
that they are able to perform their duties safely
and comply with safe working procedures if they
are personally instructed and supervised by the
tasks they will perform.
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Forebase Internal and External Training Categories

BRE PRI EREISR

il

Management

Fire
Monitoring

F KBS0

High Voltage
Electrician

Order Maintenance EBET

Customer
Cleaning Service

B &P R

. Internal Corporate
A& Management
External DNEEE
ShEB
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 47 —E—-)\FR




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
oo =y SR Ve VAN~
RIE - g KERWmE

In the PRC, in addition to safety training, the
Group also focuses on employee development.
The Group provides in-house and external
training to enhance employee performance,
topics including elevator safety, high
voltage electrician, fire monitoring, property
management, corporate management, customer
services, order maintenance, cleaning and so on.
During the Reporting Period, the total number of
trained employees per month was 2.1 times more
than the total number of employees. The Group
shall conduct follow-up visits to all workers and
employees to ensure that they comply with safe
working procedures. All worker training records
should be documented and provide continuous
supervisor training for the Group’s supervisors.
In Canada, average number of training hours
received by our employees per year is 26 hours.

4. THE VALUE CHAIN

Supply Chain Management

The Group adheres to good practices during
procurement process and works closely with a
spectrum of suppliers for the smooth operation of
business, resources including but not limited to office
supplies, uniforms, internet and software, elevator
and fire maintenance, air conditioner cleaning service
and pest control. The areas in which we procure
are mainly located in the same city, Chongqging,
in the PRC. For oversea business operations, the
procurement area is boarder, including Canada, U.S.A
and Netherlands.

The Group has a stringent supplier selection process
and management approach to ensure healthy
and sustainable relationship with suppliers. The
procurement department will take multiple criteria
into account when accessing suppliers’ profile, such
as product quality, reputation, sustainability and
so on. Our suppliers are expected to have strong
commitments to good ESG practices concerning
issues such as environmental sustainability, health
and safety, ethical conduct.
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e Product Responsibility and Service
Quality

The Group places a high priority to ensure customers’
satisfaction in terms of products and services we
deliver. For the services provided in the PRC, the
Group is committed to provide responsible and
quality services by improving the capacity of property
management. Our employees are encouraged not
only to receive trainings but also to participate various
activities for service skills enhancement.

For the services provided in Canada, we have been
following the Hotel Keepers Act, such as the limitation
of liability for property of guest, liability for refusal or
failure to take charge of goods. The Group also has
confidentiality practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights and the
Business Practices and Consumer Protection
Act for consumer data protection and privacy
policies. Below is a list of company awards we
received in recent years:

° 2016 Canadian Tourism Business of the Year

° nnﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁgi

AEBPFEZERRETPHNEMR
MHERLRBOMEE ° HRF
REMIRY - AEERNEBLEY
EEENE DRI EEBENRE -
BPTMEZBE TX - HEERSE
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TRAFRMOFESHAREIA

o —E-REFENEANREE
¥ & (2016 Canadian Tourism
Business of the Year)

CASE STUDY: CREATE A PROPERTY ELITE AND INHERIT THE CRAFTSMANSHIP

o . kY T2 -+ =
REIAR  TEVERE  BRIERE
On 28 October 2018, the 2018 Yuzhong District Property Service
Skills Competition was held in Chongqging Wuyi Technician
College with the theme of “Promoting High-quality Property

Services and Casting High-quality Habitat Environment” (“ # &)
SEEMERY  SEaREABRE").

In this competition, professional skills for security, property
management and electrician were emphasized, attracting 276
employees from 26 property companies in Yuzhong District.
We have 14 employees from Customer Service Department,
Engineering Maintenance Department and Order Maintenance
Department participated in this competition. This competition
promoted the spirit of labor model and the spirit of artisans,
created a glorious social trend of work and a dedicated spirit
of excellence, further stimulating the enthusiasm of our staff to
learn technology, drill business practice skills, promoted and
improved the quality of our property management services.
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° 2016 Victoria Chamber Employer of the Year

o 2017 OpenTable Diners’ Choice

° 2017 TripAdvisor Certificate of Excellence

° 2018 AAA Inspector’s Best of Housekeeping

° 2018 Peninsula Reader’'s Choice for
Accommodation

° 2018 #7 Best Resort in Canada by Conde Nast
Traveller

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group believes in the concept of giving back to
the community, as contributing to society is one of the
Group’s sustainable development strategies. The Group
is committed to providing employment opportunities for
local people and promoting the economic development of
the community. The Group encourages employees to seek
opportunities to participate in more charitable work in the
future and participate in various community projects.

In Canada, each month Brentwood Bay Resort makes a
$250 donation to a local charity/non-profit organization.
In addition, services can also be donated to local events
as silent auction or door prize. Examples of previous
organizations that have received donations are:

o ALS Society of BC

o BC Wildlife Federation

e T RFEFEHZNIHE
& = (2016 Victoria Chamber
Employer of the Year)

o —E—+HFOpenTable RRFTE
A #% (2017 OpenTable Diners’
Choice)

e T tHFHBEEHE
(2017 TripAdvisor Certificate of
Excellence)

. —N\FARERERE
}% ?f“ (2018 AAA Inspector’ s
Best of Housekeeping)

. ‘iﬁ—)\iﬂé BEEEBRZ
i# (2018 Peninsula Reader’s
Choice for Accommaodation)

e Conde Nast Traveller 8 3 2 —
- NFNEAKEERBE
47 (2018 #7 Best Resort in
Canada)
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e HHNERUAHARBLERS
(ALS Society of BC)

o HXHFAFHYE S T (BC Wildlife
Federation)
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e Coast Mental Health Foundation o BEREHEEESLE (Coast Mental
Health Foundation)

e Victoria Hospital Foundation o W% F Bt HE & 2 (Victoria
Hospital Foundation)

° Make a Wish Vancouver Island ° Make a Wish Vancouver Island

° UVic Women in Science ° UVic Women in Science

° Victoria Humane Society ° Victoria Humane Society

° Melts for Mutts Senior Dog Rescue ° Melts for Mutts Senior Dog Rescue
6. DATA TABLE 6. BIEIIF

Whether to list 2017 data for comparison, to be decided by Forebase

Category Parameters Data 2018 Data 2017 Unit
28 2 —E-)\FEE —E-tFHE By

) o Scope 1 Emission tCO2e
Project Emission &E 1 5E 20.39 120 WE—SE(CiREE
8I‘Erlrt:sgl:: Scope 2 Emission 18.73 36.03 tCO2e
#[E 2 BER ' ' MRS ik E 2
RE TS ZOR S 3 Emissi tCOZAEEIE
=R cope 3 Emission e
#8355 32 23.07 =GRS B
Gasoline L
s 7,531 6,021 AT
Electricity Power KWh
Consumption Natural G Not ed s
— atural Gas ot reporte m
Water m?3
ok 31,902 17,083 ST
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CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Shen Yong

Mr. Shen Yong, aged 56, is the Chairman of the Board and
an executive director of the Company. He is a director and a
shareholder of Ultra Harvest Limited (“Ultra Harvest”), the
controlling shareholder of the Company, holding 51% of its
issued shares. Mr. Shen has more than 20 years of experience
in hotel and commercial properties development, as well as
investment, corporate and general management.

Mr. Shen completed a postgraduate (advanced studies) course
in laws (civil and commercial law) from the Southwest University
of Politics and Law (FARIBUEAZ) in July 2000.

Mr. Shen served as a deputy to the 1st to 3rd Chongging
Municipal People’s Congress in the PRC. Mr. Shen is currently
a member of the 4th Chongging Municipal Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the PRC
and a deputy chairman of the Chongging Municipal Federation
of Industry and Commerce (General Chamber).

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gan Lin

Mr. Gan Lin, aged 39, is the Chief Executive Officer and an
executive director of the Company. He graduated from Beijing
Technology and Business University (formerly Beijing Institute of
Business) with a Bachelor’'s degree in Logistics Management in
2001. He had served as various senior management positions
in different financial institution and multi-national corporations,
such as Guoxin Securities, Mocon Inc. and LXE Inc.. He has
extensive experience in strategic planning, corporate finance and
financial management.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Huang Xiang Yang

Mr. Huang Xiang Yang, aged 64, is a non-executive director
of the Company. He is a senior partner of Intewig & Partners
and has over 30 years of experience in Chinese law, especially
economic, trade and intellectual property law. Mr. Huang is a
qualified patent attorney in Germany and China. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Huang was employed by Paul Hastings and
China Patent Agent (HK) Ltd..

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam

Dr. Loke Yu, aged 69, is an independent non-executive
director of the Company. He has over 40 years of experience
in accounting and auditing for private and public companies,
financial consultancy and corporate management. He holds
an MBA Degree from the Universiti Teknologi Malaysia and a
Doctor of Business Administration Degree from the University of
South Australia. Dr. Loke is a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.

He serves as an independent non-executive director of V1 Group
Limited, Matrix Holdings Limited, TradeGo Fin Tech Limited,
CIMC-TianDa Holdings Company Limited, Zhong An Real Estate
Limited, Chiho-Tiande Group Limited, Tianjin Development
Holdings Limited, Tianhe Chemicals Group Limited, Lamtex
Holdings Limited, Hang Sang (Siu Po) International Holding
Company Limited, Hong Kong Resources Holdings Company
Limited, TC Orient Lighting Holdings Limited and Zhenro
Properties Group Limited, all of which are companies listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).
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MFr. Yu Lei

Mr. Yu Lei, aged 48, is an independent non-executive director
of the Company. He has extensive experience in the real estate
industry and infrastructure sectors in the PRC.

Mr. Yu obtained his bachelor degree in economics and a
master degree in management from the Zhongnan University
of Economics and Law (FREEEF&EBUEARE) in 1993 and 1999
respectively. Mr. Yu is also a qualified accountant conferred
by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC and a Certified Internal
Auditor conferred by The Institute of Internal Auditors.

Mr. Yu is currently a president assistant of Shenzhen Zhuojia
Industry Groups Co., Ltd. CRYITT R EEXSEBE AR QA a
company specializing in real estate, healthcare and infrastructure
development and the provision of investment services in the
PRC. During March 2006 to August 2011, Mr. Yu was employed
as the president assistant of Great China International Group
(China) Limited (KPZEBEREE(FE)FRAF) which
is principally engaged in property, hotel, commercial and
infrastructure investment and development.

Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann

Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann, aged 70, is an independent non-
executive director of the Company. He has more than 40 years
of business experience in the international hospitality industry,
especially in the Greater China region.

Mr. Zimmermann is currently the president and CEO of AVA
Hospitality, a hotel management services company providing
specialized China-related hospitality management and
consultancy services and giving independent professional
advice on design brief on hotel component to hotel investors
and operators. Mr. Zimmermann now serves as the senior vice
president of Swiss-Belhotel International, an international hotel
management company offering unique fusion of Swiss hospitality
management in all aspects of the hotel, serviced apartments and
club. He is also an associate of Global Strategic Associates, LLC,
an independent, privately-owned international advisory firm in
New York, the United States of America.
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Mr. Zimmermann started his hospitality career first in Stadl
— Paura, Austria in 1962 and accepted hospitality training
in Gmunden, Austria. Before relocating to Hong Kong as a
restaurant manager in Furama Hotel in 1974, he worked in a
number of food and beverage positions across various Western
Europe countries, including England, Switzerland, Italy, Bermuda
and so on. Mr. Zimmermann continued his hotel business in
a Holiday Inn Group (now known as InterContinental Hotels
Group) for subsequent years in senior managerial and executive
positions for the development of the hotel chain throughout the
Asia Pacific region, including, Hong Kong, Thailand and the PRC;
and later on, with extensive years of experience in the hospitality
field, Mr. Zimmermann established his own hotel management
business, namely, Zenith Hotels International Limited, providing
hotel management services and technical assistance to hotel
owners, developing more than 20 hotel properties throughout
the PRC and South-East Asia. More recently, Mr. Zimmermann
served as the vice president within the ACCOR Hotel Group
China to re-position new Sofitel Luxury Hotel in the PRC; and
being the senior vice president in the New World Hotels Group to
help promote its new hotel brand in the PRC. In previous years,
Mr. Zimmermann also held consultative positions in certain
companies in the PRC and Hong Kong.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung Tak Chee Frankie

Mr. Leung Tak Chee Frankie, aged 45, is Chief Financial Officer
and company secretary of the Company. He holds a Bachelor
Degree in Commence from University of Adelaide, Australia.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and CPA Australia. He has held managerial and
financial executive positions in various listed companies and
financial institutions in Hong Kong. He has more than 20 years
of experience in financial management, taxation, and corporate
finance.
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port of the Directors

The directors submit herewith their report together with the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are hotel operation and
provision of property management services in PRC.

The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries
are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
business and geographical segments is set out in note 6 to
the consolidated financial statements. Further discussion and
analysis of these activities as required by schedule 5 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business,
can be find in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set
out on page 8 to 14 of this annual report. This discussion forms
part of this directors’ report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of revenue and cost of sales for the year ended
31 December 2018 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers
and customers from continuing operations are as follows:

Revenue
The largest customer 4%
Five largest customers in aggregate 14%

Cost of sales
The largest supplier 8%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 13%

At no time during the year, have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder (which, to the knowledge of the directors, owns
more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company) has a
beneficial interest in the five largest customers or suppliers of the
Group.
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Report of the Directors
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 and the state of the Group’s affairs as at that date are
set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income” and “Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position” on pages 78 to 81 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$NIil).

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity” on pages 82 to 83 and page 191 respectively
of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2018, calculated under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
amounted to HK$Nil (2017: HK$Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association of the Company or the laws of the Hong Kong
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets of the Group during the year are set out in notes
15 and 16 respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors

SECURED LOANS

Particulars of secured loans of the Group as at 31 December
2018 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BONDS

Particulars of bonds of the Group as at 31 December 2018 are
set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

LN
AEER_Z-N\F+_A=+—HZHEFE
KA BHEN RS M ERRMEE29 o
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AEEN T NE+=A=+—B2EES
A B RE 30 -
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REERANBZ-_T-N\F+_A=+—H
LFFEEZ BBHBHNGA MERRMFE26 -

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS HE B I
Share options granted to directors BRERTES
The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share TREBAARERERNFACEE :
option during the year:
Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1.1.2018 Granted Exercised Forfeited ~ 31.12.2018
R=B-NE during during duing RZB-N\E
Exercise period Exercise price -R-H the year the year the year T=A=+—H
iy ke HATHRE FRELH ERTE ERRE HAITR
Directors
B2
Mr. Gan Lin 45.2019-35.2028 0415 - 3,240,499 - - 3,240,499
BREE
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang 20.1.2020 - 19.1.2027 047 2,105,330 - - - 2,105,330
BRETE
Mr. Shen Yong 20.1.2020 - 19.1.2027 047 323,898 - - - 323,898
HBLE 45.2019-35.2028 0415 - 456,408 - - 456,408
Mr. Shen Ke 20.1.2020 - 19.1.2027 047 3,238970 - - - 3,238970
B 45.2019-35.2028 0415 - 4,564,083 - - 4,564,083
Continuous contract employees
BERNES
Employee 45.2019-35.2028 0415 - 28251678 - - 28251678
E&
Employee 20.1.2020 - 19.1.2027 0.47 26,721,495 - - - 26,721,495
E&
Other eligible participants 45.2019-35.2028 0.415 - 9,128,166 - - 9,128,166
EthEER2RE
32,389,693 45,640,834 - - 78,030,527
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SECURITIES IN ISSUE

The Company issued shares as part of the consideration for the
acquisition of joint ventures and for the settlement of amount
due to Mr. Shen Yong. Details of the movements in the share
capital of the Company are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS

The directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Shen Yong (Chairman)
Mr. Gan Lin (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Shen Ke™

Non-executive director
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Yu Lei
Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)
Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann

* resigned on 21 September 2018

The biographical details of the current directors are set out under
the section “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

In accordance with Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Huang Xiang Yang, Mr. Yu Lei and Mr. Ernst
Rudolf Zimmermann shall retire from the Board by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.
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eport of the Directors

Mr. Shen Ke resigned as an executive director of the Company
on 21 September 2018. Mr. Shen Ke has confirmed that he has
no disagreements with the Board and nothing relating to the
affairs of the Company needed to be brought to the attention of
the shareholders of the Company.

The names of all persons who, during the financial year and/or
during the period from the end of the financial year to the date
of this report, serve/served as directors of all those companies
included as subsidiaries in the consolidated financial statements
of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2018
are set out below:

Except for those directors listed above, the persons who were
directors of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and
up to the date of this report were (unless otherwise stated):

—  Mr, Shen Ke "

" resigned as a director on 21 September 2018

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, each of the Directors has entered
into a service contract or an appointment letter (as the case
may be) with the Company for either no fixed term of service
or an initial fixed term of three years commencing from their
appointment or re-designation, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at annual general meetings of the Company
pursuant to Articles of Association of the Company, and will
continue thereafter until terminated by (i) in cases of executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors, not less than
one months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other
or payment in lieu of such notice, or (ii) in case of non-executive
Directors, not less than one month’s notice in writing by the non-
executive Director or the written notice issued by the Company
with immediate effect.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board of the Company with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required
(i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the Company (the “Model
Code”) (collectively “disclosure interests”) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(1) Interests in Issued Shares of the Company

EERERTHASRRY - HERR
MRESZEDRRXE

R-ZE—N\F+_-_A=+—H EEHALQA
B TBRABRAQG S EE[TEEEE (&
REHELHEEMEXV 35) 2k m - BERMK
RIEEET - HAEAE () BREFESRAEIEHE
XV ZB%E 7 & 8 D EPAIEANA R MEE R AT s
MARE (BIEREEAF LSRN B BIEUHSE
WRIES R BHAE 2 EENAR) & (i) BIE
BH R HAEEHISE 352 150 ARZIGFT il & 50
ZRERSFORR ¢ 3 (i) IRIEARR BIFTERA LR
BIFff %+ Frsk LB ITABERHETESFIIN
ZAESPR| ([Z2ESFR]) Mg ARF RBRATZ
BmkAr (S ATEREER]) 0T -

(1) FrABRITRNESR

Interest of
controlled Approximately
Personal corporation Interest Percentage of
Name of directors Interests ZEREEE of spouse Total shareholding
EEns PN 53 2R R A5 RESNBEIL
Mr. Shen Yong 6,520,000 (L) 397,840,315 (L) 5,500,000 (L) 409,860,315 (L) 61.17%
RELE (note 1) (note 2)
(M 1) (Mt 2)
Note: B EE -

(1)  Out of the 397,840,315 Shares, 205,962,125 Shares are
held by Ultra Harvest Limited (“Ultra Harvest”), of which Ultra
Harvest is owned as to 51% by Mr. Shen Yong and 10% by Mr.
Shen Ke respectively. Mr. Shen Yong is the father of Mr. Shen
Ke; 68,229,512 Shares are held by Magic Blazes Limited which
is wholly-owned by Ultra Harvest. 123,648,678 Shares are held
by Middle Spring Limited (“Middle Spring”), of which Middle
Spring is wholly-owned by Mr. Shen Yong.

(2)  These Shares are held by Ms. Meng Qing, who is the spouse of
Mr. Shen Yong, the executive director of the Company. Pursuant
to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, Mr.
Shen Yong is deemed to be interested in those Shares.

(L)  Long position

(1)  #%397,840,3150% % 15 = + 205,962,125 % & 19
1 Ultra Harvest Limited ([ Ultra Harvest]) # A& -
il Ultra Harvest 7 5l R R B S A B 51% K&
WEEER10% - BBEERBM AT
68,229,512 % f% 19 B4 Magic Blazes Limited ¥ 745 -
%72 A Ultra Harvest 2 E# A © 123,648,678 %
fi%1% B3 Middle Spring Limited ([ Middle Spring]) #
A ZARHBRBELEREHRS -

(2 ZEBROBARBATEERBELEZEBLRE
TERH - REES LB ERGIEXVEE2 KE
IDHW2BHEX - REEERBERRZEROPHES

i -

(DR
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(2) Interests in the Issued Share Capital in Ultra

(2) A&/ 7 Z#a5/ 7 Ultra Harvest 2

Harvest, the Associated Corporation, of the BITRAZEE
company
% of total
issued shares
of Ultra Harvest
Nature of interest/ Total number of 1§ Ultra Harvest
Capacity shares held 2EITRHA
Name of directors EEHH BEEME 55 BEZRDEE B CEDL
Mr. Shen Yong FREBELAE Beneficial owner 51 51%
EmEEA
Mr. Wang Yugiang ~ T E3®E4E Beneficial owner 39 39%
EnEAA
Mr. Shen Ke R SE A Beneficial owner 10 10%
EmEEA

(3) Interests in underlying shares

The directors have been granted options under the
Company’s Share Option Scheme, details of which are set
out on the section “Equity-linked agreements” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
directors and/or the chief executive of the Company, or their
respective associates had any other discloseable interests as
required.

(3) tHERMmER
EEREBEARB 2B SRR T ER
o BRI EX [t iBmaE ] —& -

B EXHEEIN R N\F+A=1—
A BEARRZEER SRSITRAER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons (other than the
directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests or long
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company were as follows:

FTERFEREMA LRGN RERR
ZEmRRE

RZE—N\EFE+ZA=+—8 BAEARQRAIZE
EREEITBRABIN  THATRAEARRZKE
HBRAEERDT  BEARRREBEESLPE
1&DIE 336 KB FHEFE 2 BTtk e e
RABZ BT RWT

Ordinary shares

BEER

Substantial shareholders

FERR

No. of ordinary
shares held
BEZ
ZREREE

Nature of
interest/Capacity

EEME 546

% of issued
share capital
HERT
BREBDEH

Ultra Harvest (Note 1)
Ultra Harvest (BT 1)

Magic Blazes Limited

Middle Spring (Note 2)
Middle Spring (Ffz£2)

Ms. Meng Qing (Note 3)
AL (MEE3)

Mr. Wang Yugiang (Note 4)
T EsgsE (FIE4)

Ms. Zhao Ying Ying (Note 5)
AT (MisEs)

(L)  Long position

205,962,125 (L)

68,229,512 (L)

68,229,512 (L)

123,648,678 (L)

404,360,315 (L)

5,500,000 (L)

274,191,637 (L)

274,191,637 (L)

Beneficial owner
EnEAA

Interest of controlled
corporation
REHEAE 2 AR

Beneficial owner

BEaEAA

Beneficial owner

BEmEA A

Interest of spouse

FoiB 2 fEan

Beneficial owner

EREAA

Interest of controlled
corporation

AT HNEE 2 s

Interest of spouse

[ e

L A

30.74%

10.18%

10.18%

18.45%

60.35%

0.82%

40.92%

40.92%
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EhoipLE
= =

Notes: PitsE

(1) Ultra Harvest is owned as to 51% by Mr. Shen Yong, 39% by Mr. (1) Ultra Harvest D Bl B S 4 ~ T R 58 584 R AT
Wang Yugiang and 10% by Mr. Shen Ke. Pursuant to the provisions SHEBAEL1%  39% K% 10% » RIEFESF R EKE
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, each of Mr. Shen Yong BISE XV 3055 2 B 3 Eb 2 A&k Eﬁ%?ﬁiﬁiﬂi?ﬁ
and Mr. Wang Yugiang is deemed to be interested in all the ordinary FAEWR AR Ultra Harvest # B s iR B A
shares in which Ultra Harvest is, or is deemed to be, interested. Mr. A& B A #w - RBRER Ulra Harvest
Shen Yong is the director of Ultra Harvest. 68,229,512 Shares are ZEE 68229512 MBEZEWEB A A
held by its wholly-owned subsidiary, Magic Blazes Limited. As such Magic Blazes Limited A - TJ%llt * Ultra Harvest #7
Ultra Harvest is deemed to be interested in the Share held by Magic 1R A1 Magic Blazes Limited i B 2 B {5 b i B 1
Blazes Limited. o

(2)  Middle Spring is wholly-owned by Mr. Shen Yong. (2)  Middle Spring BB AL AR ©

(3)  Ms. Meng Qing is the spouse of Mr. Shen Yong. Pursuant to the B) HEXRLABBEREZRMS REZHMBPER
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, she is deemed to BIZEXVEFE 2 M3 D2 B+ BB AREBEL
be interested in all the ordinary shares in which Mr. Shen Yong is, or is ERBENRARERR B BRTEE R -
deemed to be, interested.

(4)  Mr. Wang Yugiang holds 39% interest in Ultra Harvest. As such, Mr. (4)  EEFBEEFA Ulra Harvest 39% 4 © R IE -
Wong Yugiang is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Ultra T E#EAEWR AR Ultra Harvest A 2 I {0 i
Harvest. B o

(5)  Ms. Zhao Ying Ying is the spouse of Mr. Wang Yugiang. Pursuant (5) HBEFELZLAIFRLEZERRB - RIFFHF KL
to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, she is EIEHIE XV*B%Z&?‘*BZ{\%?X TR AN T
deemed to be interested in all the ordinary shares in which Mr. Wang FREAHBEIRAEERR MEEBR+T %
Yugiang is, or is deemed to be, interested. B ©

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, no other BREXFEEREEN RZE-N\F+H

interests required to be recorded in the register kept under =+—H ARAWEGSEEMTE ZRLEHAMK

Secti

on 336 of the SFO had been notified to the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its directors, the directors
confirmed that the Company has maintained the amount of
public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year
and up to the date of this report.

iRRE s M EIE 6P 336 IR7A T e Tr
Z*"‘)’\ o

B AR E

ERNAHAMBZERRBESAAN  EFHER
RAFEARBERAFERSBEMAL AR
BB RANTIERE -

Erefr
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DIRECTORS’ TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS THAT
ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE
COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions” and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance, to which the Company or any of its holding
Company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2018, Mr. Shen Yong, the Chairman of the
Company was also the director and controlling shareholder of
Chongging Forebase Industrial Investment (Holdings) Co. Ltd.,
which together with its subsidiaries, are engaged in hotel real
estate development business in the PRC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors and his/her respective associates had interests in the
businesses which competes or was likely to compete, whether
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group. Mr. Shen
Yong has undertaken to the Company that for so long as he
remains as a Director or a controlling Shareholder, all enquiries
and actual or potential business opportunities received by him
(and/or his associates) in relation to hotel real estate business (the
“Business Opportunities”) shall be referred to the Company on a
timely basis and the Business Opportunities must be first offered
or made available to the Group.

There has been no material change in directors’ interests in any
competing business subsequent to 31 December 2018.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

HEARBAEFAEARENESER
5 RS S AER

BIX TRERS | — i Ria M EHRRHT 36
O RELRARFREATAER - ARARSEHE
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AR5 ~ Mg B4 -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected transactions

On 12 October 2018, the Company entered into Loan
Capitalisation Agreement with Mr. Shen Yong, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to issued and Mr. Shen Yong agreed to
subscribe for 123,648,678 shares of the Company at the issue
price of HK$0.335 per share. The subscription was completed
on 31 December 2018.

Continuing connected transactions

In 2016, the Company entered into a Framework Agreement
with Mr. Shen Yong, the Chairman of the Board, an executive
Director and a beneficial owner of 51% equity interest in Ultra
Harvest, which constituted continuing connected transactions
(the “connected transactions”) as defined in the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, the Group agreed to
provide the Property Management Services to certain premises
owned by corporations controlled by Mr. Shen Yong including
offices, residential apartments and car parking spaces for a
term of three years commencing from the Effective Date and
ending on the earlier of (i) 31 December 2018; or (ii) the date
the owners’ committee of such premises has been formed
(both days inclusive). During the year, service fee of Property
Management Services amounted to RMB9,119,000 (equivalent
to HK$10,818,000) was charged to corporations controlled by
Mr. Shen Yong.

As all of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) in respect of the annual caps
for the Framework Agreement exceed 0.1% but are less than
5%, the connected transactions are subject to announcement
and reporting requirements but is exempt from circular and
the Independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under
the Listing Rules. The connected transactions up to the limit
specified in the annual cap amount for each of the financial
years ended/ending 31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018
are HK$13,900,000, HK$12,500,000, and HK$12,400,000
respectively.

On 21 December 2018, the Company and Mr. Shen Yong
entered into a new Framework Agreement to extend the term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2019 and ending on the
earlier of (i) 31 December 2021 (both days inclusive); or (ii) the
date the owners’ committee of such premises has been formed
(both days inclusive). The connected transactions up to the limit
specified in the annual cap amount for each of the financial
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years ended/ending 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are
RMB8,042,153 (equivalent to HK$9,087,633), RMB7,760,056
(equivalent to HK$8,768,863), and RMB7,534,112 (equivalent
to HK$8,513,547) respectively. As all of the applicable
percentage ratios (as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules) in respect of the annual caps for the Framework
Agreement exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%, the connected
transactions are subject to announcement and reporting
requirements but is exempt from circular and the Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules.

The connected transactions were entered in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the respective companies after
due negotiations on an arm’s length basis with reference to the
prevailing market conditions.

Announcements were published regarding the connected
transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Company
confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in so far as
they are applicable.

All Independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the connected transactions and confirmed that the
connected transactions are entered into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

2. on normal commercial terms or better; and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in
respect of the above continuing connected transactions. A copy
of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

Saved as disclosed above, details of the material related
party transactions during the year are set in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement schemes participated by the Group are
set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the year under
review. The Company has also taken out and maintained
appropriate insurance cover to indemnify the Directors for
liabilities that may arise out of corporate activities of the Group.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis. During
the year ended 31 December 2018, no claims were made
against the Directors.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 201 of
this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the independent non-executive directors are
independent.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 have been audited by Grant Thornton Hong
Kong Limited.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor of
the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board
Shen Yong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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o Grant Thornton
2 [=]

To the members of Forebase International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Forebase International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 200,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

FREZEIR

RREZFHASREBELRMNEXRAE - Ry
ARG AV BRRNBEZRAEENER - &
LEHEAERMBZBREAMBHREALYE
HARRERTREREN  BRMATHEL
SREHEBNER

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

I3 - MBRREZRE

The Key Audit Matter
BRERSEE

Please refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies as set out on note
2.6.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment of the Group were
HK$84,738,000, of which land and buildings amounted
to HK$82,956,000.

Management carries out an impairment assessment of
land and buildings on an annual basis. The impairment
assessment requires evaluation as to whether any
impairment indicators existed in the land and buildings
by reference to the profitability of the relevant cash-
generating units (“CGUs”).
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How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit
ROESZPNMEEZESHEREEE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment testing of
land and buildings included the following:

° Assessing the competency, capability and objectivity
of the independent professional external valuer, and
the scope of valuer’'s work.

o Assessing the valuation methodologies.

° Assessing the reasonableness of the key

assumptions and estimates used against general
market practice.
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Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Y3 - B RREZRE (F)

The Key Audit Matter
BRERSEE

Where there are indicators, management is required
to assess the recoverable amount of the land and
buildings with reference to valuation performed by
the independent professional external valuer using
the income capitalisation method for resort hotel and
sales comparison method for development land. The
valuation of land and buildings requires the application of
significant judgement and estimation in determining the
appropriate valuation methodologies to be used, use of
subjective assumptions and various unobservable inputs.

The valuation of resort hotel is sensitive to key underlying
assumptions applied by the valuer such as volatility of
income, occupancy rate and discount rate used. The
valuation of development land is sensitive to market
comparables with adjustments of other individual factors
by valuer which may have a significant impact to the
valuation.
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How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit
RMEEZRTNAEEZERBEE

Please refer to P.70.
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Impairment of Intangible Assets

BILEEZRE

The Key Audit Matter
BREREE

Please refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies as set out on note
2.9.

The carrying amounts of intangible assets amounted to
HK$30,029,000 as at 31 December 2018. Management
reviews the carrying amounts of intangible assets annually
or more frequently when impairment indicators are
present.

Where there are indicators, management is required to
assess the recoverable amount of the intangible assets
with reference to valuation performed by the independent
professional external valuer based on a value-in-use
calculation using future cash flow projections. The
valuation of intangible assets requires the application
of significant judgement in the use of subjective
assumptions. The valuation is sensitive to underlying
assumptions applied by the valuer such as discount
rate and growth rate used are based on the assets’ past
performance and management’s expectation of market
development and the future cash flow projections were
prepared based on financial budgets approved by
management which may have a significant impact to the
valuation.
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How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit
ROEEZPNMEEZESHEREEE

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment of the Group’s intangible assets
included the following:

° Assessing the valuation methodology adopted by
management.

o Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions,
in particular those relating to the ten-year period
cash flow forecasts, the growth rates used to
extrapolate the cash flows beyond three-year period
and the discount rates, based on our knowledge of
the business and industry.

° Reconciling input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and considering the
reasonableness of these budgets.
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Valuation of Interests in Joint Ventures

REELXZEBZME

The Key Audit Matter
BREREE

Please refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies as set out on note
2.4,

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
acquired 49% equity interest in Triple Market Limited
and its subsidiaries (“Triple Market Group”) from an
independent third party. Triple Market Group has no
business operation, it mainly holds an investment property
which is stated at fair value. The investment in Triple
Market Group was recognised as joint ventures of the
Group and accounted for using the equity method. As at
31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the interests
in joint ventures was approximately HK$44 604,000.
Interests in joint ventures are significant to the Group in
terms of its value.

The fair value of the investment property owned by Triple
Market Group was estimated by the management of
Triple Market Group using direct comparison approach.
The valuation of the investment property is conducted
by an independent professional external valuer. The
valuation of investment property requires the application
of significant judgement and estimation in determining
the appropriate valuation methodology to be used, use of
subjective assumptions and various unobservable inputs.
It is sensitive to market comparables with adjustments
of other individual factors by valuer which may have a
significant impact to the valuation.
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How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit
RMESEZTNAEEZERBEE

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of
interests in joint ventures included the following:

° Assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
accounting for interests in joint ventures.

o Assessing the competency, capability and objectivity
of the independent professional external valuer, and
the scope of valuer’s work.

° Assessing the valuation methodology.

o Assessing the reasonableness of the key

assumptions and estimates used against general
market practice.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in
the 2018 annual report of the Company, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section
405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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o HMEEEFASHERRNREMERELE
AHEFT RABREREN S R -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
TN A2 B

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

s MEEERAUSELEREARNSE
ERENRE  YRIEESERNERERE
REESEAYE BEEERELENENRE
REARBNEFABEREERNTEE
A% - WRMRERRFEERTHEER
= BAFRREERETIRFIESE
M mERANERERBE - SNRARH
BEAR  ZMABERRFEREER - &
P ERABEZ B RS B FESHE
ZRERER  HERREMHBERATEE
¥ BERETHAAFELENRESN -

o FHERAMBHmRMNERIER RBRA
R (BEEE)  URGEEVBHRRESE
DF RN FIHRIERER P K EIR o

e i BEXERSERIAXFEINUTE
HESTRNEZERRE - UI&E U BER
RERBR - RAARERSE  BEERH
TEENEZTE - HFIASKRMANER
BRAEREEL -

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

FREMERN  RAUEBXZE QBB T8
MEZTIEEE LSRR ERERER
BREEMAREZHEZN L ABEENEAE
KERPE -

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we BZMTREZZESRIER  HPERMEE
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding THERBUENBERER  UNMEHAER
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships AU ERMOBLENBEARREMERER
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our fERAfrEEE (iEA) BEZEZ B SRR -
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

27 March 2019

Han Pui Yu
Practising Certificate No.: PO7101

RHEBZEZESBBNEED - HDIRT L
FEHARGEVBRRNERIERRE
2 AMBEXKERERER - RIEPERIOEMR
PEALHABREZEZEE  INEFHNER
T HMRAEREZEETHEASEEHN TR
B RGBYARNEZ S FEN N =TT ER
WEPBRE - BRIBMIS R EAN RS
ZEEIE o

BE (F8) gtMEXAARAR
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FEFF8 2857

124&
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Comprehensive Income

y=Ad8c T

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

H A2 ik

1R

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other

2018 2017
—®B-N\F| —T—+%#
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
P FHET FET
(Note)
(BfF5E)
Continuing operations HEEEER
Revenue Wz 5 94,582 87,588
Direct costs BHERAR (58,890) (55,463)
Gross profit EF 35,692 32,125
Other income EH g A 7 1,409 3,992
Share of profits of joint ventures DEEELERF 18 553 =
Administrative expenses THRAX (50,716) (46,847)
Finance costs LY VDN 8 (7,522) (7,104)
Loss before income tax gy ] 9 (20,584) (17,834)
Income tax expenses FrS B 12 (1,236) (4,912)
Loss from continuing operations FEREEKER (21,820) (22,746)
Discontinued operations [EY NS F 3
Profit from discontinued operations BRI S T 31 - 14,217
Loss for the year REEEER (21,820) (8,529)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income ZAEFEEMEME
for the year (%) W=
Iterns that may be reclassified HRiEnpeeEH 48
subsequently to profit or loss: EEmAEE -
— Exchange differences on translation - REIBINETS 2 BT
of financial statements of Wk BN ERE
overseas operations (5,293) 5,783
— Share of other comprehensive expense — DMEAEEZ
of joint ventures HEM2ERAST (1,230) —
Reclassification adjustments for the Rit e BB 2
cumulative gain transferred to profit B
or loss:
— Exchange differences released upon - HEWB AR SE
disposal of subsidiaries HAEREE D 31 - 739
Other comprehensive (expense)/income — AF[EH b2
for the year (Ax) e (6,523) 6,522
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

relBEm MEMmE SR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BRE FHET T
(Note)
(BfF5E)
Total comprehensive expense AN TR R IR R AL
attributable to the equity shareholders AEERHEFAXAE
of the Company for the year (28,343) (2,007)
(Loss)/Earnings per share B8R (558 BF 14 HK cents &1l | HK cents 1l
Basic and diluted ERREE
— from continuing operations - FHEICEETS (4.11) (4.98)
— from discontinued operations - BRRERREET - 3.11
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 January W AEER - N\F—A—RYVBERTEYH
2018. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information MELERFE 15F R BBV B RELERIE IR © %
is not restated. See note 3. FrgA @B R LEERTTFEY - BT
3 o

The notes on pages 86 to 200 are an integral part of these %Zﬂ%%;eZOOEE’JWEEﬁE LR B
consolidated financial statements. REVAEKE D
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As at 31 December 2018
RZZ—NF+=ZA=+—H

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2018 2017
—E-N\E E—+ 4
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BRE FET T
(Note)
(Ff#E)

Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - eSS NERE 15 84,738 92,846
Intangible assets ﬂﬁ/ﬁi% 16 30,029 34,591
Interests in joint ventures ReE&ELE R 18 44,604 =
Other non-current assets HipIEmEEE - 4,084
159,371 131,521

Current assets REEE
Inventories 78 19 837 1,524
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H A FEUARFK 20 37,712 32,792
Bank balances and cash IRTTHESRNEIRS 21(a) 7,757 13,027
46,306 47,343
Current liabilities REEE

Trade and other payables B 5 REMERIRK 22 11,972 14,573
Contract liabilities EHEE 25 5,019 =
Amounts due to related companies ARz NEIE 23 7,157 3,590
Current taxation BNEAFRIE 11,596 10,478
Secured loans EHEK 29 2,012 2,059
37,756 30,700
Net current assets REBEEFE 8,550 16,643
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRRBEE 167,921 148,164

Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Amount due to a director B —R2EEHE 24 3,315 45,961
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBE B E 28 6,305 6,989
Secured loans HIFE K 29 34,001 38,969
Bonds EEa 30 60,181 50,000
103,802 141,919
Net assets EEFHE 64,119 6,245
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ara MIARLR

As at 31 December 2018
RZZE—N\F+=ZA=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Pt FHET T
(Note)
(BfF5E)
Capital and reserves BEAR#E
Share capital [N 26 368,984 292,462
Reserves f# 27 (304,865) (286,217)
Total equity attributable to equity RATERBRREGEER
shareholders of the Company 64,119 6,245
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 January W ARER - N\F—A—RVBERETEVH
2018. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information MELRFE ISR REBVBRELERIEIR © 1%
is not restated. See note 3. gﬁ%ﬁﬁZi@ifEﬁiﬁ CHBREMTTEY - R

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on RZE—NEF=ZA-_t+tHEEETSHERR

27 March 2019. FEEETT o
Shen Yong HE
Director BE
Gan Lin HH
Director =

The notes on pages 86 to 200 are an integral part of these %KB’\%%;.:ZOOEE’JWEEZ%E LR B
consolidated financial statements. FMAERK D

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 81 —E-N\ER




/\\/T\

R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

—H— N\ 7
/ ~ /|\|:|/|\

Attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company

RAFESRREN
Share
Share Merger  Contribution Statutory options Exchange Accumulated
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BA  AKRE  HERE  Arkk BRERE  EXRE  ZHER g
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000  HK$ 000  HK$' 000 HK$ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
Tan TEn Far Tan TAR Fan Tan TAT
(note 26) (note 27(a))  (note 27(h))  (note 27(c))  (note 27(d))  (note 27(e))
(it2e) (MieFor) (MsE27) (ME27c))  (WEE27(d)  (WE27(e))
Balance as at N
1 January 2017 —A—-BiES 292,462 (124,635) 8,478 12,662 - (40453) (143,001) 5,513
Loss for the year TEEESB - - - - - - (8529) (8,529)
Other comprehensive FEFEMZAEKA
income for the year
- Exchange differenceson - REBHNHBAA
translation of financial mEBER
statements of overseas mERES
subsidiaries - - - - - 5,783 - 5,783
— Exchange differences - HENBA RS
released upon disposal e
of subsidiaries - - - - - 739 - 739
- - - - - 6,522 - 6,522
Total comprehensive AEERARYER
expense for the year - - - - - 6,522 (8,529) (2,007)
Transactions with owners: ﬁ%ﬁAmi%i
Recognition of equity-settled RERLEE
share-based payments AR AL
transactions IR
(note 35) (Bt 35) - - - - 2739 - - 2,739
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - - - (10,215) - - 10215 =
= = - (10,215) 2,739 - 10,215 2,739
Balance as at S i3
31 December 2017 +=A=T-H
ke 292462 (124,635) 8,478 2,447 2,739 (33931) (141315) 6,245
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

HE-Z-\E+_A=1+—RLHFE
Attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company
AARERRRER
Share
Share Merger  Contribution Statutory options Exchange Accumulated
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BA  AfRE  HERE  ITHRE BRERE EIRE  RaEE ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin TiEn Fhn Tin TiEn i Tin TiEn
(note 26) (note 27(a)) (note 27(b)) (note 27(c)) (note 27(d))  (note 27(e))
(W26) (ME27(2) (MEE270) (MaE27() (ME27(d) (B 27(e)
Balance as at WZE—t&
31 December 2017 (note) +-A=1+-H
e (fist) 292,462 (124,635) 8,478 2,447 2739 (33,931)  (141,315) 6,245
Impact on initial application MiaIE R BB E
of HKFRS 9 (note 3) ﬁiﬁw%9ﬁ
iz AGER)) - - - - - - (145) (145)
Balance at 1 January 2018, RZE-\F
as adjusted —R—BREH
(5%) 292,462  (124,635) 8,478 2,447 2,739 (33,931)  (141,460) 6,100
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - - (21,820) (21,820)
Other comprehensive expense  AFEEMRERY
for the year
— Exchange differences on -REBINER
translation of financial MEBRE
statements of overseas MERER
operations - - - - - (5,293) - (5,293)
—Share of other comprehensive - HEAEME
expense of joint ventures Hip2ERL - - - - - (1,230) - (1,230)
- - - - - (6,523) - (6,523)
Total comprehensive expense AEERERYER
for the year - - - - - (6,523) (21,820) (28,343)
Transactions with owners: BEEANR S
Recognition of equity-settled RN ERER
share-based payments MR BER
transactions HNEFR S
(note 35) (f3E35) - - - - 9,840 - - 9,840
Issuance of shares (note 26) Tl (i 26) 41,422 - - - - - - 41,422
Issuance of shares in gliEsats
relation to acquisition of Bl (H7E26)
joint ventures (note 26) 35,100 - - - - - - 35,100
Appropriation to statutory BAREThE
reserve - - - 456 - - (456) -
76,522 - - 456 9,840 - (456) 86,362
Balance as at RZB—\E
31 December 2018 +-A=1-H
b33 368,984  (124,635) 8,478 2,903 12,579 (40,454)  (163,736) 64,119
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 January W AEER - N\F—A—BYVBRERETEVH

2018. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information

is not restated. See note 3.

The notes on pages 86 to 200 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

3

REVAERER D ©

HEEFE SRR EBHBRE
BATRENBEDE  WEBIILEREM - R
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BRE FHET FAT
(Note)
(BFF3E)
Operating activities KETE
Loss before income tax from continuing R B ERLEBH
operations TSR pIE 18 (20,584) (17,834)
Loss before income tax from discontinued 38 B 2 4% | & & 275 H)
operations FriSti Al 18 31 - (32,734)
(20,584) (50,568)
Adjustments for: THE
Interest income FBWA 7 (21) (48)
Interest income from advance to a third party 45 T 5 = 5 2% &)
FMEMA 7 (475) -
Finance costs A A 8 7,522 7,104
Depreciation e 9 3,462 6,158
Amortisation o3| 9 4,562 4,562
Loss allowance of trade receivables B 5 W RS ERE 9 1,199 5,389
Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts B 145 018 9 - (46)
Allowance for inventories GFErR#E 9 - 724
Reversal of allowance for inventories GFERFER 9 - (271)
Written back of trade payables EMEE 2 & SRR 7 - (5,779)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWZE « M NERE
plant and equipment Wz 7 (7) (152)
Equity-settled share-based payment VARE 25 45 8 ARR (9
expenses AEBHNREX 9 9,840 2,739
Gain on amount due to a director stated ~ ¥IAFERIZ A L BE
at fair value upon initial recognition E2YNEN—BES
AIER 2 Wz 7 (151) (3,790)
Share of profits of joint ventures DEEEDERF (553) -
Currency exchange translation HNGE 538 (63) 35
Operating cash flows before LEESFEHRINLE
movements in working capital HEME 4,731 (33,943)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL, (35) 455 (7,285)
Increase in trade and other receivables 2 5 N o th & U BR FUAE A1 (1,863) (5,715)
Increase in contract liabilities BHEELM 879 =
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K H b e BR 5K 00 1,954 42,325
Cash generated from/(used in) operations #&& % EAT1S, (FTA)
ZRe 6,156 (4,618)
PRC Corporate Income Tax paid B BEEEMSH (659) (1,707)
Net cash from/(used in) operating ez Bprs (BT )
activities B FEE 5,497 (6,325)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —t+F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BRE FExT FAT
(Note)
(BFF3E)

Investing activities BRETE
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEWZE - e NERE

plant and equipment FriS kI8 7 720
Interest received EHFIE 21 48
Increase in other non-current assets HEAIEmB) & ELE N - (4,084)
Advance to a third party BT NUE=FHER (1,820) -
Decrease in restricted bank deposits SRR BRI T FHOR L - 3,090
Net cash outflow from disposal HEM B A AR

of subsidiaries ZFBE R - (11,295)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment FEE %5 - #28 kR 15 (2,324) (4,461)
Net cash used in investing activities REZBFTH BT FEE (4,116) (15,982)
Financing activities REEE
Advance from related companies [E2)iN Tﬂm 21(b) 3,911 =
Repayment to related companies =¥edez) NS PO 21(b) - (659)
Repayment of secured loans Tﬁﬁ?fﬁﬁffm 21(b) (1,943) (1,968)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds BITESHISHIE 21(b) - 10,000
Repayment of capital element 1 EREHEER

of finance lease BARE D 21(b) - (156)
Interest element of finance lease MERENFEEFH 21(b) - (4)
Repayment to a director BE—RESK 21(b) (1,224) (18,574)
Interest paid ERFLE 21(b) (6,970) (7,100)
Net cash used in financing activities BE TR B e FE (6,226) (18,461)
Net decrease in cash and HERREEEY

cash equivalents 2B R (4,845) (40,768)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January W»—A—HHIRE

FIREEEBY 13,027 52,795

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  [EX& &7 £ (425) 1,000
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=—B=+—H

31 December, represented by ZEERREEEY -

bank balances and cash RTEBRKRRS 7,757 13,027
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 January ek  AEER—ZE—N\F—A—BYREREENE

2018. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information MELERFE ISFEREBVBRELERIZEIFR - 1R

EFTE IR BE S - A MBI LA - B
3o

is not restated. See note 3.

BN %iﬂmEMW}E%§%$ B 73k
R EVAERER D

The notes on pages 86 to 200 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

Forebase International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in section headed
“Corporate Information and Shareholders’ Calendar” of
the annual report. The Company’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Ultra
Harvest Limited (“Ultra Harvest”), a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) with limited
liability, is the ultimate and immediate holding company
of the Company and Mr. Shen Yong, the Chairman of the
Company, is the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are hotel operation
in Canada and properties management in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”). For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Group adopted HK$
as its presentation currency as its shares are listed in Hong
Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of HK$ (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated.

— R

FREBFIERERAR ([ARF]) 2
REBEMKILZBRAF - ARBZGE
MmERE LT 2EEMU N AFR AT
BRERRARR] —8 c ARARORN
EEBMARZMARAR ([BFT]) R
Erve

NN B E E R A Ultra Harvest Limited
([Ultra Harvest] » — XA RBR XS
MRz ERAR) BARBIZRERE
BERZERAR  MARREFERBLEE
BIBARNE) 2 SAESIERRTT ©

ARRRREERAR » NAE RENB
~E (HE T ARE]) NEBEEBK RN
EREEBEMAPEARKME (T4
B ) BEmRYE -

RRABNWEEBRBTT - REJNEE Y
BHREME AEERABTREZINE
% ASEBONEELT -

BRRBHRAIN  DFEMBERRATET

E2 1K
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The annual consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are summarised below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of
new and amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, if any,
are disclosed in note 3. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis. The measurement bases are fully described in
the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates
and assumptions are used in preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

FESHBOR
2.1 RBIEHE

FEAAMBHRRIIZREERE
BHMBEHRELER ([BEMBREE
A1) e MEAMBREELR
— (A% - BREESMASRM
HY PR B A8 AR B M8 RIS B s i
8- BREERRRE  BEAR
ST RA ARBFEBRBGED 2R
E o BREMBRR MM RAES
ERA (T EWmRR) 2@ RHE
M °

REGEMBRRRRAZIESS
BERBI N3 - B R BRI » %
ERRCEBEANAEZ2HFE -
R MBI T BB REE
8 REAKEGEMBRRZTE
() PR3 HE - SREMBHREK
THIRIBEE S XA B MRS - St EE%E
R TIXHEFTBERF & -

EREE  REGAMIBERREALE
HEFHERT KRR - BEZFMHATI
ENEREEBHREFEMHRTHHRE
BN FIEMIES - EERERSZK
AR A RIN % F A - BRBEREH
ErsiEret - ERR LG EES
MEREMEBEAZEZHEDR
BiFE4 4R EE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTEEFBER (8)

(Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation 2.2 ZEEE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity.
When assessing whether the Group has power over
the entity, only substantive rights relating to the entity
(held by the Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements
from the date it gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised
losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for
impairment from the Group’s perspective. Amounts
reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries
have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by
the Group.

Changes in the Group'’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are
made to the amounts of controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill
and no gain or loss is recognised.

RAEMBRREEARALEMBAR
AEESF+T_A=1t—BILZ2¥H
K o

MBARSAREMREN AR
8o MAKER2E-—REBZEK
mA s ERESRAZmE - BHEE
BRHERITERIMPEEOR -
A EREEEGIE - RFHEASK
BELHZERERIZHIER - £
B (RAREREMTAFE) 8k
ERAE EGER -

BEASEESIEH# . BEEETH
ZHIBATZ B L - ANEE &M
&R Az Wk K SRt AR B B RS R
EE o

SEARBE RS - SR SREHR
LR W an ) ERE IN R BRER B W
WRE T AR - MEEARRREE
ELE 2 ARERBRINERS R E R
O - B E TSR AR E AEET
MERH - MBARMEHRER 2 2R
HEAVERE THE  BRELE
B GAERR K -

AEERHB AR 2 R E B fHEE
PR ARSI - ARERR S AR
WNkR B S N AR S & BT T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTEEFBER (8)
(Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 2.2 REHRE (&)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. Where certain assets of the subsidiary are
measured at revalued amounts or fair values and the
related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity, the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
are accounted for as if the Company had directly
disposed of the related assets (i.e., reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained
earnings). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
loss (see note 2.13) unless the subsidiary is held for
sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted
to reflect changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments. Cost also
includes direct attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received
and receivable at the end of the reporting period.
All dividends whether received out of the investee’s
pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised in the
Company’s profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AT A SRR MY R

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are
accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value on the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase
gain.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)
(Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 2.2 ZERE (&)

Business combinations (Continued)

Where the consideration the Group transfers
in a business combination includes assets or
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
considered as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain
purchase. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date. Measurement period does not
exceed one year from the acquisition date. The
subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at the end of the subsequent reporting
periods and its subsequent settlement is accounting
for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as a financial liability is remeasured at the
end of the subsequent reporting periods at fair value
with corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity before the acquisition
date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group
obtains control over the acquiree.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period
in which the combination occurs, the Group
reports provisional amounts for the items for which
the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised as of that date.

Merger accounting for business
combination involving entities under
common control

Merger accounting method stipulated under Hong
Kong Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for
Common Control Combinations” is used to account
for acquisitions of businesses under common control
before and after the acquisitions. The difference
between fair value of acquisition consideration and
carrying amount of net assets acquired is adjusted to
merger reserve.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements items of the combining entities or
businesses in which the common control combination
occurs as if they had been combined from the date
when the combining entities or businesses first came
under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or
businesses are consolidated using the existing book
values from the controlling party’s perspective. No
amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or excess
of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over cost at the time of common control combination,
to the extent of the continuation of the controlling
party’s interest.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.3

2.4

Merger accounting for business
combination involving entities under
common control (Continued)

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income includes the results of each of
the combining entities or businesses from the earliest
date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the common
control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of
the date of the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated
financial statements are presented as if the entities
or businesses had been combined at the end of the
previous reporting period or when they first came
under common control, whichever is shorter.

Interests in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions relating about relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

2. FEEFH

2.3

2.4

*® (&)

BREFZEHERBHRESH
EREE

R UER AT AU B 12 BE 7O FE R4 %U
Jmﬁm&EﬁEEWﬁﬁﬁ%

B *EE_E%%QE—EEWEIHH_EEA
FHE RS EBY IR LRIES B E
(MREEBE A% - MTmAH AL
FEHEOFEED) %L -

AR MBHRRD ZLLBEBE  ER
&Eﬁ%%%%ﬁéi-i&%%ﬁﬁ@ﬂﬂ}’ﬂ

ZEKREHE (ABREERE) B
é\@?’tﬁﬁ%ﬁlJ °

ErERZER
BECER—BHRATH - HFEZEH
?TiFE’J%H“ﬁ%ﬁEEZtT?FE’J@é{
ZE o HEEHRERRE Q% E S
BRPPTHBNES - EEEREE
ERARZHIEHIRNEFEL -
H,MZ/;Q}?EHTIT_E

?ﬂs

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 93

—E—\ER




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AT A SRR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTEEFBER (8)

(Continued)

2.4 Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

In consolidated financial statements, interests in
joint ventures is initially recognised at cost and
subsequently accounted for using the equity method.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the joint ventures
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised
as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the
carrying amount of the investment and is assessed
for impairment as part of the investment. The cost
of acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given,
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments
issued by the Group, plus any costs directly
attributable to the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the determination of
the Group’s share of the joint ventures’ profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

Under the equity method, the Group’s interests in
joint ventures is carried at cost and adjusted for
the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share
of the joint ventures’ net assets less any identified
impairment loss, unless it is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). The profit or loss for the year includes
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax
results of the joint ventures for the year, including any
impairment loss on the interests in joint ventures for
the year. The Group’s other comprehensive income
for the year includes its share of the joint ventures’
other comprehensive income for the year.
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&)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHBER (
(Continued)

2.4 Interests in joint ventures (Continued) 24 REELEZRE (E)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interests in the joint ventures. Where
unrealised losses on assets sales between the
Group and its joint ventures are reversed on equity
accounting, the underlying asset is also tested for
impairment from the Group’s perspective. Where
the joint ventures use accounting policies other than
those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances, adjustments are made, where
necessary, to conform the joint ventures’ accounting
policies to those of the Group when the joint ventures’
financial statements are used by the Group in
applying the equity method.

When the Group’s share of losses in joint ventures
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint ventures,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures. For this
purpose, the Group’s interests in the joint ventures
is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group's long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the joint ventures.

After the application of equity method, the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
additional impairment loss on the Group’s interests
in its joint ventures. At the end of each reporting
period, the Group determines whether there is any
objective evidence that the interests in joint ventures
is impaired. If such indications are identified, the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as being
the difference between the recoverable amount (i.e.
higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) of the joint ventures and its carrying amount.
In determining the value in use of the investment, the
Group estimates its share of the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to be generated
by the joint ventures, including cash flows arising
from the operations of the joint ventures and the
proceeds on ultimate disposal of the investment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB HRRM T

24

2.5

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of equity method
from the date when it ceases to have joint control
over a joint venture. If the retained interest in that
former joint venture is a financial asset, the retained
interest is measured at fair value, which is regarded
as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial
asset in accordance with HKFRS 9. The difference
between (i) the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of a partial interest in
the joint ventures; and (ii) the carrying amount of
the investment at the date the equity method was
discontinued, is recognised in the profit or loss.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that joint ventures on the same basis as
would have been required if the joint ventures had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by the investee would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities, the entity reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) when the equity method
is discontinued.

Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from service income from
hotel operation and properties management.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the
Group follows a b-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer
2. ldentifying the performance obligations
3.  Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the
performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTEEFBER (8)
(Continued)

2.5 Revenue recoghition (Continued) 2.5 YrzEs? ()

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract
is allocated amongst the various performance
obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling
prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes
any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over
time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or
services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued
separately under the effective interest method. Where
the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method.

The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient
in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 15”) and
does not adjust the consideration for any effects of
a significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(@) Service income from hotel operation and
properties management is recognised when
services are rendered. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts;

(b) Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)

(Continued)

2.5 Revenue recoghition (Continued) 2.5 YrzEs? ()

(c) Sales of goods are recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised goods
in the contract. This is usually taken to be the
point in time when the goods are delivered and
the customer has accepted the goods.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2.13). Historical cost
includes purchase price and expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the item.

Depreciation of item of property, plant and equipment
is provided to write off the cost less their residual
values, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

2.6
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plant and equipment W2 R a5 A 3-5%

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods
and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other expenses, such as repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during
the financial year in which they are incurred.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.7

2.8

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of the
individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the end of
the reporting period retranslation of monetary assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates and are not retranslated (i.e. only
translated using the exchange rates at the transaction
date).
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.8

2.9

Foreign currency translation
(Continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group’s
presentation currency, have been converted into
Hong Kong dollars. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
rates at the end of the reporting period. Income
and expenses have been converted into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates, or at the average rates over the
reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising
from this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in the exchange reserve in equity.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation or loss of joint control
over a joint venture that includes a foreign operation),
all of the accumulated exchange differences in
respect of that operation attributable to the Group
are reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange
differences that have previously been attributed to
non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they
are not reclassified to profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at
cost. After initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses
(see note 2.13). Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortisation
commences when the intangible assets are available
for use. The following useful life is applied:

Customers relationship 10 years

The assets’ amortisation method and useful life are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)
(Continued)
2.10 Accounting for income taxes 2.10 ﬁﬁ SHZERRE

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the end of the reporting period. They
are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate,
based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes
to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method
on temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available
to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or
loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IN=NpCET b

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)
(Continued)

2.10 Accounting for income taxes 210 FRisfizE=tiEE (&)

(Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period the
liability is settled or the asset realised, provided they
are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity if they relate to items
that are charged or credited to other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of
taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using the average tax rates that are
expected to apply to the taxable income of the periods
in which the temporary differences are expected to
reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires
an estimation of (1) when the existing temporary
differences will reverse and (2) the amount of future
taxable profit in those years. The estimate of future
taxable profit includes:

(@) income or loss excluding reversals of temporary
differences; and

(b) reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are
presented in net if, and only if:

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re SRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.10 Accounting for income taxes
(Continued)

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities in net if, and only if:

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

2.11 Financial assets
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or when the financial asset
and substantially all of its risks and rewards are
transferred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial
assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS
15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair
value, in case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL), plus transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset.

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost.
The classification is determined by both:

- the entity’s business model for managing the
financial asset; and

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset.

Expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade and other
receivables is presented within “Administrative
expenses”.

Subsequent measurement — financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

- they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and
collect its contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the financial assets give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re SRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)
(Continued)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued) 211 ERUEE (&)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement — financial assets at
amortised cost (Continued)

After initial recognition, these are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in “Other income” in profit or loss.
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting
is immaterial. The Group’s bank balances and cash
and trade and other receivables fall into this category
of financial assets.

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018

The Group’s accounting policies for financial assets
other than interests in subsidiaries of the Company
are set out below.

Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition depending on the
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired
and where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this
designation at the end of the each reporting period.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only
when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases
of financial assets are recognised on trade date.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they
are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the
rights to receive cash flows from the investments
expire or are transferred and substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred.

At the end of each reporting period, financial assets
are reviewed to assess whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. If any such evidence exists,
impairment loss is determined and recognised based
on the classification of the financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment
losses. Amortised cost is calculated taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and
includes fees that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate and transaction cost.

2.12 Credit loss and impairment of financial
assets

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

HKFRS 9’s impairment requirements use more
forward-looking information to recognise ECL — the
“ECL model”. Instruments within the scope included
loans and other debt-type financial assets measured
at amortised cost and trade receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL,
including past events, current conditions, reasonable
and supportable forecasts that affect the expected
collectability of the future cash flows of the
instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a
distinction is made between:

- financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk (“Stage
1”) and

- financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition and whose credit risk is not low
(“Stage 2").

2. EEEFEUR ()

2.1

2.12

EMEE ()

REF—-—/NE—A—HZHHRAK
® (4)

BRI AR

ER R EYRRSE BE XA EEN
FORRRE W EHE BB T 35 N RE Y IE
ITEEMEE - ERRBURRHRER
R BEBRF BORI G A AR AR RL
EEIRSI AR o B AT R A
BITEaBRIE  UEEBRE
BRAIR MR BUAEREBONEIRE
A -

ERMEERRBRRAEE

BZF—/\F—A—HEFRBIHEE

FEMIEREERE IFRARMERTE
RAEAREENEREREREE
BB - [RHEEEREREA ] - #IEN
M T A B EREHEA AT ENER R
HiEBRZ eREEANRE ZEK

AEEEFEEERRMTERME
RBRAREEEEZNER - BFES
EFMF - BRIOR - AR X
BRI BLBRIERETARKRE
BT RIKEE -

e BB IR TE AT ME OSBRI
R

- BYrRHERREAEEREE
BlEREARBRRKENEET
A ([HF-EER,; &

- BYRERUAREREERE
BlLHERRRMINEE T
H (T ZRER]) -

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 106

REBEBREZERERD A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re SRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)
(Continued)

2.12 Credit loss and impairment of financial 212 cREEERBERRBE (8)

assets (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the end of the
reporting period.

“12-month ECL” are recognised for the Stage 1
category while “lifetime ECL” are recognised for the
Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the
expected life of the financial asset.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL and recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at the end
of each reporting period. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering
the potential for default at any point during the life
of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the
Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience and
external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the past due status.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance of other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increase in
the likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.12 Credit loss and impairment of financial

assets (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial assets at the end of each reporting period
with the risk of default occurring on the financial
assets at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

- an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re SRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)
(Continued)

2.12 Credit loss and impairment of financial 212 cREEERBERRBE (8)

assets (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low
risk of default, the borrower has strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables and other financial assets measured at
amortised cost are set out in note 38.3.

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018

At the end of each reporting period, financial assets
are reviewed to determine whether there is any
objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment of individual
financial assets includes observable data that comes
to the attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IN=NpCET b

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)
(Continued)

2.12 Credit loss and impairment of financial 212 cREEERBERRBE (8)

assets (Continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018
(Continued)

- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
and

—  significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets
include observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from the group of financial assets. Such
observable data including but not limited to adverse
changes in the payment status of debtors in the
group and, national or local economic conditions that
correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss is
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measured and recognised as follows: Nt 2 RERREREE
Financial assets carried at amortised cost BN KA BRE 2 B B

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost
has been incurred, the amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). The
amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss of
the period in which the impairment occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re SRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)
(Continued)

2.12 Credit loss and impairment of financial 212 cREEERBERRBE (8)

assets (Continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed to the extent that it does
not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset
exceeding what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised at the
date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the
reversal is recognised in profit or loss of the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Impairment loss on financial assets other than trade
receivables that are stated at amortised cost are
written off against the corresponding assets directly.
Where the recovery of trade receivables is considered
doubtful but not remote, the impairment losses for
doubtful receivables are recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery of
trade receivables is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade receivables
directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account in respect of that receivable are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged
to the allowance account are reversed against the
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit
or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
interests in subsidiaries in the statement of financial
position of the Company, are subject to impairment
testing. These assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the asset’s
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e., a cash-generating unit). As
a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating
unit level.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating
units is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-
generating unit, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re SRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)
(Continued)

2.14 Interim financial reporting and 2.14 PEARAH IR E KRR E

impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance with
HKAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At the end
of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria
as it would at the end of the financial year.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and
on hand and short term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.

2.16 Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, amounts due to related companies,
secured loans, bonds and amount due to a director.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value,
and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs
unless the Group designated a financial liability at fair
value through profit or loss.

All interest related charges are recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see note 2.19).

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.16 Financial liabilities (Continued)

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability,
and the difference in the respective carrying amount
is recognised in profit or loss.

Trade and other payables, amount due to a director
and amounts due to related companies

They are recognised initially at their fair values and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Secured loans and bonds

Borrowings, including secured loans and bonds, are
recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at
amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the end of the reporting period.

2.17 Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 2.5) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2.12 and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)

(Continued)

2.17 Contract assets and contract liabilities 217 EHIBEREGHAER (8)

(Continued)

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 2.5). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised
(see note 2.11).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on
a net basis.

2.18 Provision and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) arising as
a result of a past event and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount
of the obligations can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
uncertain events not wholly within the control of the
Group are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.19 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.20 Employee benefits
Retirement benefit

Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through defined contribution plans.

Payments for defined contribution retirement schemes
to local governments in the PRC and Canada
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations
in the PRC and Canada and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as employees render services during the year.
The Group’s obligations under these plans are limited
to the fixed percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re SRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.20

2.21

2.22

Employee benefits (Continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share
capital is recognised at the amount of consideration
of shares issued, after deducting any transaction
costs associated with the issuing of shares (net of
any related income tax benefit) to the extent they are
incremental costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction.

Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to
use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of
time in return for a payment or a series of payments.
Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless
of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a
lease. Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to the profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the time
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased
assets. Lease incentives received are recognised in
profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net
lease payments made. Contingent rental are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBXR (&)
(Continued)

2.23 Share-based payment transactions 2.23 AR AERZTR 5

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and other eligible participants are measured at the
fair value of the share options at the grant date.
Details regarding the determination of the fair value of
equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in
note 35.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of share options that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in
share options reserve in equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimate of the number of share options expected
to vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share capital. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to retained earnings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.24

2.25

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions. Government grants are
deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that
the grants are intended to compensate. Government
grants relating to the purchase of assets are included
in liabilities as “deferred government grants” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the related assets/
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in profit or
loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

Government grants relating to income is presented
in gross under “Other income” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group
that either has been disposed of, or is classified as
held for sale. The component comprises operations
and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished from
the rest of the Group and represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations,
is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
comprising the total of:(i) the post-tax profit or loss
of discontinued operations and (ii) the post-tax gain
or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value
less costs to sell or on the disposal of the assets
or disposal group constituting the discontinued
operation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.26 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

2.27 Related parties

For the purpose of these consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over of the
Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.27 Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies:

(M)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group.

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with

the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-_ZT— ) \Ft+-_A=t+—HIFE
3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BRIBUREHURRMNIHTRE
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED (CEIE LR R
HKFRSs
New and amended HKFRSs that are RBE_T—/\F—H—H=HZ#E
effective for annual periods beginning on or E’Jff-L—Z,H.H F'EJ AR ZHET RBIERTE
after 1 January 2018 EUHREEL
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time RAFE  AEBYVXRABATHEES
the following new and amended HKFRSs issued by the TR A G MM 2 FTR] RICIEFT B BB
HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations and ’&E'J 75? HEAEBEKEBRANAS
effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements BN _—_Z—N\F—A BBz FEHMHE
for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2018: AR
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments BN BHELER ERMIA
F9%
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with BB RE LR EFEAKMEIA
Customers and F15%5% RABREIEET
the related Amendments
Amendments to HKFRSs 1 Annual Improvements to BARMBREER BEAMBHREER
and HKAS 28 HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle %1 ?’}5& —E-NER
BAEFTER —T—RF
%285)‘3 CHEN) B2 FEE
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment: BN EmEER PARR A7 /R i Y
Classification and 258 (B3] 4) IRRG 2D
Measurement of KEtE
Share-based Payment
Transactions
HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions B8 (BRIBERE  IMNERSHREM
and Advance Consideration REZE®) — KB
REE 2%
Other than as noted below, the adoption of the new and BRI XP E SN - RN AT RARIERT BB
amended HKFRSs had no material impact on how the B3RS R AR HIRE SR E ER R A K
results and financial position for the current and prior MR BN 2 BEATE
periods have been prepared and presented.
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” BERUBRERRFEIR 2T A
HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: EAMBHRELEANEIRIMARE BT LE
Recognition and Measurement” (“HKAS 397). It B39 [¢mT A RKE] (f?
makes major changes to the previous guidance on the AT ERE395% ) - ERISLEREES
classification and measurement of financial assets and BRFAEZREESIETEXNES - 13t
introduces an “ECL model” for the impairment of financial CREERESIA [FBREEEBEER] -
assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

When adopting HKFRS 9, the Group has applied the
standard retrospectively to items that existed at 1 January
2018 in accordance with the transition requirement and
also applied transitional relief and opted not to restate prior
periods. Differences arising from the adoption of HKFRS 9
in relation to classification, measurement, and impairment
are recognised in retained earnings.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities

On 1 January 2018, the Group’s management has
assessed which business models apply to the financial
assets held by the Group and has classified its financial
instruments into the appropriate categories of HKFRS 9.

HKFRS 9 categorises financial assets into three principal
classification categories: measured at amortised cost, at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
and FVTPL. These supersede HKAS 39's categories of
held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets
measured at FVTPL. The classification of financial assets
under HKFRS 9 is based on the business model under
which the financial asset is managed and its contractual
cash flow characteristics.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

HE-Z- \E+_A=1+—RAL=FE

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BFBREHURRNMETRE
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED BRI EEMBREER (&)
HKFRSs (Continued)
New and amended HKFRSs that are RBEZ_F—-/\F—A—HH 2%
effective for annual periods beginning on or E’Jﬁfiﬁﬂf‘ﬁiaﬁz*ﬁJ&%&‘éﬂ%Hé
after 1 January 2018 (Continued) BT BHREER ()
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued) EHBUBIREERNEIF [T A (E)
Classification and measurement of financial assets and EREERTMABRBNSERE (B)
financial liabilities (Continued)
Upon the adoption of HKFRS 9, the classification RN E BT IEMEERFEIRE  €ME
and measurement of financial assets depends on two ENDBERGTEEURKRMIET : €FE
assessments: the financial asset’s contractual cash ENAYREREFULAETEEESME
flow characteristics and the entity’s business model for ENEBKR o
managing the financial asset.
As at 1 January 2018, the Group’s management reviewed RZE—N\F—H—H AEEEEEIR
and assessed the Group’s existing financial assets and BEBMBHRELENEIRHNRERS K
liabilities for classification and measurement in accordance FEAEEREeREERBBENIER
with the requirements of HKFRS 9. There have been no TR - RAEBMBMELEOWRE
changes to the classification or measurement of financial TREECRIBEN D BEAGENEE
assets and financial liabilities as a result of the application £
of HKFRS 9.
Expected credit loss AR Z B &1
HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 BBV BRELENEIFABBEEEIE
with the ECL model. The ECL model requires an ongoing RAMRERGT LR [BEEE
measurement of credit risk associated with a financial EiE] EX - HEEEBEEAERFE
asset and therefore recognises ECLs earlier than under the FAERES mﬂﬁ&ﬁ B EERR - Bttt
“incurred loss” model in HKAS 39. BIBEESTEREIRZ [EEEEIE]

*ET??EEW?EHHFEEETE °
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach AEBEAESVIFRELERF I 2
to measure ECL which use a lifetime ECL for all trade LT EEBEEER AR HE Sk
receivables. To measure the ECL, trade receivables have WERRER 2 Hﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁ{*%@ﬂ% ° RETETE
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics HEEEE  BZRWERERERXERE
such as past due status and credit risk ratings. SR (ki REEFTR) 8lH
Y= RNEFERIE
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Expected credit loss (Continued)

Loss allowances for other financial assets at amortised
cost mainly comprise other receivables, amounts due from
related companies, amount due from a third party and
bank balances and cash are measured on a 12-month ECL
basis if there had been no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition.

For bank balances and cash, the Group only transacts
with reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies. There has been no
recent history of default in relation to these banks. The ECL
is not material.

For other receivables, amounts due from related companies
and amount due from a third party, the management of
the Group makes periodic collective as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability based on historical
settlement records, past experience and forward-looking
information.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 9, loss allowance of trade
receivables of HK$145,000 was recognised as at 1 January
2018.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five—step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about
performance obligations, changes in contract liability
account balances between periods and key judgements
and estimates.

The Group has elected to use the cumulative effect
transition method and has recognised the cumulative
effect of initial application as an adjustment to the opening
balance of equity at 1 January 2018.

3.
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (Continued)

0 Timing of revenue recognition

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised good or
service in the contract. This may be at a single point
in time or over time. HKFRS 15 identifies the following
three situations in which control of the promised
goods or services is regarded as being transferred
over time:

- When the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the
entity’s performance, as the entity performs;

- When the entity’s performance creates or
enhances an asset (for example work in
progress) that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced; or

- When the entity’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the entity and
the entity has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do
not fall into any of these 3 situations, then under
HKFRS 15 the Group recognises revenue for the
sale of that good or service at a single point in time,
being when control has passed. Transfer of risks and
rewards of ownership is only one of the indicators
that is considered in determining when the transfer of
control occurs.

3.

ERTBUREE L R IRPHTRT R
BRI MR ELER ()

RBE-F—-/\F—A—HHZE
R EHABERZHMET REIERTE
BYHHREER ()

EBMBHREEREISHE [ FEREHE ]
(#4)

) RE R AR

RIEFEV B REERE ISR - K
AR EFPEGARHEEMSIRE
2 PR HERR o Wit F] REFE R — fERS
FRBER R - BB RS LR
FFEENT=RELGHRER
R B P K AR5 1 Y 2 B R 1T
LEYEAE

- EREPRERBARRAREX
MEREBERBAMRERZME

=

EEBBEAMRENHMR 1A
EE(MERIR) REFRY
ZEERRRE R EE BTG
B ok

EERENUEBEHERR
BRAGRZEE  BRERYH
25 TR BHNKEAG A
TTREFIBS o

& KRR R BB ARSI T EIME
MzE =R - AIRIEEEM R
EFERE IS AEERX—HEE
IR (BRI es) MRHE
ZEWSRBH WER o AR K
(O] ¥R 1) B 75 12 5 e T 4% Il R BB A (e B
BAERFTE BREIRZ — o

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 127

—E—\ER




sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (Continued)

i)

fi)

Significant financing component

HKFRS 15 requires an entity to adjust the transaction
price for the time value of money when a contract
contains a significant financing component,
regardless of whether the payments from customers
are received significantly in advance of revenue
recognition or significantly deferred.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have a
significant impact on adjusting the transaction price
containing significant financing component on the
financial statements as at date of initial application.

Presentation of contract assets and liabilities

Under HKFRS 15, a receivable is recognised only if
the Group has an unconditional right to consideration.
If the Group recognises the related revenue (see
note 2.5) before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration for the promised goods and services
in the contract, then the entitlement to consideration
is classified as a contract asset. Similarly, a contract
liability, rather than a payable, is recognised when
a customer pays consideration, or is contractually
required to pay consideration and the amount is
already due, before the Group recognises the related
revenue.

At the date of initial application of HKFRS 15, there
was no conditional but unbilled revenue arising from
the contracts and the advances received amounted
to HK$4,508,000 which was previously included
in “Trade and other payables” were reclassified to
“Contract liabilities” as at 1 January 2018.

Except for the above, the adoption of HKFRS 15 does
not have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

3.
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial
statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs have been
published but are not yet effective, and have not been
adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 16 Leases!

HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts®

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material?

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures!

Definition of a Business®

Amendments to HKAS 28
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation!
Sale or Contribution of Assets

between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle!

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments!

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

& Effective date not yet determined

9 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

The above standards are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Group
has decided not to early adopt these standards in its
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and amended HKFRSs upon initial
application. Currently it has been considered that adoption
of them is unlikely to have an impact on the Group’s
results of operations and financial position, except for the
following:

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16")

HKFRS 16 will replace HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related
interpretations. Currently the Group classifies leases into
operating leases. Once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees
will no longer distinguish between finance leases and
operating leases. Instead, subject to practical expedients,
lessees will account for all leases in a similar way to current
finance lease accounting, i.e. at the commencement
date of the lease the lessee will recognise and measure a
lease liability at the present value of the minimum future
lease payments and will recognise a corresponding “right-
of-use” asset. After initial recognition of this asset and
liability, the lessee will recognise interest expense accrued
on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the current
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a systematic basis over the lease term.
As a practical expedient, the lessee can elect not to apply
this accounting model to short-term leases (i.e. where the
lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of low-value
assets, in which case the rental expenses would continue
to be recognised on a systematic basis over the lease term.

3.
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HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“"HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting
as a lessee of leases for premises which are currently
classified as operating leases. The application of the new
accounting model is expected to lead to an increase in
both assets and liabilities and to impact on the timing of
the expense recognition in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income over the
period of the lease. As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases amounted to HK$5,041,000, the majority
of which is payable either between 2 and 5 years after
the end of the reporting period. Some of these amounts
may therefore need to be recognised as lease liabilities,
with corresponding right-of-use assets, once HKFRS 16 is
adopted. Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets, the Group expects that the transition
adjustments to be made upon the initial adoption of HKFRS
16 will not be material. However, the expected changes
in accounting policies as described above could have
a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statement from 1 January 2019 onwards.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s significant accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. EXREHFIERGEAAIEERE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION B EZEXRIE (8)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on fhEt R B BREIFERS o WEFHEHE
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are E’]f FIEXEETHRE - AEMNMERTEME
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised R WS RT R LS RT HAR MR 2K HA
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of - RIPMEET B e R SR BRI AR o
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
The followings are the key assumptions concerning the RBERRBERRNEERENGFESE
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at BTl REFERNEERBEREAMBER
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk EERNABRNERRREMEE-HET
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts T A= RRAA T
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:
Impairment of non-current assets ERBEERE
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the non- AEERBEHRRBRERBDEE (B1F
current assets including property, plant and equipment M KELRBEREREE) WEE
and intangible assets at the end of the reporting period B UETREEFERBARESE - »
to determine whether there is objective evidence of BIEYE  RERRBEBEREDRE - &
impairment. When indication of impairment is identified BEL2RBEREEREMME - #E R
for property, plant and equipment, management assesses HIRRERENRERERITEEMUE
its recoverable amount by reference to the transaction EXSERBAZE T HERAR - AT
prices of similar assets within the same industry, less costs HERESEE -
of disposal for development land and the present value of
discounted cash flows for resort hotel and other property,
plant and equipment.
When indication of impairment is identified for intangible RERBELEEBREDNRE  EEER
assets, management prepares discounted future cash flows SRRAAR & RE - FHHEEAESREFEH
to assess the differences between the carrying amount EBEMNEBITIRAEEREERE - MR
and value in use and provide for the impairment loss. Any mETEAIS A R EEF G A N ERRE
change in assumption adopted in the cash flow forecasts A Bl B BUR B B 18 B 18 BRI AN
or fair value assessments would increase or decrease in the o %%ZF%IECZK@EE’]TE@ °
provision of impairment loss and affect the Group’s profit or
loss for the year.
As at 31 December 2018, the carrying values of RZE—-—NF+ZA=+—0 ' ~X5EY
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets % B BEAREEEENKREE
of the Group were approximately HK$84,738,000 D R4 F84,738,000 T (ZE—+ 4 -
(2017: HK$92,846,000) and HK$30,029,000 (2017: 92,846,000/ ) K& 30,029,000/ 7T (=
HK$34,591,000) respectively. No impairment loss was T — 4 4F 134,591,000/ 7T) c REZE —
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2018 and - N\FERZZTE—+tF+ZA=+—HIL
2017. FEMERRRERSE -
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HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Loss allowance of trade and other
receivables

Loss allowance of trade and other receivables are assessed
and provided based on the directors’ regular review of
ageing analysis, evaluation of collectability, comparison with
collection performance against historical trends provisioning
methodology such as risk of default and expected loss
rate. A considerable level of judgement is exercised by the
directors when assessing the credit worthiness and past
collection history of each individual customer, assumption
of default and forward looking estimates. An increase or
decrease in the above impairment loss would affect the
profit in the year and in future years.

When the actual future cash flows are different from
expected, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of trade receivables and other financial assets within the
scope of ECL upon application of HKFRS 9.

As at the date of initial adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group
performed assessment for those items subjects to
ECL (including trade and other receivables) based on
assumptions about risk of default, ECL rate and forward
looking estimates.

Before the adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group assesses at the
end of each reporting period whether there is any objective
evidence that trade and other receivables are impaired.
In determining whether there is objective evidence of
impairment, the Group takes into consideration the ageing
status and the likelihood of collection by reference to the
background and repayment history of the debtors and
the occurrence of any default or disputes. Where there is
objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing
of future cash flows are estimated based on factors such
as repayment plans committed by debtors and subsequent
collections. An impairment loss is made for trade
receivables of which the present values of future cash flows
are less than their carrying amount.

4.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. EXREHFIERGEAAIEERE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION B EZEXRIE (8)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Loss allowance of trade and other B REMEBWIRRESE RS
receivables (Continued) (#48)
As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of trade RZZE-NF+A=+—H' =K
and other receivables of the Group was approximately S TET SR EAMERKRZXOE®RE
HK$37,712,000 (2017: HK$32,792,000), net of 4) /37,712,000% T ( = T — £ F -
loss allowance of trade receivables of approximately 32,792,000 7T ) E?DF?%%FEHQEEM
HK$6,611,000 (2017: HK$5,610,000). As at 31 B e 46,611 OOO/%TE( T—tF:
December 2018, the carrying amount of amounts due 5,610,000/ Jr) ° if/\i +=A
from subsidiaries of the Company was HK$80,999,000 =+—H8 &R TEH&W% FIAHER
(2017: HK$99,953,000), net of allowance for impairment TH 1B 49 /80,999,000 7 7T (_T + &
loss of amounts due from subsidiaries of approximately 99,953,000/ 7T) + Bk FE YK B A 7]
HK$81,206,000 (2017: HK$10,000,000). Rk (B B 18 £ 1% 4981,206,0008 7T (=&
—+4 : 10,000,000 7T) °

Amortised cost of amount due to a director FE1T — 2 E B X IE B 85 B A
The directors of the Company use their best estimation ARREERAREMTEL2ZEMESF
to determine the effective interest rate in calculating the X BETEEN—RESHRIANEHENX
amortised cost of amount due to a director, with reference REOEBEBRAE o MERA TR - A%
to the market rates. Should the estimates applied are EFEMNEAESEEES R —N
different, the carrying value of these amounts will be F+ZA=1+—H BEN—R2E5FHEN
changed. As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of BRMEE4) 43,315,000 (T — L4 :
amount due to a director was approximately HK$3,315,000 45,961,000 7T) °
(2017: HK$45,961,000).
Income taxes ER &%
Determining income tax provisions involves judgement ETEMEMBEEBEAYRERZHRRHBE
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions and BRIR ARG B 2 R e 2 - AN E
interpretation of tax rules. The Group carefully evaluates FHRTER N E - WABRR L
tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are set o RERGNMBERETHTUNERE
up accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is FE AT AR A BT A &%) o BiIaEF
reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes BERHIFE 12 ©
in tax legislation. Details of taxation are set out in note 12.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised for unutilised REAHIEBE R ﬁﬁﬁﬁ—ir%ﬁﬁjfﬂiﬁﬁ
tax losses and deductible temporary differences. As those RELEHIBEE - AINMETEA gL EEA]
deferred tax assets can only be recognised to the extent & A ﬂiiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%wﬁﬁfﬁE!’J?EPK/m*'J
that it is probable that future profit will be available against BANBRAELERIBEEE - EEERAKRI
which the unused tax credit can be utilised, management’s TEE 26 - ST S R R FE R B A 89 7]
judgement is required to assess the probability of future BEIHE o
taxable profits.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Income taxes (Continued)

Management’s assessment is constantly reviewed and
additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred
tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities have not been established for income
tax and withholding tax that would be payable on certain
profits of PRC subsidiaries to be repatriated and distributed
by way of dividends as the directors consider that the
timing of the reversal of the related temporary differences
can be controlled and such temporary differences will not
be reversed in the foreseeable future. If those undistributed
earnings of the PRC subsidiaries are considered to be
repatriated and distributed by way of dividends, deferred
tax liabilities of approximately HK$1,742,000 would be
provided as at 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$1,653,000).

Amortisation charges of intangible assets
and depreciation charges of property, plant
and equipment

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
are amortised or depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, after taking
into account the estimated residual value, if any. The
Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets
regularly in order to determine the amount of amortisation
or depreciation expenses to be recorded during each
financial year. The useful lives are based on the Group’s
historical experience with similar assets and taking into
account anticipated technological changes. As at 31
December 2018, the carrying amount of intangible assets
and property, plant and equipment of the Group was
approximately HK$30,029,000 (2017: HK$34,591,000)
and HK$84,738,000 (2017: HK$92,846,000) respectively.

The amortisation or depreciation expenses for future
periods are adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimates. Carrying amounts of the intangible
assets and property plant and equipment are set out in
notes 16 and 15 respectively.

4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. EXREHFIERGEAAIEERE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION B EZEXRIE (8)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Valuation of equity-settled share-based IAHE S5 45 B AR 0 A B MR 11 =X A
payments g
The fair value of share options granted was priced using ERHEREZ AR BENERAZERE
a binomial option pricing model which requires the EEERATEE EREAREATER
management’s estimates and assumptions on significant ABBIERGEFEER - 2R EER
calculation inputs, including the estimated life of share 2SN - REKE - TETAR
options granted, the volatility of share price, exercise HETRRE R - TEMBASEBRENES
behaviour and expected dividend yield. Changes in the REHAREBEMTEKERTE £
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair FERFEERNNEREEARN AE
value estimate, which would in turn affect the equity-settled RN RA S R EHERERENRES
share-based payments expense recognised for the year 2 . FRAERET MO EFTAM IS
and its corresponding impact on the share options reserve. it
Estimates relating to the evaluation of share options are
discussed in note 35.
5. REVENUE 5. &=
The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 1 of REB T EEBNIREMEHRERMTEL
the consolidated financial statements. Revenue from the BT FRNRRREAEEETZEBHIK
Group’s principal activities recognised during the year is as wmEIIAT
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E=—+F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FER T
(Note)
(BF5E)
Continuing operations FEREER
Hotel operation income TEIE U A 44,757 42 874
Properties management income MEEBRA 49,825 44,714
94,582 87,5688
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 at 1 January 2018. Wit : AEBR=_Z—N\F—F—BYHRERSE
Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information B REERE 155 « TR AZBE
is not restated. See note 3. 7 KBRERATTES - RKIES -
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REVENUE (Continued) 5. W# (48)
Disaggregation of revenue Yy 25 Z Rk
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and AEBW KB FERF R ERE —RHEET
services over time and at a point in time in the following THEEEMELR RMETISEEE MR
major product lines and geographical markets: AR -
Hotel operation Properties management Total
BELE NEER @zt
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-N\E| ZEAF| ZE-NE| ZTAEF | ZF-NF | TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tix TEL FHET THEL FHT THEL
Hotel accommodation EERE 14,112 13,900 - = 14,112 13,900
Food and beverage 2% 22,988 21,879 - = 22,988 21,879
Others £t 7,657 7,095 - - 7,657 7,095
Properties management MEER - = 49,825 44714 49 825 44714
44,757 42 874 49,825 44714 94,582 87,588
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
“B-N\E| ZBH4E| ZB-N\E| ZZ+5| ZE-\FE | ZTt%
Timing of revenue =l HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
recognition ZEE TiEr T TR T Ti#n TET
Ata point in time EE-BEg 22,988 21879 - - 22,988 21,879
Over time FERs 21,769 20,995 49,825 44714 71,594 65,709
44,757 42,874 49,825 44714 94,582 87,588
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
ZB-NE| ZTAF| ZB-NE| T tF | ZR-NE | AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Geographical markets HERHS Tix B TR THr Tr T
PRC A - - 49,825 44714 49,825 44714
Canada JIEYN 44,757 42874 - - 44,757 42874
44,757 42 874 49,825 44714 94,582 87,588
The Group has recognised the aggregated amount of AEEDERRBESHRIEEEHNEE

transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance
obligations as at the end of the reporting period under
contract liabilities (note 25). The Group expects the
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance
obligations will be recognised as revenue when the Group
transfers goods or services to the customer.

TARAERBHEETNRZERNELSHE
(BzE25) - REEEH - DEERTKE
HWEENRZERBENARERNTEFPER
5 S AR TS HERR AR AR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s reportable and operating segments, based
on information reported to the Chief Executive Officer,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on goods or services provided are as
follows:

Continuing operations
(1) Hotel operation
Operation of a resort in Canada.
(2) Properties management
Properties management in the PRC.
Discontinued operations
(3) Electronic components

Sales and manufacture of electronic components for
electronic appliances and communication equipment.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than bank balances and cash, interests in joint ventures,
amounts due from related companies and unallocated
head office and corporate assets; and all liabilities are
allocated to reportable segments other than unallocated
head office and corporate liabilities, deferred tax liabilities,
amount due to a director, secured loans and bonds.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SHEVER (&)
(@) The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue, (a) AEEZAIERRELEED IS D2 U
results and other material items by reportable and W EENEMEREBEESTEOT

operating segments:

2018 —E-N\fF
Continuing operations
BB
Hotel Properties
Operation management Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
G R Y E§] st
FHExT FET FERT
Revenue from external REIMBEE 2 Wz
customers 44,757 49,825 94,582
Segment profit derived REAEEIMFEFZ
from the Group’s external 2 ER T
customers 903 11,778 12,681
Finance costs BB RS (2,176) - (2,176)
Depreciation e (3,343) (58) (3,401)
Interest income B UTA - 20 20
Amortisation iy - (4,562) (4,562)
Gain on disposal of property,  HEWEE - 2K
plant and equipment =i Was 7 - 7
Loss allowance of trade B S W RS ERE
receivables - (1,199) (1,199)
Segment assets PEE 86,704 63,993 150,697
Additions to non-current FRAREIFRD
segment assets during DEEE
the year 2,286 38 2,324
Segment liabilities PEEE 5,409 17,340 22,749
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SHEVER (&)

(@) The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue, (a) AEEZAIERRELEED IS D2 U
results and other material items by reportable and W EERHMEREESTOT
operating segments (Continued): (88)

2017 (Note) —ZE—tF (Ks)
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
BEIE
BELEEK _ BERE
Hotel Properties Electronic
Operation  management Sub-total  components Total
il MEER NGt Epwnis @&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T AL TEL T TEr
Revenue from external REMDEE 2 Wiz
customers 42 874 44714 87,588 100,114 187,702
Segment profit/(loss) derived ~ REAEEHFEF 2
from the Group’s external 2iaR/ (B8R
customers 876 4,622 5498 (32,734) (27,236)
Finance costs BEMA (1,894) - (1,894) - (1,894)
Depreciation il (3,251) (61) (3312) (2,698) (6,010)
Interest income FIEWA 15 8 23 24 47
Amortisation B8 = (4.562) (4,562) - (4,562)
Gain on disposal of property, ~ HENE - ER
plant and equipment B 6 - - - 152 152
Allowance for doubtful debts ~ REEE - (5,389) (5,3%9) - (5,3%9)
Reversal of allowance RERERE
for doubtful debts - - - 46 46
Allowance for inventories FERE - - - (724) (724)
Reversal of allowance for ROREkE
inventories - - - 271 271
Segment assets PEEE 9,515 65,216 161,731 = 161,731
Additions to non-current ERREFRBDTEE
segment assets during
the year 4027 4129 8,156 - 8,156
Segment liabilities ABafk 5,736 10,654 16,390 . 16,390
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS W AEER=_ZE—N\F—A—B¥K
9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition methods EREBUBRELANEISRRE
chosen, comparative information is not restated. See B IRE ERIFEO o RATIEMA
note 3. %ﬁfﬁ%'mﬁﬁﬂx%iﬂ°
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SHEVER (&)
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss, (by AIZFHIELRE BEENEBEBEZH
assets and liabilities: iR
2018 2017
—B-nE| —FTt&
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FET FAT
Profit from continuing FEREER BT
operations
Segment profit 73 EB ) A 12,681 5,498
Interest income M EMA - 1
Gain on amount to a director ~ ¥IATERIZ AR BETIER 2
stated at fair value upon B — R EERIER
initial recognition Z U 151 3,790
Depreciation e (61) (148)
Equity-settled share-based DARE 2 45 AR D B ETEHY
payment expenses A (9,840) (2,739)
Other finance costs E gt & A (5,346) (5,210)
Share of profits of joint ventures & & 10 2% Kl 553 -
Unallocated head office RABLBH R AR
and corporate expenses (18,722) (19,026)
Consolidated loss before RAEBRTSHRATESE
income tax (20,584) (17,834)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AI2ROBEE 150,697 161,731
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB RIS 7,757 13,027
Amounts due from related FEUS FdE A~ FIFRIE
companies 648 2,522
Interests in joint ventures REERE 2 ER 44,604 -
Unallocated head office ROBLBHBRARIEE
and corporate assets 1,971 1,584
Consolidated total assets IREEBEEBRE 205,677 178,864
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. TEER (&)
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss, (b) AIEWMHEER  BEERBEZYHE
assets and liabilities (Continued): (%) -
2018 2017
—EB-N\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FExT FAT
Liabilities =R+
Reportable segment liabilites A 2®O B & 22,749 16,390
Amount due to a director N —REEHKIE 3,315 45,961
Bonds B 60,181 50,000
Secured loans EIRE R 36,013 41,028
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIEAE 6,305 6,989
Unallocated head office ROoMBHRATBE
and corporate liabilities 12,995 12,251
Consolidated total liabilities e AaBEAERE 141,558 172,619
Geographical information HEE R
The geographical location of customers is based on the EPHHIBMN BIZRERB IR M ERE
location at which the services were provided or the goods IR BETE - EMBEENMIBAER
delivered. The geographical location of the non-current BEMNERAUE (W HERZHERH
assets is based on the physical location of the asset, in HIERBEE) MED AL & B EFTEH
the case of property, plant and equipment, and other non- (BLEE Regh¥Eo s B °
current assets and the location of the operations to which REEEBEZMURES MEAKRFPH
they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets and (BABBRIN) ©

interests in joint ventures. The Group’s operations are
principally located in Hong Kong, Canada and the PRC
(excluding Hong Kong).
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Geographical information (Continued)

The Group’s revenue from continuing operations from
external customers and information about its non-current

SEERL ()

MEER (F

REEREFE

E P IRl

REREFRBEE CEHEEEMEL

assets by geographical locations of the assets are detailed YT -
below:
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
HEBEF 2z W FRBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—EB-N\F | ZT—+F | ZB-NF| ZT—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FAT THET FET
Hong Kong BE - = - 61
The PRC th
(excluding Hong Kong) (BAKRIN 49,825 44,714 74,760 38,829
Canada JIEWN 44,757 42,874 84,611 92,631
94,582 87,588 159,371 131,521
Information about major customers FREEERZERN

There is no single external customer contributed over
10% of the total revenue of the Group from continuing
operations for the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017.

BE_ 22— Nk —+tF+_-H
=+—HIEFE BEEIIEEFER

REEFERLE

A NZRTRIA 10% ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HilgAN
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Continuing operations FEREEK
Interest income from bank deposits SR T1F 2k 2 Fll B U A 21 24
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BEMEHRE
plant and equipment 7 -
Gain on amount due to a director ~ ¥AHERILZ AR BESIFZ
stated at fair value upon initial N —BEEFIER 2 W=
recognition 151 3,790
Government rewards (note) BT 228 (f‘ﬁ?) 629 =
Interest income for amount due B —RE=FFIEZFEWA
from a third party 475 -
Others HAth 126 178
1,409 3,992
Discontinued operations ERIEREEK
Interest income from bank deposits R T1F k2 Fll 2 A - 24
Gain on disposal of property, HEE - #Z Kk
plant and equipment i 2 Woes - 152
Government grants A B - 1,387
Reversal of allowance for 7 ol RER A
doubtful debts - 46
Written back of trade payables EMEE 2 B SRR - 5,779
Reversal of allowance for
inventories RO ERE - 271
Others Hifb - 2,416
- 10,075

Note: The government rewards provided by the PRC government to
the Group were paid mainly as an incentive for maintaining
good quality of properties management. There are no conditions
and contingencies attached to the receipt of the government
rewards and they are non-recurring in nature.

BEE - FEIBUNAASERRH BT RBS T2

REFEER RIS E = EH 2 ZE) - W
BT A2 & R B RS R AT S SRR 3R 0 W
RIS -

8. FINANCE COSTS

8. MABMA

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FET FET
Continuing operations HEEEER
Interests on: ME
— Finance leases -BEMES - 4
— Secured loans - BIER 2,176 1,894
— Bonds - &% 3,352 2,837
— Imputed interest on amount due - B —REBEFIB 2 HEEF S
to a director 1,994 2,369
7,522 7,104
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. MREFBHAEE
Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging/ BRETSHATESIBMNETEE R (FEA) ¢
(crediting):
2018 2017
—E-N\F T+
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Note)
(FF5E)
Continuing operations HEREER
Auditor’s remuneration ’f?%lﬁﬂﬁ@dﬂi 860 820
Operating lease charges: CETHEER -
minimum lease payments RIEBENK 1,964 2,423
Staff costs (including directors’ BINA (BRESHE)
emoluments) (note 10) (Mf3£10) 53,871 46,733
— salaries, wages, allowances, e I8 28
long service payments RERBE K&
and other benefits in kind HAaEYIEF| 41,494 41,380
— retirement schemes contributions  — EARETE| 2 (30 2,537 2,614
— equity-settled share-based - AR G B AR
payment expenses RERONRAZ 9,840 2,739
Cost of inventories BFERAR 8,385 8,254
Net foreign exchange gain PE 5 W s 558 - (2)
Depreciation (note 15) & (MEE15) 3,462 3,460
Loss allowance of trade receivables ‘& 5 B BRFA 2 E5 1B 5
(note 20) (KF3E 20) 1,199 5,389
Amortisation of intangible assets mAE#E (M3 16)
(note 16) 4,562 4 562
Discontinued operations BRI R
Operating lease charges: KEHEER
minimum lease payments =EBEERK - 2,885
Staff costs (including directors’ BINA (BREESHMH)
remuneration) (note 10) (FF5E10) - 27,027
— salaries, wages, allowances, -F& - IE& 28
long service payments RERTG & &
and other benefits in kind HihEYEF - 25,755
— retirement schemes contributions  — {EARETE] 2 3k - 1,272
Cost of inventories FEKAR - 88,519
Net foreign exchange gain PE H W 58 - (82)
Reversal of allowance for B[O REREBHE
doubtful debts - (46)
Allowance for inventories FE#E - 724
Reversal of allowance for inventories #1177 § & - (271)
Depreciation e - 2,698
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 i - AEBR=_T— \F— A —BVRERES
at 1 January 2018. Under the transition methods chosen, ﬁﬁﬁ“?&i—"iﬁﬂéﬁ 155 R BB T 5 @R & 28
comparative information is not restated. See note 3. FOW  RFTEAZBERE - LRERD

FEF - RS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERITHARME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed RIEE B R AEHI5 383(1) &M AR (H
pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies BEEMNRER) ROIE2HHREER
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of THBHMEnT
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as
follows:
2018 —E-N\F
Salaries,
allowances  Retirement
and benefits  Share-based
benefits schemes payment
in kind contributions expenses
Fees #i& 2K REEH  URGEXE Total
ik ENER TR HB @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER TR TER

(note c)

(HizEc)
Executive directors YTES
Mr. Shen Yong (Chairman) BERE (FF) 1,200 - - 107 1,307
Mr. Gan Lin (Chief Executive Officer) HRRt4 (1TB#5) - 2,250 18 542 2,810
Mr. Shen Ke (note a) B EE (Fizta) 210 s = 1,066 1,276
Non-executive director FHTEE
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang ERGEE 600 = = 197 797
Independent non-executive directors BV FEHTES
Dr. Loke Yu BB L 240 = = = 240
Mr. Yu Lei SRELE 120 = = = 120
Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann S EE 180 = = = 180

2,550 2,250 18 1,912 6,730
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BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERITHAKZBENE (8)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

RIBEB R RRPIZE 383(1) k& (B
BESMDER ROIF2HBREESER
THAAZHMEMT (&) :

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed
pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as
follows (Continued):

2017 —EF—tF
Salaries,
allowances  Retirement
and benefits  Share-based
benefits schemes payment
inkind  contributions eXpenses
Fees #& » 2H K RIREHN ARG Total
e BEMEH TRl i0]35-3 Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET THT TET
(note c)
(FizEc)
Executive directors YTES
Mr. Shen Yong (Chairman) BREBLE (£F) 1,200 = = 30 1,230
Mr. Gan Lin (Chief Executive Officer) HRRt4 (1TB#5) - 2,280 18 - 2,298
Mr. Hong Sang Joon (note b) HHELE (F7Eb) - 1,707 6 — 1,713
Mr. Shen Ke (note a) B (Fizta) 600 = = 302 902
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang ERGEE 600 = = 197 797
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Dr. Loke Yu BEEMiEL 240 - - - 240
Mr. Yu Lei REETHE 120 - = = 120
Mr. Emst Rudolf Zimmermann asXEAE 180 = = = 180
2,940 3,987 24 529 7,480
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10.

11.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:
(@) Mr. Shen Ke resigned on 21 September 2018.

(b)  Mr. Hong Sang Joon resigned on 27 June 2017.

(c)  The value of share options granted to the directors is measured
according to the Group’s accounting policy for share-based
payment transactions as set out in note 2.23. The details of
these benefits in kind including the principal terms and number
of options granted are disclosed in note 35.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four
(2017: four) are directors whose emoluments are reflected
in the analysis presented in note 10. The emoluments in

10.

11.

EERTHARNME ()

G
(@ HREER-Z-NFAAZ+—HEHE-
(b) MHERENR-Z—LFA-THHE

o

) ETEENBRENEEDREAEESH
BN Z SO EARFETHE - FER
RHEE2.23 - ZEBYENFE (BFEEH
HRBEEN ERERNEE) R E35%

rEBRAZREHFMALS TR (ZF
—tF:0O%) RARFES - HMEE
R EXEE IORIELIKREE - FAKRT—H

respect of the remaining one (2017: one) individual during (Z2—+tF : —8) ATHMNSBEFE
the year are as follows: W
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT THT
Salaries, allowances and benefits e FEREYWET
in kind 1,511 1,541
Retirement benefits schemes RIREAFT IR
contributions 18 18
Equity-settled share-based payment A#E#s 45 & LARR D
expenses RERHZ A 214 214
1,743 1,773

The above individual’s emolument was within the following
bands:

B AT SEEFSIAT

Number of individuals

EEAH
2018 2017
—2-N\E| =—Ft&
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 & T = 2,000,000 %8 7T 1 1
There was no arrangement during the years ended 31 REBEZE_ZTE—-NEFERFT—+tF+=H

December 2018 and 2017, under which the directors or
the five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration, and no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

=t+—HLFE" %%Xﬂ%ﬂ—m#ﬁﬁ}ﬂ)\
TRERBER LB REXREEREEMA
e BAKEYEAEEAARRZSH
AL EMERME - AERMBAREE
A 0B AN SR BB ) R sl 1 R B A

f& -

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 148

REBEBREZERERD A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re SRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-T—)\F+-A=1+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

12. FifEHAH X

R BRakEMEEKRERAZHIEA

other comprehensive income represents: 15 -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Continuing operations HEREER
PRC Corporate Income Tax PR EREHR
Provision for the year REZ R 1,920 5,596
Deferred tax (note 28) IEERE (Fi5E28) (684) (684)
1,236 4912
Notes: MisE

(@)  No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided in the consolidated
financial statements as the Group had no assessable profit in
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

(b)  Provision for the PRC Corporate Income Tax is calculated at
25% of the estimated assessable profits for both years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017.

(c)  Provision for the PRC Corporate Income Tax for Nuofute
Property Management Co., Ltd.* EEZEEWEETEGRA
(“Nuofute Property Management ) is calculated at 15% of the
estimated assessable profits for both years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017. Nuofute Property Management is qualified
as a company under the development strategy of the PRC’s
western region and was able to enjoy a preferential income tax
rate of 15%.

(d)  Canadian Corporation Tax is calculated at Federal tax rate of
15% and British Columbia provincial tax rate of 11% on the
estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017. No provision for taxation has been made as
there is no assessable profit for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.

(e)  United States of America (“USA”) Corporation Tax is calculated
at Federal tax rate of 21% and California provincial tax rate of
8.84% on the estimated assessable profits for the year ended
31 December 2018. No provision for taxation has been made
as there is no assessable profit for the year ended 31 December
2018.

(f) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the Group is
not subject to any income tax in the BVI.

* For identification purpose only.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

HRAEEBE_T-N\Fh_ tﬁ
TZA=+— Eﬁifﬁﬁ)ﬁ%mmﬁ‘u
Iﬂﬁ’\\*/\ﬁﬂ%i&%?ﬁ%iﬁ%%'ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ 2

FECEMSHBEIAREE_Z—N\FEX
—E—tFF+ A=+ HIEFEZHAE
RERAZ 25% 51 E -

EEHERNEERERAA (HEFD
FERE]) chBEEMSHREBDUEE
TR N\FR-Z—tF+-A=+—HI
BEE 2 A ERDGENIR15% 51 H - 54
Ea%mi”ﬁi%fﬁqﬂlﬁﬁﬁjiﬁﬁ?é"l—z/a\ﬁ%

RA] - AIEEEMEHE15%

BHE-_Z—N\GFER_FT—+tF+-_HA=1+—
Etiﬁ MEXDSEMBH T GEE
R MR F A R 15% R A B S fatt o
EMRIN%AE -HE-_ZT—N\ER T
—+F+-A=+—RIFE  ARTERE
RBUEA o A EETHRE AR -

EBARBRIRBEE-_T—/N\E+_A
E+fE¢¢r§2fﬁ§+5§§%%jﬁnﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
K21% M ANFIFEE T2 ML K 8.84% 5T &
HREE—T—N\E+=_A=1+— EI&EJ*
W AEFE SRR T - A E TR R IR A -

REBEEBRIESHANESR  AEEEEA
BREB R LB -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Reconciliation between accounting loss and income tax

S EERRERNEAENAERAX

expenses at applicable tax rate is as follows: Z EIHSERIAT -
2018 2017
—B-nE| —Ft&
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FExT FAT
Loss before income tax from REFELEE 2
continuing operations BRET1S TR ES 18 (20,584) (17,834)
Notional tax on loss before RRE AR RN DA
income tax, calculated at the REER RN X
rates applicable to profit in the RIS AIEETE
tax jurisdictions concerned MR EHIE (3,532) (2,951)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible “NaJ 30715 2 OB 75 57
for tax purpose 3,269 2,435
Tax effect of income not taxable BAMBU AR
for tax purpose (253) (782)
Tax effect of unused tax losses REAHIBEER
and other temporary differences Hit R R =R
not recognised RIS R 2 1,752 6,210
Income tax expenses for the year REEMEHRAYS 1,236 4912
13. DIVIDEND
No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended ZTE-NFERZE—tEF+= ﬂ

31 December 2018 and 2017, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

=t+—BLFE  TERNHEZK
HBHEHRARITARES Eﬂﬁ“gf’
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

HE

— ) \F+-_A=+—HILFE

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. 88%

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share attributable to equity shareholders of the Company is
based on the following:

(B518) /&F

AR ERER Hx%?45ﬁ’]lﬂx%$&?§ﬁ/§
(B8) /BFBERATEBE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FBxT FAT
(Loss)/earnings (E518) BH
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of ~ FIRETEFRER (FHE) &BF
basic (loss)/earnings per share 8 (E518) /B
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable 2N RIEZS IR E (R RO ANFE
to equity shareholders (B18) amF
of the Company
— from continuing operations - RERBELCEER (21,820) (22,746)
— from discontinued operations - REBRIEEER - 14,217
000 '000
TR %
Number of shares RHOEE
Weighted average number of R+ZA=1+—HHK
ordinary shares as at 31 December 3@ NNkEF 5 &1 531,213 456,409
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 31 BHE-_Z—N\FEERZE—tF+=A

December 2018 and 2017 equate the basic (loss)/earnings
per share as the Group’s share options were not included in
the calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share because
they are anti-dilutive.

=t+—BULEFENSRES (BR) &7
BERER (BER) /BIE%  RERK
SERRRARBEYE  SUEGEAE
FREE (BR) BIBEEENA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z- \E+_A=1+—RAL=FE
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - HIERHR
Land and Other
buildings property,
held for plant and
own use Plant and Leasehold Motor equipment
BEERN  machinery  improvements vehicles  EftE- Total
IHEEF  BERRE HENEEE RE BERRE szt
HKS$" 000 HKS$" 000 HKS$" 000 HKS$" 000 HKS$" 000 HKS$" 000
i i TR i i TR
Cost B
Asat 1 January 2017 RZF—tF-A—H 87,844 87,834 5,306 2838 44157 221979
Exchange adjustments EXAE 7076 2317 55 2% 1442 10916
Additions HE 2463 78 - - 1,920 4461
Disposal through disposal of subsidiaries  EBHENBATILE - (83,666) (3767) (2.163) (39,604) (134,200)
Disposals hE - (1,563) - - (150) (1,713)
As at 31 December 2017 R-E-+E+-A=1-BR
and 1 January 2018 - )\f-H-H 97,383 - 1,59 701 7,765 107,443
Exchange adjustments S (7,606) - - - (439) (8,045)
Additions NE 1,736 - - - 588 2324
Disposals (h& - - - - (439) (439)
As at 31 December 2018 R-E-\E+-F=1-H 91,513 - 1,59 701 7475 101,283
Depreciation and impairment HERAE
As at 1 January 2017 R=F—tF-A-H 5,305 74,775 4,800 2144 37,306 124,330
Exchange adjustments R AR 481 1875 4 18 1117 3539
Charge for the year AEESH 1574 1,710 188 8 2403 6,158
Disposal through disposal of subsidiaries  EBHENBARTILE - (77.251) (3442) (1802) (35,784) (118.285)
Written back on disposals R - (1,103) - - 42) (1,145)
As at 31 December 2017 RIE—t51-A=t-HR
and 1 January 2018 “2-\&-f-H 7,360 - 1,594 643 5,000 14597
Exchange adjustments EHE (660) - - - (415) (1,075)
Charge for the year AEEYH 1857 = = 58 1547 3462
Written back on disposals i R - - - - (439) (439)
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+-A=+-R 8,557 - 1504 701 5,693 16,545
Carrying values HEf
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+=A=1+-R 82,956 - - - 1,782 84,738
As at 31 December 2017 RZF-tF+-A=1-R 90,023 - - h8 2,765 92,846
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s land and buildings RZFE—-NF+ZA=+—8 " X&ER
held for own use located outside Hong Kong with carrying BEBINFAR - BREEX) A 82,956,000 %8
amount of approximately HK$82,956,000 (2017: 7T (ZZF—+% : 90,023,000 7T) B B
HK$90,023,000) were pledged to the secured loans (see A RkEFEERBTEBER (28K
note 29). 5£29) o
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BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 6. BILEE
Customers
relationship
EFEBE
HK$’000
FEx
Cost 2%
As at 1 January 2017, RZZT—+F—H—H"
31 December 2017, —E—+F+-_A=+—H
1 January 2018 and —E-N\F—H—HK
31 December 2018 —E—-NF+=-A=+—H 45616
Amortisation b E
As at 1 January 2017 R-ZE—tF—H—H 6,463
Charges for the year NEGHIE 4,562
As at 31 December 2017 and RZE—tF+-_A=+—H8K
1 January 2018 —E-NF—H—H 11,025
Charges for the year NEEHE 4,562
As at 31 December 2018 R=E—\F+=-_A=+—~H 15,587
Carrying values BREE
As at 31 December 2018 R=_Z2—\F+=-_A=+—H 30,029
As at 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+F+_H=+—H 34,591

The amortisation charge for the year is included in
“Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The customers relationship was acquired from third parties
through business combinations. It was amortised on a
straight-line basis over 10 years. The remaining useful live

of the intangible assets was 7 years.

Management of the Group considered that no impairment
of intangible assets is necessary as at 31 December 2018

and 2017.

AERBHERFAGRAREREMBEM
W KA [TTBFAS ) ]

BEFBERIDEBEGEHAE =T RS
HIMERERERE TFRME - B E
EZRIBAIERFHRLF

AEEEEERR R-T-—/\FR=-F
—tFt-A=1—H EEFEEEAR
BE °
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e B ERARMTEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. KB AR Z#ERS

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December RZE-NFRZZE—+F+_A=*+—
2018 and 2017 are as follows: EIE’]EKFHE 7u¥| LU

Place of Particulars of

incorporation/ issued and fully

establishment/ paid share capital/

operation registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries IMRL/HL/ EBRIRARRE/ held by the Company Principal activities
nRER fepy AfERzHE MAD AR 2 A RRRLA IEXH

Directly Indirectly
Ef 3

2018 2017 2018 2017
ZR-NE [ 2B LF | ZR-NE | ZTF

Forebase Canada Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% Investment holding

BEMSABRAT &b 1% 1A% RERR

Forebase Group Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding

BESEARAA) B 1% 1B REBR

Forebase Victoria Holdings Canada 1 share of Canadian dollar - - 100% 100% Hotel operation
Limited nex (“CAD")1 il

15 1gAT (7))

Forebase Enterprise Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
RELFERAR BA 1] 187 REBR
Forebase China Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
REREBRAT &b 1R 1%T RERR
Forebase Hong Kong Limited ~ Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% Provision of
REBABRAA % 1% 18T administrative
support to group
companies
HEBAFRE
THxE
Ultimate Frontier Limited BVI 1 share, US$1 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
EBRAHE 1% 1% RERR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows (Continued):

17. KRB AR 2 & ()

R-ZE—NER - E—+F+-_A=+—
BREZHBRARGFBOT (&)

Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and fully
establishment/ paid share capital/
operation registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries IMRL/HL/ EBRIRARRE/ held by the Company Principal activities
nRER feny AfERzHE MAD AR 2 A RRRLA IEXH
Directly Indirectly
E# 3
2018 2017 2018 2017
ZR-NF| 2B LF | ZE-NE | 2Tt
Forebase International Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% Provision of
Healthcare and Senior 6 1k 181 servioes of global
Living Hotel Management high-end healthcare
Service Limited and senior care
REERRERZEEER industry
AR AR RESRRRIER
REERITERE
Equity Stream Limited BVI 1 share, US$1 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
EBRAHE 1k 1%7% RERR
Keen Capture Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
ERARAR R 1% U8 RERR
Capital Knight Limited BVI 1 share, US$1 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
EBRAHE 1k 1%7% RERR
Easy Chase Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
ERARAA R 1% U8 RERR
Forebase US Holdings Limited ~ USA 100 share, US$31 100% - - - Investment holding
(note a) X8 100% ' 31% REBR
RZ)
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BB HRRN

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z- \E+_A=1+—RAL=FE
17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17. BB AR Z#%E (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December RZE-NFRZZE—+F+_A=*+—
2018 and 2017 are as follows (Continued): =| E’]Exﬁﬁ% Tu?rl W (&) :
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and fully
establishment/ paid share capital/
operation registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries IMRL/HL/ EBRIRARRE/ held by the Company Principal activities
AAER Bewd AMEARE RALRGRE A RERLP IEEH
Directly Indirectly
B i
2018 2017 2018 2017
ZEN\E | ZELF | 25 \F | ZEtE
Wanwei (Chongging) Business ~ PRC US$400,000 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd.** h 400,000% 7T RARKR
BE (2F) CXEHRARAR!
Chongging Wanwei Trading PRC Renminbi - - 100% 100% Investment holding
Development Co., Ltd.#* il (“RMB”) 1,000,000 REAER
EREREHRRERAA" ARE
1,000,0007c
Nuofute Property Management ~ PRC RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100% Properties
Co Ltd HE ARH5,000,0007 management
E%E%%% BERAR! nEER
Chengdu Aoshenda PRC HK$10,000,000 - - 100% 100% Business
Business Management HE 10,000,000 77C management
Limited Liabilty Co. BEER
RHRREREER
BRALARA!
Notes: BfaE -
(@)  Company incorporated during the year ended 31 December (a) EA@@:I:—7 )\¢+ A=1+—HIFE=
2018. AV /N
2 The English translation of the name of the companies * RABIKI M AR 2 RIERERSE - &
established in the PRC is for reference only. The official name BB ABARXERR
of the companies are in Chinese.
# These entities were established in the PRC and are wholly- & ZEBRRPERKY - BINGBEEDLE -
owned foreign enterprises.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at BEERNE AR AMEFERINENRN
the end of both years or during both years. BITEMES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z-\E+_A=1+—RLHFE

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

18. REEEXZHED

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FHET
Share of net assets B EEFE 15,081
Amounts due from joint ventures el & & IR 29,523
44,604
Represented by: Al
Investment costs TEKA 15,758
Share of post-acquisition reserves FE(S B R (677)
15,081
Amount due from joint ventures JEM & & FEFIR 29,523
At 31 December 2018 R=ZE—\F
+—-—A=+—H 44,604
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AT A SRR MY R

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(Continued)

The following list contains only the particulars of joint
ventures, all of which are unlisted corporate entities whose
quoted market prices are not available, which in the
opinion of the directors principally affected the results or
net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2018.

18.

P33

TRESIEZRAHAEER=_Z—N\
Ft-A=tHONXGEAEEFERE

N

BEEXZ

2Ty

e

WAELHATERE

RELRZHE B4

i3

pily

(48)

Particulars of

Place of issued and fully

incorporation/ paid

establishment/ share capital/

operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name HMRL/BY,/ BREORSRRL/ held by the Company Principal activities
£ feny EMERFE RADRRE 2 A RERL Al TEXH

Indirectly
[t
2018 2017
—E-)N\E “E—tF

Triple Market Limited BVI 1 share, US$1 49% - Investment holding

RERLES 1R 1%% REAER
Daily Host Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 49% - Investment holding

&R 1R 1ET RERRK
Chongging Shandu Corporate

Management Limited*

BEREROEEEERAT PRC US$300,000 49% = Investment holding

G 300,000 7T RERRK
Chongging Shance Limited*
EFEREXERAA PRC RMB10,000,000 49% = Investment holding

G AR%10,000,0007 REER
Chongging Xingling Limited* PRC RMB49,658,200 49% - Property holding
BEEEREEXARARA r AR 496582007 HEME
* The English translation of the names of the companies * R BRI AR 2 RSGRERERSE -

established in the PRC is for reference only. The official names
of the companies are in Chinese.

BIE A BBAR R °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(Continued)

In November 2017, Forebase China Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a sales and
purchase agreement (“Agreement”) with an independent
third party, for the acquisition of 49% equity interests,
together with the shareholder’s loan, in Triple Market
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Triple Market Group”) (the
“Acquisition”) at a total consideration of HK$45,281,000,
represented by the issuance of 90,000,000 ordinary shares
at a market value of HK$0.39 per share amounting to
HK$35,100,000 and an unlisted bond with the principal
amount of HK$10,181,000. The bond bears an interest
rate at 3% per annum, unsecured and repayable within
36 months from 6 March 2018. The Acquisition was
completed on 6 March 2018. The net assets acquired of
the Triple Market Group amounted to HK$32,159,000
and the carrying amount of 49% of shareholder’s loan
amounted to approximately HK$29,523,000. Triple Market
Group has no business operation, it mainly holds an
investment property.

The amount due from joint ventures is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

Pursuant to the Agreement, unanimous consent from both
shareholders are required for certain key corporate matters
of Triple Market Group. Therefore, Triple Market Group is
under the joint control of the Group. The Group has the
right to the net assets of Triple Market Group. Accordingly,
the investment in Triple Market Group was accounted for
as joint ventures of the Group by using the equity method.

18. RE%&E

>
M
N.
e

\

/|
i

RZZE—tF+—f AEE—H2EH
BARBAEFBHEABRAAE-—ZBILE
=FHEIVEEHE (&Rl - AKE
Triple Market Limited & E [ /&2 7] ([Triple
Market 52 B ) 2 49% A% # i [F] % R E X
(TAEEE]) - BREX A 45,281,000
T NEBESREMN0.39B T mER
790,000,000 f% & 3@ A% (& #£35,100,000
Br) AT SR 410,181,000 T
FEMBEHZARI - ZBEHIRFF X
3%FHE  EEERAN T - \F=AX
HiEsr36EAREE - WESHEER=-Z
—\F=A/NBTK o P Triple Market
S8 2 EEFEA32,159,000%& 7T M
49% IR B 2 BREEX)/5 29,523,000 7
7T © Triple Market & B 3 #E £ 75 & 18 - =
DREEHREWE -

A SR RHB AR - %8 RAR
BFFHE -

BB L W% Triple Market £ B & T &
BRREEAESMEREN—HRAE -
E Lt - Triple Market 52 B /3 N 52 [E 2 A 42
H o KEE A E=ZAF Triple Market £ B &9
SEEE o AL M Triple Market & [E #)1&
BRI EARIAAEENSE D -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(Continued)

Set out below are the summarised financial information of
each of Triple Market Group which are accounted for using

the equity method:

18. REEEXRZHE

(48)

Bk

LA &1 A RE 20K A BR B9 Triple Market &

BRI AR

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FET

Current assets mENE = 65
Non-current assets EmENEE 87,736
Current liabilities mEEE (56,454)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (569)
Net assets BEFE 30,778
Included in the above assets FEERBERRE

and liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREZEEY 1
Current financial liabilities nETMEE

(excluding trade and other (TBIEE S KEAM

payables and provisions) FERTRRRN S 8 4) (55,491)
Non-current financial liabilities E ok dlcal= =N

(excluding trade and other (TEEE S MEAM

payables and provisions) FETRR R ) (569)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(Continued)

Set out below are the summarised financial information of
each of Triple Market Group which are accounted for using

the equity method (Continued):

18. REEEEZHESE (B)

LA &1 A RE 20K A BR B9 Triple Market &
ENMBERBE (8) :

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FHET
Revenue Was 57
Other income HAA 3
Gain arising from change in fair REMEAREE
value of an investment property BENEE 2 W 2,373
Total operating expenses K R (711)
Profit before income tax BRETS BT R A 1,722
Income tax expenses FrB iR (593)
Profit for the year AE A 1,129
Other comprehensive expenses AEEHM2EMX
for the year
Exchange differences on translation BREFINGEDE
of financial statements of MBHRR ELERR
the overseas joint ventures (2,510)
Total comprehensive expense AEBEG
attributable to the Group SHEMAXEE (1,381)
19. INVENTORIES 19. 7&
2018 2017
—E-N\F —TE—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Food and beverages B &R 622 1,063
Hotel merchandise B JE & an 215 461
837 1,524
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. E5 R HMEVER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(Note)
UES
Trade receivables, net of loss FEUCE SRR (FOBREEREE)
allowance (note (a)) (FI5E (a))
— with third parties -E£=5 542 1,532
— with related companies (note (b)) - B@Et Q&) (FizE (b)) 26,580 24,555
27,122 26,087
Deposits and other receivables e R H A EUER R 2,724 2,651
Amount due from a third party Wl —2E=FFE (MiFE ) 6,004 =
(note (c))
Amounts due from related companies &4k FaEE A B 508 (Bt (b)) 648 2,522
(note (b))
Prepayments AT RIE 1,214 1,532
37,712 32,792
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. M AEBR=_ZE—/\F— A —BYHBERSE
As at 1 January 2018, loss allowance of trade receivables MBI EERIEIF - RZFE— \F—
amounted to HK$145,000 was recognised. Under the transition FE—H G BHRESEKRIRKZEEEE
methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. See 145,000 7T ° &ﬁﬁLﬁJ ZBERE R
note 3. BRTTEY - RKIEE3 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. E 5 R HMBWER (&)
(Continued)
(@) Trade receivables (@) B HZEWKERMX
The Group allows an average credit period of O to 30 AEBERESEFETHEHEER
days to its trade customers. Further details on the BOE30RH - BRAKEEERE
Group’s credit policy are set out in note 38.3. The B — B RFREH NI EE38.3 c LA T &
following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, RIBERNE MR B AR HIRF A B
net of loss allowance of trade receivables, based on B (MRS EEREE) 2508
the date of delivery of goods or date of rendering of B SRR (FBRE 5 RUERE
services which approximated the respective dates on ERE) WERRDT ©
which revenue was recognised.
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E 4
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHET FET
Within 90 days 90 H A 1,176 2,926
91 to 180 days 91z 180H 1,086 3,292
181 to 365 days 181 2365 H 2,633 6,604
Over 365 days 3B 365 H 22,227 13,265
27,122 26,087
The movements in loss allowance of trade receivables ORISR 2 iR ERFA &
during the year are as follows: R -
2018 2017
—E-N\E —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHET FET
Balance at 31 December R+ZRA=+—BW#H -
calculated under HKAS 39 BB EGFIERFE 39K E 5,610 10,956
Impact on initial application of ~ #)%A & 3 &8 M 15 2E BI 55 9 5%
HKFRS 9 (note 3) w2 (Mtsx3) 145 -
Adjusted balance at 1 January #— B — BB AL -
calculated under HKFRS 9 BB ME LB IORAE 5,755 10,956
Loss allowance of trade FRNE SRR BERE
receivables during the year 1,199 5,389
Reversal of allowance for B ol RER B
doubtful debts - (46)
Reversal of allowance for KN EHTE A R B RERE R
doubtful debts through
disposal of subsidiaries - (10,910)
Exchange adjustments bE X FE R (343) 221
As at 31 December Rt+=-—A=+—H 6,611 5,610
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. E5 R H M EWER ()
(Continued)
(b) Amounts due from related companies (b) FEUBARE 2 R =R
Amounts due from related companies disclosed BRI R B R B K H) % 383(1)(d) 1§ &
pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong ilzj(ﬂﬁﬁgéiggfﬂﬁﬁﬁi*i) HRBIZE3
Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the Companies B4R R < FEUL ARG A R FRIBAA T
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation are as follows:
Maximum
At At outstanding
Name of related Relationship 31 December 31 December balance
company with the Group 2018 2017 during the year  Term
BHAR AR HEASENEE R-ZB-N\E RIE—tF ERRE B
t=A=t-H +=RA=+-H RMEBER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Chongging Tianma A company controlled 297 - 309 Unsecured,
Property Development by Mr. Shen Yong, interest-free
Co., Ltd* a controlling and repayable
EREASVEERE shareholder of on demand
BRAR the Company
BAR T%hh% i
BBLARHNAT %2 RA
RESRER
Chongging Liangping A company controlled 351 - 375 Unsecured,
Daisi Zhiye Co., Ltd* by Mr. Shen Yong, interest-free
EFRTEHNES a controlling and repayable
BRAT shareholder of on demand
the Company
BAD RERRE BER
BB AN AR 285 RA
REXER
Chongging Kaitai A company controlled - 2,522 4508 Unsecured,
Huasheng by Mr. Gan Lin, interest-free
Shiye Co., Ltd* a director of and repayable
EERRERES the Company on demand
BRR7] HALRESR BIER
HREEEDINAT 2B NRA
RESRER
Total 648 2,522
et

The English translation of the names of
the companies established in the PRC is
for reference only. The official name of the
companies are in Chinese.

*

RPN AR 2 R GERERS
Z o RAIB I BMWUARIRR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

21.

(b) Amounts due from related companies

(c)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, Mr. Shen Yong, the
controlling shareholder, had undertaken to indemnify
the Group against any losses that may result from the
non-recovery of the trade receivables from related
companies of HK$26,580,000, these amounts were
also secured by a pledge of an asset of approximately
HK$41,422,000 owned by Mr. Shen Yong.

Amount due from a third party

The amount is unsecured, interest bearing at 8% per
annum and repayable before 14 November 2019.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Bank balances and cash

Bank balances of the Group represented short-term
deposits with a maturity of three months or less.
Bank balances carry interest at market rates which
range from 0.01% to 0.35% (2017: 0.01% to 0.35%)
per annum was identified for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Bank balances and cash of HK$4,718,000 (2017:
HK$2,829,000) denominated in RMB are placed with
banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible
currency. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement and
Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign
currencies through banks that are authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

20. B 5 R H it EW AR

(48)

(b) FEUEAREA RIS (4R)

(c)

RZZT—NF+=-A=+—8 " ZK&
PR 58 B BB S AR B ARCGE BH AR A R Uk )
K REEE N BB B FEURER 3Kk 26,580,000
BIMEENEERAEEEITH
8 MZxERENHBBLEFESR
M) #)41,422,0007 7T 2 & E B 1E
IR -

Bi—a% =7 A

D/(T IEE#&\T’R# ?ﬁﬁﬂ:lJTS%u—f
- RAR _E-NF+—A+HEH
Zﬁﬂaﬁ

21. RITEBRREEREMBEERE

&1

(a) SRITHEBREE
NEE ZIRITEEER e =B Ak AT
I ERER - HE T —\F

T A=T—HILFE  BITEHBIR
HE001%E035%(=—F— 4% :
0.01% £0.35%) MHIHH|ERA 8 -

RITAEHR RIS 4,718,000 T (=
T — 44 : 2,829,000/ 7T) A A
REE  FHRRFBRART - AR
B IER] B LIRS o RIFFPE
INEEBIEPI RINELE « SHE RN
EBIEY  AREBEEARBERE
FRIMNEEBNRITBARE LIRS
HNEE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z- \E+_A=1+—RAL=FE
21. BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND OTHER CIRITERERBEEREMEERE
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) &8l ( &)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEEFHMEENABHIER
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TR H BB EEFEENASE
liabilities from financing activities, including both EaEEs  pREREAIERENE
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from o MBEPEANAENAR S
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows RERAKRETERNAEELER
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the PRERTENEIBFLEAREE
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash BFEERRSRENEE -
flows from financing activities.
Amounts due Amount
to related duetoa
companies Secured director
FE{3 BB loans Bonds  Ef—3% Total
NRAFE  BRER &%  EZHE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THr FHr THr THL THL
(note 29) (note 30)
(FiE29)  (MHE30)
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\5-F-H 3,590 41,028 50,000 45961 140,579
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSRERD
Advances from related companies NS 3911 = = = 3911
Repayment o a director BE-2ESIR - - - (1,224) (1,224)
Interest paid BEXHFE - (2,176) (2,800) (1,994) (6,970)
Repayment of secured loans BRBERER - (1,943) - - (1,943)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BEE L& E L% 3911 (4,119) (2,800) (3,218) (6,226)
Exchange adjustments AR (344) (3,072) - - (3,416)
Other changes: A28
Finance costs (note 8) BERA (H7E8) = 2,176 3,352 1,994 7,522
Interest payable FERFE - - (552) - (552)
Issuance of shares for repayment of FEREN—BES
amount due to a director REETRA
(note 26(b)) (FrzE26(b)) = = - (41,422) (41,422)
Issuance of bonds for acquisition of HRBRECERTLES
joint ventures - - 10,181 - 10,181
Total other changes L esesm - 2,176 12,981 (39,428) (24,271)
At 31 December 2018 R=B-N\E
+=A=t-H 7,157 36,013 60,181 3,315 106,666
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

21. BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND OTHER 21. SRIT#BRERRERHEMRERE
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) &8l (&)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEEFHMEENABHIER
financing activities (Continued) (#8)
The table below details changes in the Group’s TR H BB EEFEENASE
liabilities from financing activities, including both EaEEs  pREREAIERENE
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from o MBEPEANAENAR S
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows RERAKRETERNAEELER
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the PRERTENEIBFLEAREE
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash PMELENRERENEE (&) -
flows from financing activities (Continued).
Obligation
Amounts due under Amount
to related finance duetoa
companies leases Secured director
e BE loans Bonds Eft—% Total
] REEE BRER &% ESiE E-H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEL THEL ThET TEL ThL ThL
(note 29) (note 30)
(M329)  (BFE30)
At 1 January 2017 WZ_E—+F—fA—H 3974 156 39,898 40,000 68,325 152,353
Changes from financing BERSRERD
cash flows:
Repayment to related EREHARFE
companies (659) - = = - (659)
Proceeds from issuance BIRAMEHE
of bonds - - - 10,000 - 10,000
Repayment of capital element ~ EEREMHE
of finance lease WEAHH - (156) - - - (156)
Interest element of finance lease ~ EAAT SRS HMH - (4) - - - (4)
Repayment to a director EBE—2EEHH - - - = (18,574) (18,574)
Interest paid EXIFE - - (1,894) (2,837) (2,369) (7,100)
Repayment of secured loans EERAER - - (1,968) - - (1,968)
Total changes from financing BERSRELHLE
cash flows (659) (160) (3,862) 7,163 (20,943) (18,461)
Exchange adjustments [ 275 = 3,098 = = 3373
Other changes: A%
Finance charges on REHERT
obligation under finance LBEER (J3£8)
leases (note 8) - 4 - - - 4
Finance costs (note 8) BANA (H38) - - 1,804 2,837 2,369 7,100
Gain on amount due to NEBEIRDABE
a director stated at fair SIEMEN—2ES
value upon initial FURR 2 W (fir3E7)
recognition (note 7) = = - - (3,790) (3,790)
Total other changes At 2ees - 4 1,894 2,837 (1,421) 3314
At 31 December 2017 RZE—t4
+-RA=1+-8 3,590 - 41,028 50,000 45,961 140,579
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BB HRRN

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

22. E5 R EMEAIRRK

2018 2017

—B-N\F E—

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHxT FHT

(Note)

(PfF3E)

Trade payables B 5 E IR 1,234 1,903
Accruals JEEtE A 855 1,886
Other payables E AR 9,883 10,784
11,972 14,573

Note: The Group applies the practical expedient for not adjusting the
amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing
component if the period between the transfer of services and
customer payment will be one year or less and recognises the
incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an expense when
incurred if the amortisation period of the asset that the Group
otherwise would have recognised will be less than one year. As
at 1 January 2018, advance from customers related to hotel
operation and properties management totalling HK$4,508,000
were reclassified to “Contract liabilities” (note 25).

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice

PEE

$Eﬁ“‘%§§ﬁ BERHmEHARE

AEBERBERE 25T EEBRBE
BEPNRZERERA—FHIATZER
T AHERESEURREAFER D 2
P&  AWEESEH GEASERERER
%) BAOR—F  AIEEERBEISAHZ
FIER AR RS - R _E—\F—H—
B BEEE R EERAE R PEMNK
544508000 B T HEHM SRR [AHE

& J(PifEE25) -

S E 5 e

date, at the end of the reporting period, is set out as HERERAHTAAT -
follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FERT FAT
Within 90 days 0 HRW 1,227 1,878
91 to 180 days 912180 H - 18
181 to 365 days 181 2365 H 4 5
Over 365 days BB 365 H 3 2
1,234 1,903

The average credit period on purchases of goods is O to 90
days. The Group has financial risk management policies
in place to ensure that all payables are settled within the

credit timeframe.

BEZYAEEHA0ENR - REER

B RREBREERBR - ARG RMNEX

R EEHIRALER -
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23. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES

The balances were unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

24. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The balance is unsecured, interest bearing at 1.3%
per annum (2017: 1.3% per annum) in 2018. As at 31
December 2018, the interest rate was renewed to 2.7%
per annum and the amount will be repayable in December

23.

24.

FE& 1+ BRI Bt/ I KR
RERBREER  RERARERE
BH—2EEME

RoF—\%  REHARER SR
13%5 8 (ZF—HF : §F13%) ° 1
—E—N\F+-A=t+—H REHEE
HB2.7%  2EHR-F-BETAR

2020. iE o
25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. GHIAa&
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&T
Contract liabilities EHEE
— related to hotel operation (note) - B REBEALZ (FisE) 3,745 -
— related to properties management -BEMESIE (M)
(note) 1,274 =
5,019 -

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 at 1 January 2018.
Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information
is not restated. See note 3.

izt AEER —E-NF—-A—BVRERES
RIS LERNFE 155 - HWAMER 2 BET
% WBREMANTES o RHIFES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 25. AR (&)
The movements in contract liabilities during the year are as BHEBRFRZEEHWT :
follows:
HK$'000
FET
At 31 December 2017 RZZT—+tF+=-A=+—H =
Impact on initial application of A FE B B TSRS 2R
HKFRS 15 (note 22) F 1528 (fizF22) 4,508
At 1 January 2018 (adjusted) RZZE—N\F—H—HB (KHAX) 4,508
Decrease in contract liabilities AFRERR T —/\F
as a result of recognising revenue —A—Bit AAWBEZ I
during the year that was included %ﬁlé%’]ﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬁ%d\
in the contract liabilities
at 1 January 2018 (2,964)
Increase in contract liabilities as HEz—2—\F
a result of receiving advance TZA=+—HLFE
deposits and properties WRFEN T MBNYEERE
management fee in advance BYAHNBERE N
during the year ended
31 December 2018 3,475
At 31 December 2018 R=—Z2—N\F+=-_A=+—H 5,019

terms established in the contracts. Payments are usually
received in advance of the performance under the contracts
such as advance deposits for reservation of hotel rooms and
properties management fee received in advance.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group assess that the R_E—NF+_A=+—08 " ~xEEF
balance of contract liabilities will be fully recognised as HENBEERISIRU TR ERA
revenue as below: Wz -
2018
—B-N\F
HK$’000
FERT
Within one year —FR 3,557
More than one year HBE—F 1,462
5,019
Note: The Group receives payments from customers based on the Bt s 3$%§$E%)§é\%’9qﬂ%TXZEI’\J{%%’\WHXE)E‘H

Mo BB ENBITZATUER + 0T8T
EEEENEMNES KA EEREE -
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26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. B
Number of shares Share capital
B8R A
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF —E-N\E —E—tF
'000 '000 HK$’000 HK$'000
R T THER FET
Ordinary shares issued ERTRAR
and fully paid: MEER
As at 1 January n—H—H 456,409 456,409 292,462 292,462
Issuance of shares on RZE—\§
6 March 2018 (note (a)) = ANBEIikK
(F¥5E (a)) 90,000 - 35,100 -
Issuance of shares on RZZB—N\F
31 December 2018 (note (b)) ~+—-A=+—H
7R (BiFEE (b)) 123,649 = 41,422 =
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—8 670,058 456,409 368,984 292,462
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong RIBEBBE R UEHIE 1351 - ARRIEE
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company A& FEF(E o

do not have a par value.

Notes: B 5T

(@ On 6 March 2018, the Company has allotted and issued (@ R=T-NE=AXA " $®ﬂ€?§%
90,000,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.39 per share as part of 0.39787TAn 8 K 317 90,000,000 B E3B X -
the consideration in respect of the acquisition of 49% equity f’FZ%HﬁZE%Trije Market £2 [ 49% RS #E H) #31
interest of Triple Market Group (see note 18). KRB (RMIFE18) ©

(b)  On 31 December 2018, the Company has issued 123,648,678 () RZFT—N\F+_A=+—H ARFAER
new shares at the issue price of HK$0.335 per share to Middle #1TEHTMR0.3358 T %17 123,648,678 1%
Spring Limited, a company owned by Mr. Shen Yong for the *ﬁ%fﬁ%—ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ\%i%ﬁz/&ﬁ Middle
settlement of amount due to Mr. Shen Yong of approximately Spring Limited  SAMEZZFE(T R B Se 4 2 5R1E
HK$41,422,000. #741,422,0008 7T °

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive LTRRIFEABRBRTIRETIR RS -

dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled WRARRRAG LRI MERROHEZEE —F

to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All KERE - BARRZFREEMS © B

ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s TmR =B RERER -

residual assets.
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BB HRRM T

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

27. RESERVES

Merger reserve

Merger reserve was created as a result of the
acquisition of common control entities. It represents
the difference between the carrying amount and fair
value of subsidiaries acquired. The acquisition was
accounted for using merger accounting as detailed in
note 2.3.

Contribution reserve

Contribution reserve represents contributions from
shareholders for indemnity liabilities payable for
periods prior to 30 June 2003.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC laws applicable to wholly-
foreign owned investment enterprises, subsidiaries
of the Company operating in the PRC are required
to set up a general reserve fund and appropriate at
least 10% of respective company’s annual profit after
tax, as determined under the PRC accounting rules
and regulations, to the general reserve fund until the
balance of the reserve equals to 50% of its registered
capital. This fund can be used to make good losses
and to convert into paid-up capital.

Share options reserve

The share options reserve represents the cumulative
charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for employee share
options awards.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchanges differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2.8.

27. #&

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

aHtREE

B HHEE T A KRG R
VAR JBPﬁﬂkﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%i}fﬂEﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ
REBEZRNER - WEFERAE
HEFHEARR - FHIERME23 -

H&E A

HERBORRR -_ZEZT=FH
=t+BZABRENNBERE TN
B o

REME

@E@%%%ﬁﬁﬁm¥m$li
2 ARRRPBERENMBARIA
RE—REFEEES - XHEBER Tm
FERBRRENEED 10% (ARIEF
EEstRAERERE) BE R
ﬁ%u HEMBESRESN T
BARH50% 1k o WEEAIHAR
R MBI R A -

BRERE
BRI E B BRE R M a
freRa kA MR EmR R REIR
HEM °

BE 52 fk 8
BEE 31 i B2 AR R R B AR SN R A RO B 75

HERMELNBENZR - %i# B
RIBMIE 2 8B S RTBURERIE
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HE-_Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position and movements thereon during the
current and prior years:

EEHREAR

AT ARAEEER S MBRRKRARERLZ
I2EERBEABEANERAFERBE

Withholding
tax on
undistributed
profits from

the PRC
subsidiaries
REHE
MEATR Intangible
B AR 2 B assets Total
A B FE B BILEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT T
As at 1 January 2017 R-_ZE—+tF—H—H 1,800 5,873 7,673
Credited to profit or loss (note 12) st Az (FizE 12) - (684) (684)
As at 31 December 2017 N-B—+4F
and 1 January 2018 +=-A=+—~H
r—E—NF—HA—H 1,800 5,189 6,989
Credited to profit or loss (note 12) st Az (FizE12) - (684) (684)
As at 31 December 2018 R-ZE—N\F
+=B=+—H 1,800 4,505 6,305

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$92,639,000
(2017: HK$91,001,000) to carry forward against future
taxable income. These tax losses do not expire under
current legislation. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the above tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

The Group is also liable to withholding tax on dividends to
be distributed from the Group’s foreign-invested enterprises
in the PRC in respect of its profits generated from 1
January 2008. No deferred tax liability was recognised for
the distributable profits not yet paid out as dividends that
are generated by the PRC subsidiaries of the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

REE G RERBIARE92,639,0008
7T (ZZF—+t % : 91,001,000 7T) LAKE
ERKERTA - REBEFRITEN - 2%
BRI R BIH o fREATR A AR MR
MR - Bt IR B 1R R RRUE T
MIREE e

AEBNEARAEREFBENIINEREN
EoIRKEE (AZZEZENF—H—B MK
BB FIMES) BNENE - REE—-Z
—N\FERZE—+tF+ZA=+—HIEF
E ' ARRKFEME AR EERNARUER
B W E D KaF B EERIEETIE S

go
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

29. SECURED LOANS

As at 31 December 2018, the secured loans were
repayable as follows:

29. |WMEK

R-E—N\F+= H +—R - BERER

/,\EAT%?'JHHBEWE

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$' 000

FERT FAT

Within one year — current portion —FRN - REED 2,012 2,059
Non-current portion IETRENEL

After one year but within two years R —FZEBRRENR 2,122 2,180

After two years but within five years RMEEEREFER 7,110 7,288

After five years REF% 24,769 29,501

34,001 38,969

36,013 41,028

In September 2016, the Group signed two mortgage
loans facilities with an aggregate principal amount
of CAD7,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$41,300,000). The mortgage loans facilities are
secured by land and buildings held for own use with
carrying amount of approximately HK$82,956,000 (2017:
HK$90,023,000) (note 15) repayable within fifteen years
and bear an interest rate of 2% plus prime rate per annum
and guaranteed by Mr. Shen Ke. The loan facilities will be
reviewed periodically until maturity date. In the opinions of
the directors of the Company, the effective interest rate of
the secured loans was 5.6% (2017: 4.8%) per annum for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

EA:7

NENA  AEERFTMIBIRE

EXRmEBRAZERA7,000,000007T

(*B;?Eé,.mLsoo,oooi%ﬁ) o
KR E A BREE 482,

HERIBE
956,000/ 7T (=&

—+£ 4 : 90,023,000 7T) (M 15) BFF

B AR i RABFEE -

ARTRER

B FEX/REBBEMEMN2E  HH

TSR o
ERREE

F:48EF) o

ZEE R E S 2 B AT
TT):F_H\HmuT $ T%%wuﬁ
Z-\FE+A=+—HIt
FEHNEBRNERFREL6E (ZF—

& EHA

+
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

30. BONDS 30. &%
2018 2017
—E-N\F E—+ 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Bonds carried at fixed coupon rate 1R EF 6% EF ZEEF KT8
of 6% per annum (note (a)) MES (FI5E () 20,000 20,000
Bonds carried at fixed coupon rate 12 & F 8% [EF ZHE F F K5 E
of 8% per annum (note (b)) KfESH (FFEE (b)) 20,000 20,000
Bonds carried at fixed coupon rate 12 EF 3% EF ZEFF KA
of 3% per annum (note (c)) #ES (FIzE(c) 10,000 10,000
Bonds carried at fixed coupon rate 1R EF 3% EF ZmEEF KT8
of 3% per annum (note (d)) ESH (M) 10,181 -
60,181 50,000

Notes:

(b)

(c)

(d)

The Company entered into two placing agreements with a
placing agent issued two 6% coupon unlisted bonds on 6
August 2014 and 10 October 2014 with the aggregate principal
amount of HK$10,000,000 each within the placing period. The
amounts are repayable within 96 months from the date of issue,
which are 5 August 2022 and 9 October 2022 respectively.

The Company issued two 8% coupon unlisted bonds with the
aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 each on 23
January 2015 and 1 June 2015 respectively. The amounts are
repayable within 96 months and 60 months respectively from
the date of issue, which are 22 January 2023 and 31 May 2020
respectively.

The Company issued a 3% coupon unlisted bond with the
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 on 1 December 2017 to
Mr. Shen Ke. The amount is repayable within 84 months from
the date of issue, which is 30 November 2024.

The Company issued a bond with the principal amount of
HK$10,181,000 as part of the consideration in respect of the
acquisition of the joint ventures during the year (note 18). The
bond bears interest rate at 3% per annum and is unsecured.
The amount is repayable within 36 months from the date of
issue, which is 5 March 2021.

(b)

(c)

(d)

ANE - REENREBI MO E HE -
MRAZZE—NENANBER-_Z—NFE+
RTHREHABRTROASBLESR
10,000,000 7T « ZEFHE B6% HFE L
MEH - ZELBANEITH R 6@
RAAEE A AT =-=_F)\R*A
BR-—ZE-—%+HhA-

ARRR_BE—AF—A=+=AK=ZF
—AFRNA—HBERITROASCLES A
10,000,000 7T « ZEFF K A58% KIEE
MES - ZSSFAD BINETAR
96 & A Ke0EARNEE  BIHASR A=
Z;_E A=Z+=BK=Z2=ZFHA
= (=

ARARZT—+F+ZA-ABT—HE
% #8/510,000,000/8 7T T ERAT £ 4 - FRTH
FEREA3% M ETES - ZRESBEER
FITAMEAEANEE  SMA A=
ToNFE+—A=t+H"-

ARARBEIT—MALEEA10,181,000%F T
TS AERERKEA SOE Y B R(E
(FizE18) - EHIRFEIEE - B IR
o ZeBARIETH R 36M[EANRE
B HHAA—T—_—F=AAH-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES WITH LOSS

31. HEMBAR (BB R EEHIE)

OF CONTROL
2017
4
HK$'000
FET
Loss from discontinued operations BRI E TS 2 B1E (33,182)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB R RS 47,399
Profit from discontinued operations B IE K& R 2 ET 14,217

Disposal of Kwang Sung Electronics

Holdings Limited

In May 2017, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interest in Kwang Sung Electronics Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries (collectively as “Kwang Sung Group”) to
an independent third party, at a total cash consideration of
HK$3,000,000. Kwang Sung Group carried out all of the
Group’s electronics components business. The disposal
was completed on 16 June 2017. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 16 June 2017.

HEXEEFERERAA

RZZE—+tFRHA AEEUBASRE
3,000,000 Tt —BYE=HF HEHER
HEBETFIERERARREKBAR (7
BEITLEEE]) MEERE - LESHE
KEAREBMMBEE T LHER - Bl
EER-_ZE—tF A+ BEK - @
HEFLHAR TR T —LEF AT
Elz/—\:lzo
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31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES WITH LOSS
OF CONTROL (Continued)

Disposal of Kwang Sung Electronics
Holdings Limited (Continued)

. HEWB AT (EHXEEHE)

(48)
HEXEEFERERAA (K)

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
FAT
Total consideration received BB RE 3,000
Analysis of assets and liabilities R EEFIREN
over which control was lost EEREBHNDT
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIRS 14,295
Property, plant and equipment VI - HES R 15,915
Club memberships e 600
Inventories FE 37,463
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A EIKERFR 58,355
Trade and other payables B 5 REMER IR (171,766)
Amount due from holding company JEUWERR A R FIB 14,136
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBEFE (31,002)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB A
Total cash consideration HEeRRE 3,000
Less: Yo
— Net liabilities disposed of —Eﬁ%%%@ﬁ (31,002)
— Novation of amount due - S REMIZERR A B 5RIE
from holding company EITHBER (14,136)
— Exchange difference released - HEMRBARRED
upon disposal of subsidiaries HORE 5 Z= %A 739
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR (47,399)
Net cash outflow arising from the disposal: B & E 4RI & F5E ¢
Cash consideration received BUERERE 3,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B HERE RIRESEEY (14,295)
Outflow of cash and cash equivalents RHEMBARIRE 2
in respect of disposal of subsidiaries Re MRSEEY (11,295)
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31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES WITH LOSS 31. HEMB AR (BEH X EEHE)
OF CONTROL (Continued) (#&)
Disposal of Kwang Sung Electronics HEXEEFERERAE (&)
Holdings Limited (Continued)
The losses from Kwang Sung Group for the preceding year T FEXESREMEENBES TN
are analysed as follows: e
From 1 January to
16 June 2017
H_T—+F
—A—H=Z
~NAT~B
HK$'000
THT
Revenue s 100,114
Cost of sales SHER A (130,226)
Gross loss £ (30,112)
Other income HAplA 10,075
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R HERAX (4,682)
Administrative expenses THFAXZ (5,985)
Research and development expenses HEF (1,639)
Other operating expenses HAu &R (391)
Loss before income tax BRETIS LA ES 18 (32,734)
Income tax expenses FriSfif s (448)
Loss for the year REEERE (33,182)
Net cashflows attributable to Kwang Sung Group is set out HEEBERMZIRSTREFHOT ¢
as follows:
2017
—E—tF
HK$' 000
THT
Net cash used in operating activities KETEB TR IS F5E (4,837)
Net cash generated from investing activites  RERE/EE 2B F58 1,709
Net cash outflows for the year REFRERHFHE (3,128)
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32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

CONTRIBUTIONS

Hong Kong

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income. The mandatory contributions from each
of the employer and employees are subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 per month. Contributions to the MPF scheme
vest immediately.

The PRC

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC participate in a
defined contribution scheme organised by the PRC
municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a specified percentage of its payroll costs to the
scheme. The contributions are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
scheme.

Canada

Employees in Canada participate in a Canada Pension
Plan (the “Plan”) which is a mandatory scheme under
Canada Pension Plan Regulations. The employer and
the employees are required to make a total contribution
of 9.9% on the pensionable earnings, subject to a cap
of pensionable earnings of CAD55,900 (equivalent to
approximately HK$321,000) (2017: CAD53,600 (equivalent
to approximately HK$333,000)).

32. BAKIERISHE 2 3K

i

AEBRE (FBRHMERBS BRI
BRBEEECERBRDD FERZER R
HoRtE et - BB HBIL(ER
ANEBZ RERFUENGE - RizwES
itE BERHEEBEESBARESERK
AZ5% Z L PIshat BIE R - BER
BEZBZRHHKERRE A 15008
TC o RSB ZHARBIR K R E S
& o

T E

AEERTEMBAR2EHHETHR
[FEm 2z EBERE - HBRARER
BB B3 &M E L P shat E1E 1
A o BN EAR B SR A 4R
ARENMEMEERERAHE o

mex

MERZEEZEMEABZREASE
([&&tEl)) - ER—BIZBZORAREIER
2R HIERIRET 8 o RIBEZETE B
KMEBARE ARAZEH9.9%1FH
K _ERR M A £ 55,900 I (B85
F 49321,0007% 7T (—ZF —+ 4 : 53,600
iyt (FEER%)333,00087T)) °

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 179

—B-\FH§




i\\/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB HRRN

(@)

(b)

33. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December

33. &iE

(a)

BRI

R-FB-\F+-A=1+—H8 A&

2018 not provided for in the consolidated financial RERE MG MR P IRBLER 2 MR
statements are as follows: NEAREERNT :
2018 2017
—2-\&| =—T—+#
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FixT FAET
Contracted for 2ET4Y - 44,501
Operating lease commitments (b) REHERKIE

As at 31 December 2018, the total future minimum

RZZE-N\F+-A=1+—8 R

lease payments under non-cancellable operating TR S E 2 RRSEHEERK
leases are payable as follows: THABFR/AR NHIBE AT -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Within one year —FR 1,890 1,850
In the second to fifth years RE_FEEFRF
inclusive (BEEEMT) 3,151 4,859
5,041 6,709
Operating lease payments represent rentals payables KEHEREEASERE THAE

by the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases
are negotiated for an average term of 3 years (2017:
3 years) for the Group. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

MEZENEE - NEBZHOKLE
BRFHRHI=F (ZT—tF:

5

ZERORrems Al -
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34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

35.

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company has issued a bond with the principal
amount of HK$10,181,000 and allotted 90,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.39 per share as a part of
the total consideration in respect of the acquisition of
Triple Market Group (see note 18).

(i) On 31 December 2018, the Company has issued
123,648,678 new shares at the issue price of
approximately HK$0.335 per share to Middle Spring
Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Shen Yong
for the settlement of an amount due to Mr. Shen Yong
of approximately HK$41,422,000.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) on 3 June 2013 whereby the directors of the
Company are authorised, at their discretion, to invite,
among other eligible participants, employees of the Group
(including directors of any member of the Group), advisers
and consultants, to take up options to subscribe for shares
of the Company. Each option gives the holders the right
to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company. The
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
ending on 2 June 2023, after which no further options can
be granted.

As at 31 December 2018, the number of shares in
respect of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the Scheme were 78,030,527 (2017:
32,389,693) shares. The total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of these options granted
under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. The number of shares issued and
to be issued in respect of which options granted and may
be granted to any individual in any year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant;
(ii) the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

4. TEEHEXS

35.

() B#E2EZFT—-—N\NF+=ZHAH=+—H
EEE ARAIBBETASHEA
10,181,000 L 2 &% + & B B %
90,000,000 % & 1% 0.3978 7T 2 & i
A% - VE AU EE Triple Market 52 & #9320
DHERE (RMEE18) -

iy RZTBE—N\F+-_A=+—H" 'K
NAEREITESRL0.335 8T
17123,648,678 R ¥TR% 1D F — M A &
B2 EWE 22" Middle Spring
Limited + AEEFEFTERB LA 2 BUR
#4941,422,0008 7T o

UEZSEE RN SER ST

BEARTNR-_E—=FA=BHFH
BT S ([FT81))  ARREFERE
WiER (BEEMEERREE) AEEE
8 (BREAEBEREIMKERRIZES) -
B MEAARLEMNBREZZH - A
REBARQRIRGD - FHBRELRERS
ARBE—IRARRE B - sHEIBERE A
+F HEE-_T=F,AZHBIt H%
AR BB YN AR A o

R-_ZE—N\E+-_A=+—8  BE:t
EIRERERITEZEBREMNS R 2K
DE B /78030527 (—ZFE—+ &
32,389,693 %) - RIFFTEIR L 2 ZE 8
IEERITERA] T EIT 2R DB TSR
BARRRIIEAD 2 30% - MBAEEFLEEA
NAMRE 2 #fE - EARBREEART K
RZHET  WEM—FRTFRAKRTE
AEA 2 BARREFTF Rz BB 1T M T8
TRMHE B TER IR RBBADRD
BTN Z21%

TEERAARESEE - T2ERNUT
BeE () AR PR H B #Z kS
& : (i) KO REZRRH BN AEEEA
B FIIUT(E ¢ R (i AR AR ZHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

No consideration is payable on the grant of an option.
Options may be exercised after vesting period and the

exercisable period is set out below.

SSU&m
x5 (&)

BB BB X1

BEREANR LBRER N - BE
AR ERBAIRITE - 1T T -

Fair value
per share
option
at grant date
Category of Exercise ~ SHEBRE
participant Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period price REHAH
SEEER RIELAH HRA T8 TEE zDAAEE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Directors
Es
Mr. Gan Lin 4 May 2018 4 May 2018 4 May 2019 0415 0.25
HELE “E-\FRANKA to 3 May 2019 to 3 May 2028
—E-\§hANAZE T-NERANAZE
—E-NERA=H _7_)\$£ﬂ H
Mr. Huang Xiang 20 January 2017 20 January 2017 20 January 2020 047 0.28
Yang S Sy By o = to 19 January 2020 to 19 January 2027
BRGEE “Z—+tF-AZtR%E “Z-TE-A-THE
“Z-ZE-ATAA “Zt¥-ATtAA
Mr. Shen Yong 20 January 2017 20 January 2017 20 January 2020 047 0.28
RELE “E—+#—-A=1H to 19 January 2020 to 19 January 2027
“E—tF-AZtAZE “Z-TE-R-THE
“E-TE-RtNH “E-tE-AtNhA
Mr. Shen Yong 4 May 2018 4 May 2018 4 May 2019 0415 0.25
RELE - \FhAEAH to 3 May 2019 to 3 May 2028
“Z-)/\$HANBE T-NEFRANAZE
—T-NFRA=H _7_)\$fﬁﬂ H
Mr. Shen Ke 20 January 2017 20 January 2017 20 January 2020 047 0.28
B AE “Z—+F-A=FH to 19 January 2020 to 19 January 2027
“T+¥-A-tR% “T_EF-A-tRZ%
“Z-TE-RTNHA “ZtF¥-AthA
Mr. Shen Ke 4 May 2018 4 May 2018 4 May 2019 0415 0.25
B4 - \FRAKEA to 3 May 2019 to 3 May 2028
—E-\§$hAMAZE T-NFLANRZE
“ZT-NFRA=H _7_}\@3)5] A
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35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 35. LM&rm EEURMASEBNEZMA

PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

No consideration is payable on the grant of an option.
Options may be exercised after vesting period and the
exercisable period is set out below. (Continued)

X5 ()

BEREANR LBRER N - BE

AIRBBERITE - fTEHIT - ()

Fair value
per share
option
at grant date
Category of Exercise ~ SHEBRE
participant Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period price REHAH
SEEER RIELAH HRA T8 TEE zDAAEE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Employees
&S
Employees 20 January 2017 20 January 2017 20 January 2020 0.47 0.25
E& “E—+#%—-A=1H to 19 January 2020 to 19 January 2027
“Z—+t¥-A-tRZ% “Z-TF-A-tRZE
“Z-Z5-ATAA “Zt¥-RATtAA
Employees 4 May 2018 4 May 2018 4 May 2019 0415 0.22
B2 “E-\FRANKAH to 3 May 2019 to 3 May 2028
T \fhAMAZE E-NERAMABZE
“E-NFRA=H T \FRA=H
Others
Hits
Other eligible 4 May 2018 4 May 2018 4 May 2019 0415 0.25
participants ~ —F—\FHAMAH to 3 May 2019 to 3 May 2028
Hiha &R “T-\FRHAMAZE “Z-NEHAWAZE
2% ‘*—HEEH A _7_}\¢£H =
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35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s

35u&m

X5 (&

TERERFRNEZREEBFENADAE

BB AER ST

i)

share options held by directors and employees during the year: RIENEBIENR
2018 —E-N\F
Outstanding
Outstanding as at
as at 31 December 2018
Category of 1 January 2018 Granted Forfeited RZE-N\F
participant Date of grant R-E-N\F during the year during the year +=R=+-H
SEREER REBH —A—BEXRTE ERRIE ERRW fe KATHE
Directors
EE
Mr.Gan Lin 4 May 2018 - 3,240,499 - 3,240,499
HARELE —T— Aﬁﬁﬂma
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang 20 January 2017 2,105,330 - - 2,105,330
BRGEE —E—+HF-A=+H
Mr. Shen Yong 20 January 2017 323,898 - - 323,898
RESE —Z—+5-RZ+H
Mr. Shen Yong 4 May 2018 - 456,408 - 456,408
AELE —T-\FRAMEA
Mr. Shen Ke 20 January 2017 3,238,970 - - 3,238,970
B “E—+5-RA=+H
Mr. Shen Ke 4 May 2018 - 4,564,083 - 4,564,083
BRfEE - \&RANA
Employees
E&
Employees 20 January 2017 26,721,495 - - 26,721,495
E& “Z—+5-RA=+H
Employees 4 May 2018 - 28,251,678 - 28,251,678
(== T-\5HAMA
Others
Hity
Other elglble participants 4 May 2018 - 9,128,166 - 9,128,166
HiwggRgRE —%— Aﬁﬁﬂmﬁ
32,389,693 45,640,834 - 78,030,527
Number of options
exercisable at the
_end of the year =
AR
BRI A
We|ghted average
exercise price HK$Q.A§
IMET1TREE BT
Weighted average
contractual life 8.8 years
IETHE K HR F
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35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s

UEZGEE RS SERS T
X5 ()

TEREEFAEZLEEFENETARRE

35.

share options held by directors and employees during the RIENZEIER (B) :
year (Continued):
2017 —E—+F
Outstanding
Outstanding as at
as at 31 December 2017
Category of 1 January 2017 Granted Forfeited R-ZE—+F
participant Date of grant R-E-+& during the year during the year +=A=1+-H
SEEER REASH  —A-BERTE & EmRK e RATRE
Directors
£z
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang 20 January 2017 - 2,105,330 - 2,105,330
"G L E —Z—+5-RZ+H
Mr. Shen Ke 20 January 2017 - 3,238,970 - 3,238,970
BfEAE —E—+F-A-+H
Mr. Shen Yong 20 January 2017 - 323,898 - 323,898
RELE —T—+F-A=TH
Employees
&g
Employees 20 January 2017 - 26,721,495 - 26,721,495
E& “ZT—+tF-A=+H
- 32,389,693 - 32,389,693
Number of options
exercisable at the
end of the year -
RERITHEH
BREEE
Weighted average
exercise price HK$0.47
IIHETIR1THE(E BT
Weighted average
contractual life 9.0 years
IETHE K ER F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The total fair values of the options granted at the grant
date is HK$10,651,000 (2017: HK$8,217,000). The
Group recognised the total expense of approximately
HK$9,840,000 (2017: HK$2,739,000) for the year ended
31 December 2018 in relation to share options granted by
the Company.

The fair value was calculated using the binomial option
pricing model. The key inputs into the model were as
follows:

2018

Grant date share price HK$0.42
Exercise price HK$0.42
Expected volatility 74.71%
Option life 10 years
Dividend yield 0%
Risk-free interest rate 2.22%
Early exercise multiple for director 2.8
Early exercise multiple for employee 2.2
2017

Grant date share price HK$0.46
Exercise price HK$0.47
Expected volatility 76.47%
Option life 10 years
Dividend yield 0%
Risk-free interest rate 1.81%
Early exercise multiple for director 2.8
Early exercise multiple for employee 2.2

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of Company’s share price. The expected life used
in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate. Share options
were granted under a service condition. This condition
has not been taken into account in the grant date fair
value measurement of the services received. There was
no market conditions associated with the share options
granted.

35 MEHGE RN AER T

X5 ()

REHBHEIOBRENAABE
4% 510,651,000 70 (—Z&F — = F:
8,217,000/&7T) - HZEZ-ZT—)\F+_H
=+—HLFE  AEBEREAQARFLH
BB RE R 4ARE 2 499,840,000 T (— &
—+4F : 2,739,00087T) °

DA EETER AT EER
B A FBHARBMT -

—EB-N\E

R HEZRE 0.428 7T
11 (E 0.42 T
TEHIR I8 74.71%
SRR AE A U 104
SRS 0%
42 B g ) 2.22%
BEEZIRATTEGE 2.8
BB ZIRAITTIFEEER 2.2
—E—tF

BB ZRE 0.46 87T
1TEE 0.47 87T
TEHRR 18 76.47%
RS i WA 104
i B & 0%
42 B &2 ) R 1.81%
EE2RAITTERGH 2.8
BB 2 IRATT{EREE 2.2

TEHR IR T iR AR R A (B 2 I SR K bR
E o ZBREAZ A BERNEREEE
ZEAEEFT A R R TR
HRITRERARZZEEHAE -

BEHREDERELREETE - THIES
ABBEBRNESRGH R ABEMGE
RERTE - B TRE —HRB R
R - Rt EMESREZREBHARA
(B BRI 82 UL R - BT h 2 B iaE
I EAISERIT -
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36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed

36. EXFBR 5

BRAER A MR R M T INE X5

elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the REEERIN  REBEFT A TERNBBR
Group entered into the following material related party Z
transactions:
(@) Transactions with related parties (a) FABExR 5
The Group had the following material transactions MAEE - NREED AT E KRB
with related parties during the year: 2
Name of company Nature of transactions 2018 2017
YNGR REME —ZE-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Biys FTHERT T
Chongging Forebase Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 3,860 1,978
Industry Investment service fee received
(Holding_s) Co., Ltd* or receivables .
EFREEHE (KH) BN ERDEEEREE
BRAT]
Chongging Forebase Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 854 994
Property Development Co., Ltd*  service fee received
EEREEMERE or receivables
BRAF] BN ERDEEEREE
Chongging Liangping Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 1,808 1,829
Daisi Zhiye Co., Ltd* service fee received
EERFEMEX or receivables
BERAA ERRERNEEREREE
Chongging Tianma Property Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 301 145
Development Co., Ltd* service fee received
BEERBYERR or receivables
BERAA B RS RE R E
Chongging Bozhuang Shiye Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 3,757 3,653
Co., Ltd* service fee received
EEMBEXEARAA or receivables
BN ERDEEEREE
Chongging Tiane Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 238 -
International Travel service fee received
Co., Ltd Chengshi or receivables
Hotel Branch* ) "
SEABERIRS BRI B R R R
BRAREMTEE
/'\/‘\j
Mr. Shen Ke Bond interest paid or payables (d) 300 37
Rl A B KERESFE

*

The English translation of the names of
the companies established in the PRC is
for reference only. The official name of the
companies are in Chinese.

*

R BRI AR R Z KX GERERS
Z o NAIE A BBUEERTR o
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36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following material related party
transactions (Continued):

(@) Transactions with related parties
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

These transactions were carried out at terms determined
and agreed by the Group and the relevant parties. The
contracts do not have any expiry date until owners’
committee is formed and the owners’ committee can re-
appoint the service provider. As at 31 December 2018
and 2017, no owners’ committee is set up.

Mr. Shen Yong, the controlling shareholder of the
Company has beneficial interest in these companies.

The related party transactions in respect of above
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules are provided in section “Connected
Transactions” of the Report of the Directors of this
annual report.

The related party transactions above constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. However, those transactions are exempt from the
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules as they are conducted on normal commercial
terms or better and not secured by the assets of the
Group under Rule 14A.90.

36. EXEABIR 5 (4)

[GN

N
Nl

PIEMR MU T FIREZR S

KRN REBRISL A TEXREBRZ S
(HE) .

(a)

BB 5 ()

MEE

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BERGTVIRAEBERRAALEE
K BRI ERTETT - ZF A ML EIE
MEMSMAE BEEXITZEGRIR
1 BEREIZRE A EBRZERE
RES R \FR_ZT—+LF

tASt-B - LERIREER
ADTEBB R BB EENLZAT
e

LA S ETARAE 14AE
TEZBAERGIIFERERS -
TRAIZE 14AZRE 2 BN AFH
BEEOWEE [FERS] —fieft -

PiEm R S @mR ETRE 14AE
EELLAERGRIFEMEZS - R
i - AR AR A 14A.90 iR 7064
£ 5 Thin— R E A FIR R 5K
HIT - WIFRAEE 2 BEFERM
iﬂ(%@%%?tﬁiﬁﬂ']%l%ﬁZ?&ﬁ
R
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36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Key management personnel
compensation

The remuneration of directors and other members of
key management personnel during the year were as

36. EXEABR 5 ()

(b) TEEEBASZME

EERHMFEEREBABNEAZ
5T

follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E=—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FAT
Short-term benefits HHEIRA 5,771 7,928
Post-employment benefits BER 2 1R A 36 42

Equity-settled share-based VARE 25 45 8 ARR (9
payments expenses REROZNHAEZ 2,126 744
7,933 8,714

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

Other than the related party transactions disclosed
above, no other transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company or a connected entity
of the director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

EENEBITHAB ZF Mo B
REEELREARBEEMGBEME
T o

B EXHEZBBI BN  RERIAF
BEAREAEE  ARrRMETEARRE
ERARREFC REERERARER
BEARBZEARS  RHFHAK
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

37. ZRRAZMBERAF

2018 2017
—2—NE| —T—tfF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - HES R - -
Interests in subsidiaries I EVNGIPA Fa 24 =
24 -
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H fib i BR TR 1,213 1,213
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUH B A R 7R 80,999 99,953
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 96 8,154
82,308 109,320
Current liabilities REIAE
Other payables H {th FE AT BR X 3,997 3,123
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEI B A B F0R 2,392 1,600
Current taxation BIHEARH IR 4,000 4,000
10,389 8,723
Net current assets REBEEFE 71,919 100,597
Total assets less current liabilities & E&ERTHEE 71,943 100,597
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Amount due to a director BN —REEFHIE 3,315 45,961
Bonds (=5 60,181 50,000
63,496 95,961
Net assets EEFE 8,447 4,636
Capital and reserves BERRHE
Share capital &N 368,984 292,462
Reserves i (a) (360,537) (287,826)
Total equity R 8,447 4,636
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors RZE-NF=ZAZt+t+tHEEZESSE
on 27 March 2019. RIEREEETT o
Shen Yong Gan Lin
B HE&
Director Director
EE s
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

37. ZRAZMBERRF (B)

Note (a): Fi3E (a) :
Share
Contribution options Exchange Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve Losses* Total
HERE BRERE ER ARG REtEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHAT FHIT FHT FHT
As at 1 January 2017 R-_Z—+F—H—H 8,478 - (12,623) (279,210) (283,355)
Loss for the year and total AEEBERAFE
comprehensive expense 2ERLBE
for the year - - - (7,210) (7,210)
Recognition of equity-settled R S E AR D
share-based payments Eﬁﬁ"’*ﬁ'}ﬁﬁs&%
transactions (note 36) (Ff=E36) = 2,739 = = 2,739
As at 31 December 2017 R —tF
and 1 January 2018 +=ZA=+—8kK
—E—NF—H—H 8,478 2,739 (12,623) (286,420) (287,826)
Loss for the year and total NEEBERAFE
comprehensive expense 2HEFZERE
for the year - - - (82,551) (82,551)
Recognition of equity-settled RS AE AR D
share-based payments BERNIARS
transactions (note 36) (FIE36) = 9,840 = = 9,840
As at 31 December 2018 R-F-N\F
+=A=+—H 8,478 12,579 (12,623) (368,971) (360,537)
* Accumulated losses represented the distributable reserve of the * RETBIBIEARQ A 2 A D IRERE -
Company.
38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 38. sRERREERALEEE
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of REEFZANBELSBIEPERAZER
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations. TEAX2mER - SFERBEINE
The financial risks include foreign currency risk, credit Rpe - EERR - FMERRRRBE SR
risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The management br o EEEERERERRE Igﬁ\nﬁﬁllil IR
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure R A B BEEGE B e - AEB AT
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and ZERERNEBER EATYL—JL:IFHJ °
effective manner. The most significant financial risk to
which the Group is exposed as discussed below.
There has been no change to the types of the Group’s AEB@ER eI AR ABERSH
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner ERRFTERR NI EED o
in which it manages and measures the risks.
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BB HRRN

38.2

liabilities

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

38.1 Categories of financial assets and

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated

38. CRAEREERARBEEFE

(%

=]

==
=]

)

381 cHBERBENE

RERE M IBEARNKR 25 Z BRE{ETH

statement of financial position relate to the following RUTEmEERERBEDTE
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHxT FAT
Financial assets: EWMEE -
Financial assets measured REER AT EZ
at amortised cost SEEE
— Trade and other receivables — & 5 N H b fE IR X 36,498 31,260
— Bank balances and cash - IRITEB KRR S 7,757 13,027
44,255 44 287
Financial liabilities: cRaE:
Financial liabilities measured X5 A1 8 2
at amortised cost TRIBE
— Trade and other payables - B 5 REMERRRK 11,972 12,687
— Amount due to a director - BN —REEHIE 3,315 45,961
— Amount due to related - FESTEEEE A T/TAIE
companies 7,157 3,590
— Secured loans — EIRFE 36,013 41,028
- Bonds -&¥ 60,181 50,000
118,638 153,266

Foreign currency risk

The Group are exposed to foreign currency risk
primarily through sales and purchases which give
rise to receivables, payables and bank balances that
are denominated in a foreign currency i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations
to which the transactions relate. The currencies
giving rise to the risk are primarily USD, RMB and
CAD. The Group ensure that the net exposure is kept
to an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates where necessary to address

short-term imbalances.

38.2 5k E B
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

38.2 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. The Group does not expose to significant
foreign currency risk as at 31 December 2018.

38.3 Credit risk

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties provided by the
Group is arising from the carrying amount of
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In the Group has concentration of credit risk as 37%
(2017: 35%) and 98% (2017: 92%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.

Effective on 1 January 2018
()  Trade receivables

The Group’s policy is to deal only with credit
worthy counterparties. Credit terms are granted
to new customers after a credit worthiness
assessment by the credit control department.
Where available at reasonable cost, external
credit ratings and/or reports on customers are
obtained and used. Customers who are not
considered creditworthy are required to pay
in advance or on delivery of goods. Payment
record of customers is closely monitored. It is
not the Group’s policy to request collateral from
its customers.

38. CRAEREERALBEFE
(4&)

38.2 ShiEFELBR (4B)
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(1)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

38.3 Credit risk (Continued)
Effective on 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In addition, as set out in note 2.12, the Group
assesses ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade
receivables based on provision matrix, the
expected loss rates are based on the payment
profile for sales in the past 24 months as well as
the corresponding historical credit losses during
that period. The historical rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forwarding looking
macroeconomic factors affecting the customer’s
ability to settle the amount outstanding. At the
end of each reporting period, the historical
default rates are updated and changes in
the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
However, given the short period exposed to
credit risk, the impact of these macroeconomic
factors has not been considered significant
within the reporting period.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e.
derecognised) when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Failure to make
payments within 365 days by third party from
the invoice date and failure to engage with the
Group on alternative payment arrangement
amongst other is considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

As at 31 December 2018, Mr. Shen Yong,
the controlling shareholder, had undertaken
to indemnify the Group against any losses
that may result from the non-recovery of the
trade receivables from related companies
of HK$26,580,000 and agreed that these
amounts are secured by a pledge of an asset of
an amount of approximately HK$41,422,000
owned by Mr. Shen Yong. The loss allowance
of trade receivables on 31 December 2018
amounted to HK$6,611,000.

38. CRAEREERALBEFE
(4&)

38.3 EEREMR (&)
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. sRARREER A AEBEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (48)
(Continued)

38.3 REER (&)
REF-NF—R—AEX (&

38.3 Credit risk (Continued)
Effective on 1 January 2018 (Continued)

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (i) KA GTEREM S E
V3

Other financial assets at amortised cost include REEKAFTENEtMERE
other receivables and bank balances and cash. EREAEMBEWKIARRITE
In order to minimise the credit risk of other BRIIRE o BRI E th B K
receivables, the management of the Group has ENEERRE  AEEERE
designated a team responsible for determination EZk—HEBEBEEEREE
of credit limits and credit approvals. The RELEEMHZ BEERBRE
management would make periodic collective BRSHETHEERBELRNU
and individual assessment on the recoverability NI NI E R - 8 H b R UK
of other receivables based on historical FRIB R AT Y B 1% F HR T 2[R
settlement records and past experience as &1.?3” Ml AEBRBEAM
well as current external information. Other EREF - NERERIEER
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure Je U [e] 280 BR & 7% o ?ﬁ&tﬁﬁ? '
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue E b IENEER R R
debts. In these regards, the credit risk of other BRI o
receivables are considered to be low.
The Group measures the loss allowance of other AEBGEHMEKRERNE
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless BERESRI2EAEHREES
when there has been a significant increase in B BRIFBVHREREEER
credit risk since initial recognition. B KR AN o
After the management assessment of B E ST A AT = 1 K iit%
recoverability and on-going business BRARE - RAEMEREK
relationship, the management is of opinion that 715 B 2 B 30 48 K @ 38 00 -
there is no significant increase in credit risk on KR FE2.12FTEH A %
other receivables as the risk of default is low % - BHIRREIE -
after considering the factors as set out in note
2.12.

(i) Bank balances and cash (i) RITEHLRER
The credit risks on bank balances and cash RITHEBNIIBEENEERRE
are considered to be insignificant because the REBVTEXN ARERZH
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings FREBBREAFRAEERT
assigned by international credit-rating agencies. =1z AR RIIRTT ©
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38. ‘Z%_'n%ﬂ AREERALEEAE
"'E

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

38.4 Interest rate risk 38.4 FIZE & &

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to the amount due to a director (see note
24) and bonds (see note 30) bearing fixed rates.
The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management of
the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider other necessary action when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank deposits and secured loans
(see note 29) bearing variable rates.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of (i) prevailing
market rates arising from the Group’s secured loans
and bank balances denominated in HK$, USD and
CAD and (ii) RMB base deposit rate stipulated by the
People’s Bank of China arising from the Group’s bank
balances denominated in RMB.

AEBAEEREN—ZESEHE (R
fiFE24) REBES (RKFE30) |
B AR EENEER o A%E B AL
REIEMEREHEE - EAREEERE
EBEYIESRNEER - AN IEAH
B8 AN 2= [ ol 1 By SRR EL At 6 22
B ©

REBTREEERITERREBERER
(RKI5E29) ﬁﬁuniﬁé/ﬂbgiﬁj—?—ﬂ 5 ©

AEENREREMNREBREFRO)
REBAETT « RTRITFHERNE
WERMIRTTERARIRITHIS N R
BB K (i) RNEEAAREFHERR
TTRBARATBEARRITAMOA
B B TF SR R Ep -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. sREREERAREEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#)
(Continued)
38.4 Interest rate risk (Continued) 38.4 FZEE PR (48)
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRFIAEENF RSB ERR
the Group’s interest bearing financial liabilities at the HEIRAFEIFR -
end of the reporting period.
2018 2017
—E-N\HF —E—tF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BERF=E HRF =
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
FHET THT
Fixed rate EEEE
borrowings:
Amount due to [Eft—RES
a director FRIE 1.3 3,315 13 45,961
Bonds &H 5.6 60,181 3.0-8.0 50,000
63,496 95,961
Variable rate FEEE:
borrowings:
Secured loans EHREK 5.6 36,013 4.8 41,028
Total borrowings EE®E 99,509 136,989
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

384

38.5

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments as at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points (2017: 10 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. The
amount due to a director (see note 24) and bonds (see
note 30) bearing fixed rates is not exposed to material
interest rate risk, therefore, no sensitivity analysis is
presented. If interest rates had been 50 basis points
(2017: 10 basis points) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s loss for
the year ended 31 December 2018 would increase/
decrease HK$180,000 (2017: HK$41,000).

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserve of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table show the details of the remaining
contractual maturities as at 31 December 2018
and the Group’s non-derivative liabilities and
derivative liabilities which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current as at the end of each reporting
period) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.

38. CRAEREERALBEFE

(4&)

38.4

38.5
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Z(ZZF—+F : I01EEZ) mATA
Hih @S gHre  JAEEEE—
E-NE+-_A=+—HULEENE
BN, /4> 180,000 T (=
—+4F : 41,0007T) °

mBE AR
REBZBRREREERDTESH
2 - UHEREAEF RO REE LA
AESREBISERNAHEE SR
B tmmeERBRRRERDES
TRFVIR - NFT+A=1+—
AAREEITAEBBRITERENE
TERFEER - TIRBAEKIARE
Iﬁﬁmbi ( a%ﬁﬁﬁa\%’ﬁﬂ?i HIJ'J
RZR) REREHR 2 BNEAF 5t
BZHMEBRFR) RASER]EAEENK
WExF AERE o

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

198

REBEBREZERERD A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-Z-\E+_A=1+—RLHFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. TREREERAREBEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#8)
(Continued)
38.5 Liquidity risk (Continued) 385 MEEEER (B
2018 —B—\F
More than More than
On demand one year two years Total
or within ~ but less than  but less than undiscounted
one year two years five years More than cash flows Carrying
RERY BB—F BBME fiveyears KEBEES amount
—-Fx BFRIWmE EFILEF Jihickig:d RELR BEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR THET TR
Non-derivative financial FTELRER
liabilities
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENERR 11,972 - - - 11,972 11,972
Amount due to a director ER—2EEHE - 3,315 - - 3,315 3,315
Amounts due to related ipiz) NG
companies 7,157 - - - 7,157 7,157
Secured loans ERER 3,917 3,931 11,792 30,489 50,129 36,013
Bonds &% 3,405 12,936 44,805 10,264 71,410 60,181
26,451 20,182 56,597 40,753 143,983 118,638
2017 —T—+tF
More than More than
On demand one year two years Total
orwithin  butlessthan  but less than undiscounted
one year two years five years More than cash flows Carrying
REK R —F BB F fiveyears  AREFREE amount
—FR  ErEmRE  ETHREF jihohikas mEEE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T THET T T
Non-derivative financial FTELRER
liabilities
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMNERR 12,687 = = = 12,687 12,687
Amount due to a director E—REZHE = 47,997 = = 47,997 45961
Amounts due to related ipiz)NGE e
companies 3,590 - - - 3,590 3,590
Secured loans ERER 4243 4,243 12,778 37,300 58,564 41,028
Bonds &% 3,100 3,100 36,854 20,610 63,664 50,000
23,620 55,340 49,632 57,910 186,502 153,266

38.6 Fair value estimation

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not
materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2018 and 2017.

38.6 AR EEMEE
FrEcmTAMNERMEE _Z—N\F
F—FE—t&F+-_A=+—HHAAR
BETESAZE -
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39.

40.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of
risk and securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, The
Group’s strategy in monitoring its capital structure, which
was unchanged from prior year, was to maintain a sufficient
cash level to meet its liquidity requirements. In order to
maintain or adjust the cash level, the Group may issue new
shares, raise new debts financing or sell assets to increase
the cash level.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9
at 1 January 2018. Under the transition methods chosen,
comparative information is not restated. See note 3.

39.

40.

BAREREE
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Five-year Financial Summary

= dh
hAFETBERE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
“T-F —“T-RF —ERF “E—+F —E-N\&
(Restated) (Restated)
(E5) (E71)
(Note) (Note)
(FiaE) (FizE)
Consolidated Statement FEERK
of profit or loss and othe Hiti 2@
comprehensive income e
(HK$'000) (F#Er)
Revenue from SRS R
Continuing operations Yezs 348,530 413,259 84,943 87,588 94,582
Loss before tax from RIS
continuing operations RS
HAIEE (94,053) (23,302) (18,334) (17,834) (20,584)
Loss after income tax and BRETEHIA
attributable to owner of the ARAESR
Company ANE(RE#E (91,806) (33,055) (26,074) (8,529) (21,820)
Basic (loss)/earnings FREX/(BB)
per share/(HK cents) &/ (L)
— From continuing operations - REEEK (28.24) (8.93) (6.44) (4.98) (4.11)
- From discontinued operations - B&R HEE %K - (1.15) 0.03 3.11 -
Diluted (loss)/earnings ShEE/ (Eﬂéi)
per share/(HK cents) B /(8
— From continuing operations - g %i% (28.24) (8.93) (6.44) (4.98) (4.11)
— From discontinued operations Ei&ti“‘éiﬁ - 1.15) 0.03 3.11 -
Consolidated Statement of FERBMRRE
financial position (F&T)
(HK$'000)
~ Non-current assets _ eR®EE 121711 158891 143402 131521 | 159,371 |
Current assets REEE 246,777 374,851 177,312 47,343 46,306
Current liabilities mEAE (168,643) (379,100) (161,238) (30,700) (37,756)
Net current assets MEEE
- (liabjtieSL - - (Ei%) /5@ - 778,1% - (4,249) - 716,0747 - 16,643 i550
~ Non-current Liabilities _ FRPEE (178757  (189,192)  (153963)  (141919) | (103,802) |
Net assets(liabilities) BE (BfR) $E 21,088 (34,550) 5,513 6,245 64,119
Share Information (HK$) RBER (B)
Highest share price BaR{E $3.11 $2.30 $2.00 $0.49 $0.58
Lowest share price RIERE $1.73 $1.10 $0.48 $0.39 $0.26
Year end closing share price FRMmkE $1.96 $1.84 $0.48 $0.40 $0.34

Note: As a result of the business combination under common control and

the discontinued operation, comparative figures for the years ended
31 December 2015 and 2016 had been reclassified to confirm to the

preceeding years’ presentation.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Board of Directors
Executive directors

Mr. Shen Yong (Chairman)

Mr. Gan Lin (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Shen Ke*
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Mr. Huang Xiang Yang
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Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)
Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann
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Mr. Shen Yong
Mr. Shen Ke*
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Mr. Yu Lei
Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)
Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann
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Mr. Yu Lei
Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)
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Mr. Yu Lei
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Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann
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Stock Code BR 0 X 55%

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: 2310 ERBMERXSMER AT - 2310
Company Website YNGR
www.forebase.com.hk www.forebase.com.hk
Shareholders' Calendar BEHEX

Announcement of 2018 Final Results N =T — \FREEE

27 March 2019 —E-NF=ZA=-++tH
Closure of Registrar of Members TIEHER M IB P &R

22-29 May 2019 —E-AERA-+t-HE—-+AhH
(both days inclusive) (BEEEMX)

Annual General Meeting ERBFRE

29 May 2019 —E-NAFRAZ-T+NH
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